Our monstrously good
2012 Annual Report.

About Us
Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (our friends know us as “Coast Capital”) is Canada’s second largest credit union,
dedicated to changing the way Canadians feel about banking, forever. We are a co-operative company owned by the
504,000 members who bank with us. We offer banking, investment and insurance services through our 50 branches
in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. Our total assets under
administration were $14.6 billion as at December 31, 2012.
Coast Capital’s team of 1,900 staff are dedicated to improving the financial well-being of our members, customers
and communities. We have delivered helpful product innovations such as Canada’s first free chequing account from
a full-service financial institution and the country’s most flexible mortgage product, the You’re the Boss™ Mortgage.
Our company has earned recognition as one of Canada’s 10 Most Admired Corporate Cultures™ and is a member
of Canada’s Best Managed Companies Platinum Club. Every year, we make our communities stronger by investing
seven per cent of our budgeted pre-tax income in local programs, partnerships and events. We are an Imagine
Canada Caring Company.
Purpose
• To change the way Canadians feel about banking, forever.
Mission
• Simple financial help.
Values
• We take business seriously. Ourselves, not so much.
• We invite innovation.
• We make spirited teamwork happen.
• We keep our promises, pinkie-swear.
• We live to make our communities stronger.
• We make it easy as pie.
Retail Services
Coast Capital offers banking and investment services to members directly, and insurance through our subsidiary
Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd.
Banking and investment services include savings and chequing accounts, term deposits, registered savings accounts
(RRSPs, TFSAs, RRIFs, RESPs), mutual funds and online brokerage, mortgages, loans, lines of credit and credit cards.
We offer in-branch teller services, access to a surcharge-free network of 2,400 ATMs across Canada and telephone,
Internet and mobile banking services.
Our life and disability insurance products include life, critical illness, disability and long-term care insurance as well
as segregated funds and annuities. Life and disability insurance services are offered through our branch network and
by a team of mobile specialists.
Our property and casualty insurance policies cover home, automobile, travel and lifestyle products such as watercraft
and recreational vehicles. Property and casualty insurance services are provided through our insurance call centre
and at our 32 general insurance offices.
Business Services
Coast Capital offers lending, leasing and deposit services to commercial real estate and small- and medium-sized
businesses throughout B.C. This includes savings and chequing accounts, U.S. chequing accounts, business credit
cards, merchant payment services, term loans, interim lending and long-term commercial mortgages, letters and lines
of credit and automated funds transfers. We provide commercial and industrial equipment leasing for businesses
in B.C. through our equipment finance division, and to companies located from Alberta to Ontario through our
subsidiary Coast Capital Equipment Finance Ltd.
Businesses can access both commercial insurance and business-related individual insurance through Coast Capital
Insurance Services Ltd. Our commercial insurance policies cover property, crime, liability and business interruption
risks, while our insurance for business owners and partners include group RRSP and benefits plans and services
related to succession planning. Our business and commercial insurance services are offered through our branch
network and by a team of mobile specialists.

2012 Annual Report

1

Board Chair’s Message
Money stress can be scary… especially in a time of a
cantankerous economy, like that of 2012. Taking the
stress out of banking for our members is one of the ways
Coast Capital is working to change the way Canadians
feel about banking, forever.
Guiding us on this journey, Coast Capital is investing
in the communities we serve and helping our 504,000
members achieve their financial goals by providing
simple financial help. We want to make banking easy
and affordable with our innovative, best in class financial
products and services that provide outstanding value
for our members. As an organization that has benefited
from the support of our members, we also believe it is
essential to invest back in our communities to support
the long-term health and vibrancy of the places where
our members work and live. With these principles in
place, Coast Capital is making strides in shaping a new
approach to the delivery of financial services in Canada.
Success Through Sound Governance
Now a complex organization with total assets under
administration of $14.6 billion, the continued success
of Coast Capital is dependent on strong and effective
governance. Having a knowledgeable and skilled Board
ensures the strength and stability of the credit union and
is an important safeguard to the money our members
have entrusted to us.
Coast Capital’s Board follows the guidelines set by
the Canadian Coalition of Good Governance for high
performing boards, as well as the 2012 Report of the
British Columbia Credit Union Governance Task Force,
released in 2012 by the Financial Institutions Commission,
the regulatory body overseeing British Columbia (“B.C.”)
credit unions. Coast Capital’s Board follows the best
practices set out by these bodies to ensure it is providing
sound stewardship for the benefit of our members and
other stakeholders. In doing so, the Board reviews and
approves Coast Capital’s strategic direction and risk
appetite, sets and monitors corporate policies and is
responsible for overseeing management and ensuring
that Coast Capital complies with regulatory and statutory
requirements. The Board fosters a culture of transparency
and accountability through robust standards of conduct
and the highest ethical behaviour.
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With the guidance and expertise of the Board, in 2012
Coast Capital made a number of major investments into
people, process improvement and products and services
to support the needs of our membership. These include:
• Further branch expansion and refurbishment;
• Development of a state-of-the-art banking system
implemented in early 2013; and
• Strengthening and expanding our commercial banking
division.
Solid Financial Growth
Sound corporate governance and strong executive
leadership
produced
an
outstanding
financial
performance for Coast Capital in 2012, despite a
challenging economy. Through solid loan and deposit
growth, accompanied by expansion in other income
sources, and well-managed expenses, Coast Capital
achieved record net income to further strengthen its
already stable capital base and continued growth.
Supporting Our Members and the Community
Being a good corporate citizen is fundamental to
our purpose as an organization, and supporting the
community and our members is at the heart of this. That’s
why we’re out there every day investing time, money
and expertise in worthwhile causes – and helping our
members manage, save, grow and protect their money.
A number of years ago we asked our members about
patronage dividends. They told us to reinvest annual
profits back into the credit union’s capital base and into
the community in order to strengthen our newly merged
organization, and to develop innovative products
that could truly help our members. Coast Capital has
delivered. As examples, this year alone we were able
to pass on $38 million in savings to our customers
through our unique Free Chequing, Free Debit and More
Account®, and since 2006 we have allocated more than
$33 million of our profits to the communities we serve.
Our annual investment in the community translates to
seven per cent of our budgeted pre-tax income in a wide
range of community engagement activities. With a focus
to help build a richer future for youth in our communities,
Coast Capital invested $5.2 million this year in programs
and initiatives in the areas of financial, education, family

and social connections, and health. Some of the great
examples of how we strengthened our communities in
2012 include:
• Granting $144,000 in education awards to B.C. students
who demonstrated community leadership or the
strength to overcome challenges in order to succeed.
• Establishing three Young Leaders Community Councils
to spearhead the credit union’s community investment
program. Made up of emerging young leaders from the
community and Coast Capital employees – all 30 years
old or younger, the councils review grant applications
and make funding recommendations on the youth
issues that most need support in their communities.
• Hosting Coast Capital Savings’ Charity Golf
Tournament to generate funding for depression
research and treatment and to raise awareness about
the impact untreated mental illness can have on
businesses – both for employees and the bottom line.
Since 2005, this annual tournament has generated
over $1.4 million in support of depression research at
VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation.
• Undertaking the role of officialTour Sponsor for the 2012
Canadian Cancer Society Cops for Cancer tours to raise
awareness and funding for pediatric cancer research,
programs, and camps like Camp Goodtimes. In the last
five years alone our staff and members have proudly
contributed $885,209 to the Canadian Cancer Society.

• Sponsoring Free The Children’s signature We Schools
in Action speaking tour in 40 schools across B.C. by
contributing $100,000 to inspire young people to
become active citizens in their community and around
the world.
• Tracy Redies and the CEOs of First West Credit Union
and Vancity joining forces to announce support of the
Single Mothers’ Support Services Expansion Project
($150,000 each over three years), which will create
six new support groups in the Lower Mainland in
Surrey, Port Coquitlam, Aldergrove, Maple Ridge
and Abbotsford aimed at helping low-income single
mothers achieve greater economic independence.
• Creating the Coast Capital Savings Innovation Hub in
partnership with the Sauder School of Business at the
University of British Columbia through a contribution
of $1 million over five years. The Innovation Hub fosters
and supports young social entrepreneurs in developing
business ventures to solve social and environmental
problems using for-profit business models.
These are but a few of the many community programs
Coast Capital had the privilege to support both financially
and through employee support.
On behalf of the Board, I thank our CEO, her talented
executive team and our 1,900 employees for their
continued dedication to helping our members achieve
their financial goals. We especially thank our members
for their ongoing support and trust that has allowed us to
continue the journey of becoming the best organization
we can be – one that is making a positive difference in
people’s lives, strengthening our communities, and
changing the way Canadians feel about banking, forever.

Bill Wellburn, FCA, C.Dir.
Chair, Board of Directors
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CEO’s Message
What’s scarier than money stress? Certainly not our 2012
Annual Report. Our recent advertising campaign describes
how money stress can turn just about anyone into a
‘monster’. We’ve all been there at one time or another –
from opening the Visa bill to figuring out investments and
getting a mortgage – money stress can make you scary. At
Coast Capital Savings, we’re here to help. We even made
sure our 2012 Annual Report isn’t scary.
At Coast Capital, we like to challenge the norms of
banking. We believe money matters don’t have to be
stressful, and by providing our members with simple
financial help we can help them reach their financial goals.
While both Canada and B.C.’s economy performed
slightly better than anticipated in 2012, it was still a
challenging year, as the highly competitive, low interest
rate environment impacted net interest income at all
financial institutions.
Despite these challenging times, Coast Capital had a
strong year, exceeding expectations in many key areas.
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis section and
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report
provide greater detail about our performance. They detail
our achievements and the areas we have targeted for
improvement and growth for 2013.
In 2012, Coast Capital reached an all-time record net
income of $72.4 million, up nearly 17 per cent from 2011’s
$62.0 million. Our total loans grew by 9.8 per cent from
$9.8 billion at the end of 2011 to $10.8 billion at the end
of 2012. But most importantly, we saved our members an
estimated $38 million in fees this year alone, through our
Free Chequing, Free Debit and More Account. At Coast,
we really are trying to change the way Canadians feel
about banking, forever, and saving our members from
unnecessary fees is all about that.
Our commercial business contributed significantly to
our strong 2012 financial health. Commercial loans grew
by a remarkable 18.5 per cent from $2.1 billion in 2011
to $2.5 billion in 2012, mainly in commercial mortgages
and equipment financing. This strong commercial activity
helped small businesses in the communities where we
operate in, and in turn, boosted employment and helped
stimulate the local economy – something we are very
proud of.
We also saw an increase in our total assets by 7.1 per
cent from $11.8 billion in 2011 to $12.6 billion in 2012, and
our assets under administration went up by 7.8 per cent
to $14.6 billion from $13.5 billion in 2011. Our members
invested over $150 million net in our Low-fee, Morefor-me Mutual Funds™, bringing our total mutual fund
assets under administration to $2 billion.
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Our capital and liquidity ratios remain very strong
at 12.63 and 14.28 per cent, well above the statutory
minimum of 8.0 per cent for both ratios. Our strategy is
not only saving our members fees and providing helpful
service, it is building a strong and growing credit union
that can continue to invest in services, locations and new
delivery channels to meet our members’ needs now and
into the future.
Success and Innovation
Successful, helpful products, combined with our ongoing
commitment to help our members manage, save, grow,
and protect their money enabled us to exceed 500,000
members in 2012. Reaching the half million member
mark confirmed that our unwavering dedication to
offering our members simple financial help is resonating
with Canadians who are looking for an alternative to
traditional banks, placing us in the enviable position of
being Canada’s most popular credit union.
While helping our members reach their financial goals
will always be our top priority, we also take the job of
protecting our members’ finances very seriously. In 2012,
Coast Capital became the first Canadian credit union on
the Threshold Card Processing Platform to issue CHIP
Debit Cards to 100 per cent of its card holders – helping
to keep our members safe from fraudulent activity.
In 2012, we also opened our second Burnaby
branch – Edmonds Town Centre – which showcases
our aperio® 2.0 design. This design retains some of the
features of the earlier aperio model, including an open
layout, but also incorporates new additions, such as a
small business gallery and new accessible technologies.
We also remodelled our Bay Centre and Beverly Corners
locations into aperio 2.0 branches and we’re currently
doing the same for our Georgia Street branch to better
meet the needs of our members.
Our Where You’re at Money Chat™ (“Money Chat”),
which launched in 2011, continued to be the centrepiece
of our customer education and sales program in 2012.
To date, we have delivered this service to more than
45,000 customers, and the number continues to increase
every day. The Money Chat, as we like to call it, received
multiple accolades in 2012, including a 2012 InNOVAtion
Award from Central 1 Credit Union.
Both the Money Chat and the Money Chat iPad
App were recognized with awards – Achievement in
Marketing Excellence and an Achievement in Marketing
(respectively) by the Marketing Association for Credit
Unions (MACU).
It wasn’t just our Money Chat that was turning heads
in 2012. We also received recognition as a member of the
Platinum Club for Canada’s Best Managed companies
for the fourth consecutive year – reaffirming Coast
Capital’s dedication to ensuring we are a value-based
organization – inside and out.

Priorities for 2013
In 2013, we will continue to live our helpful brand in
everything we do. This will be especially important during
these challenging economic times, when Canadians are truly
in need of simple financial help to reach their financial goals.
The launch of our upgraded banking system will
provide the platform to continue to provide our members
with innovative products and services. The new system
will also enable us to support future growth so we can
help more Canadians meet their financial needs. We
know that banking system conversions are often difficult
and take a while to settle down, so we thank all of our
members for their patience with us.
Now that we have the banking system under our belts,
in 2013 we are planning to bring a number of innovative
capabilities to our members, including Interac e-Transfer.
Going forward we plan to focus even more on bringing
our banking services to you when you need them and
where you need them.
We also ended 2012 with an historic milestone –
welcoming the federal government’s announcement of
the formal implementation of the federal credit union
legislation and regulations that give all credit unions

the option to expand their services beyond current
provincial boundaries, under federal charter. While the
new legislative framework is a significant step forward
for credit union expansion, Coast Capital, along with
all other credit unions, will need to determine if federal
incorporation makes sense. We are committed to having
an open dialogue with our members, employees and
partners before making any decisions.
In December 2012, we announced we will be building
a new head office, or ‘Help Headquarters’, which we’re
planning to open in late 2015 in Surrey. Just as the name
implies, our new ‘Help Headquarters’ will align with our
mission to provide simple financial help.
Coast Capital’s ongoing success has been the result of
the ongoing dedication of so many people. I thank our
Board for their continuous support and guidance. I would
also like to recognize our Coast Capital employees for
their incredible, unwavering dedication to our members
in 2012. And, of course, I want to thank all our members
for their ongoing business and trust in Coast Capital.
We are committed to helping you achieve financial
well-being in our continuous journey to change the way
Canadians feel about banking, forever.

Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer
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2012 Performance Against Targets
Loan growth
Net growth in total loans

Target

$1.05 billion

Result

$958 million

Deposit growth
Net growth in total deposits

Target

$420 million

Result

$877 million

Net income
All revenue less expenses and taxes

Target

$55.3 million

Result

$72.4 million

Return on average assets
Net income expressed as a percentage of average assets

Target

0.47%

Result

0.60%

Return on average equity
Net income expressed as a percentage of average equity

Target

8.17%

Result

10.59%

Capital
Regulator-defined and primarily retained earnings plus share equity divided by total assets adjusted for risk as defined by regulators

Target

12.66%

Result

12.63%

Non-interest expenses
All costs that are not interest-related, with the exception of provisions for credit losses and income taxes

Target

No greater than 1.96% of average assets

Result

1.91%

Operating efficiency
Coast Capital’s cost to earn $1, equal to all non-interest expenses divided by the sum of net interest income and other income

Target

No greater than 72.0%

Result

6
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Financial Highlights at a Glance
Total loans

Total deposits

Members’ equity

Billions of dollars

Billions of dollars

Millions of dollars

11.2

724

543

2009

2012

2011

2010

502

2009

2008

2012

2011

2010

9.2

2008

8.4

596

Net interest income

Non-interest expenses

Net income

As a percentage of average assets

As a percentage of average assets

Millions of dollars

2.38

2.22

2.10
2.16

2.09

2.10

72.4

70.2

2.13

2.37
2.25

2011

9.7
8.2

2009

2008

8.4

600

10.3

9.9

2010

8.5

655

2012

10.8
9.8

65.4
2.05

62.0
1.91

52.4

54.3

Net income

Net income

Operating efficiency

As a percentage of average assets

As a percentage of average equity

In per cent

71.0

69.5

10.0

2012

68.7

2011

2010

2009

2008

2012

2011

2010

69.5

72.1

2010

10.4

10.6

2008

0.57

11.6

2012

11.7

0.53

2009

2008

0.60

2011

0.63
0.55

72.4

12.3

2009

0.67

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

1.95

CGAAP
IFRS

On January 1, 2011, we changed the way we prepare our financial statements and adopted new accounting policies, transitioning from
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“CGAAP”) to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Our 2010 financial
results, originally reported using CGAAP, have been restated using IFRS to compare with our 2011 performance. Both sets of 2010 results are
included for historical comparison.
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Financial Highlights: 5-Year Overview
IFRS
2012

in thousands of dollars

IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

CGAAP
2010

CGAAP
2009

CGAAP
2008

964,005

$ 1,109,784

Balance sheets
Assets
Cash and cash resources

$

Financial investments
Loans
Premises and equipment

399,374

$

375,590

$

192,166

$

190,667

$

1,286,124

1,447,872

1,730,060

1,729,970

1,809,508

833,204

10,764,060

9,805,582

8,481,790

8,383,003

8,245,780

8,364,176

37,699

34,778

35,650

35,650

34,307

36,732

112,248

104,415

76,838

67,761

73,244

99,681

$ 12,599,505

$ 11,768,237

$ 10,516,504

$ 10,407,051

$ 11,126,844

$ 10,443,577

Other

Liabilities
Deposits
Demand

4,110,316

4,026,815

3,638,114

3,638,114

3,188,079

2,106,670

Term

5,538,357

4,785,453

4,596,448

4,596,448

5,249,023

5,665,519

Registered

1,471,271

1,435,319

1,424,406

1,424,406

1,410,444

1,372,711

2,256

2,161

2,064

2,064

1,972

1,870

66,582

61,617

58,758

58,758

70,962

102,009

11,188,782

10,311,365

9,719,790

9,719,790

9,920,480

9,248,779

565,000

675,000

–

–

575,000

548,259

Borrowings secured by loans

51,720

50,673

97,070

–

–

–

Other

69,564

76,039

74,525

66,575

62,921

80,712

Class A shares
Accrued interest
Borrowings

11,875,066

11,113,077

9,891,385

9,786,365

10,558,401

9,877,750

Subordinated debt

–

–

25,000

25,000

25,000

25,000

Class C shares

–

–

–

–

–

38,669

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss)

38,892

40,302

41,485

41,485

42,597

43,669

688,091

616,576

555,834

551,484

486,962

434,385

2,800

2,717

13,884

24,104

724,439

(2,544)

655,160

(1,718)

600,119

595,686

543,443

502,158

$ 12,599,505

$ 11,768,237

$ 10,516,504

$ 10,407,051

$ 11,126,844

$ 10,443,577

$

$

$

$

$

$

Income statements
Interest income

425,516

414,954

419,205

406,272

424,388

504,855

Interest expense

191,880

178,687

169,275

158,491

194,039

293,627

Net interest income

233,636

236,267

249,930

247,781

230,349

211,228

Provision for credit losses
Fee, commission and other income
Non-interest expenses
Income before undernoted

8,047

8,337

7,628

10,028

20,665

15,568

225,589

227,930

242,302

237,753

209,684

195,660

89,671

75,157

71,706

70,679

64,983

76,599

315,260

303,087

314,008

308,432

274,667

272,259

229,459

224,553

220,817

221,469

213,840

199,931

85,801

78,534

93,191

86,963

60,827

72,328

–

–

–

–

6,706

–

Unusual item / extraordinary item
Income before provision for
income taxes

85,801

78,534

93,191

86,963

67,533

72,328

Provision for income taxes

13,355

16,561

22,966

21,529

13,272

19,899

Net income
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$

72,446
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$

61,973

$

70,225

$

65,434

$

54,261

$

52,429

Financial Highlights: 5-Year Overview
IFRS
2012

IFRS
2011

IFRS
2010

CGAAP
2010

Asset growth

7.06

11.90

(5.49)

(6.47)

6.54

5.99

Loan growth

9.77

15.61

2.86

1.66

(1.42)

(0.94)

in thousands of dollars

CGAAP
2009

CGAAP
2008

Financial statistics in per cent

Deposit growth
Operating efficiency

8.51

6.09

(2.02)

(2.02)

7.26

2.76

70.97

72.11

68.65

69.54

72.41

69.46

Capital ratio

12.63

13.06

14.29

14.29

12.42

11.09

Liquidity ratio

14.28

16.52

19.58

19.76

26.43

19.83

Percentage of average assets
Net interest income

1.95

2.16

2.37

2.38

2.25

2.22

Other income

0.75

0.69

0.68

0.68

0.64

0.80

Non-interest expenses

1.91

2.05

2.10

2.13

2.09

2.10

Percentage return on
Average assets

0.60

0.57

0.67

0.63

0.53

0.55

Average equity

10.59

9.99

12.32

11.61

10.38

11.71

Average assets

$ 11,996,263

$ 10,962,358

$ 10,531,573

$ 10,402,570

$ 10,233,230

$ 9,516,198

Average equity

684,329

620,078

569,951

563,406

522,829

447,831

1,978,066

1,762,378

1,757,689

1,757,689

1,635,757

1,404,155

49,977

48,484

91,089

91,089

172,261

494,687

$ 14,577,571

$ 13,530,615

$ 12,274,193

$ 12,255,829

$ 12,934,862

$ 12,342,419

$

$

$

$

$

$

Mutual funds under administration
Securitized loans
Total assets under administration
Asset quality trends
Allowance for credit losses,
beginning
Provisions for credit losses
Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off
Allowance for credit losses, end
Impaired loans

$

43,658

59,911

63,546

62,614

53,645

42,516

8,047

8,337

7,635

10,028

20,665

15,568

10,957

25,949

12,190

12,193

12,359

5,129

1,759

1,359

920

920

663

690

42,507

43,658

59,911

61,369

62,614

53,645

50,541

$

77,769

$

101,498

$

101,498

$

76,869

$

34,144

Locations
Branches

50

51

50

50

50

51

Insurance offices

32

34

34

34

34

36

On January 1, 2011, we changed the way we prepare our financial statements and adopted new accounting policies, transitioning from
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“CGAAP”) to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Our 2010 financial
results, originally reported using CGAAP, have been restated using IFRS to compare with our 2011 performance. Both sets of 2010 results are
included for historical comparison.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section of the annual report gives readers an overview
of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”), and enables them to assess its operations and financial
position, as well as applicable material risks. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial and Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). A section providing a detailed analysis of our capital structure is also included. This MD&A is current as of
February 28, 2013.
Table of Contents
Overview
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Strategic aiming points
Economic environment and impact in 2012
Economic environment in 2013
Legislative and Policy Developments
Corporate Performance
Financial Performance
Net interest income
Fee, commission and other income
Non-interest expenses
Capital expenditures
Loans
Allowance for credit losses
Deposits
Borrowings
Capital Management
Lines of Business Performance
Measurement and reporting of our lines of business
Retail banking
General insurance
Investment services
Commercial services
Risk Management
Risk governance
Credit and counterparty risk
Market risk
Liquidity and funding management risk
Operational risk
Strategic risk
Legal and regulatory risk
Reputation risk
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Allowance for credit losses
Financial instruments measured at fair value
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Income taxes
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Overview
We are Coast Capital Savings, Canada’s second largest credit union, a co-operative company owned by the 504,000
members who bank with us. We have 50 branches in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions
of British Columbia and have exciting plans to grow. We have assets of $12.6 billion and assets under administration
of $14.6 billion.
Performance highlights for 2012 include:
• Total assets increased by over 7 per cent from $11.8 billion to $12.6 billion.
• Net new member growth was almost 18,000.
• Net income was $72.4 million, up from last year’s $62.0 million.
• Total loans grew by 9.8 per cent to $10.8 billion from $9.8 billion at the end of 2011.
• Commercial loans, comprising of commercial mortgages and equipment financing, grew to $2.5 billion from
$2.1 billion in 2011, an increase of 18.5 per cent.
• Residential mortgage growth was strong in the first half of the year and tapering off after new Canadian
Mortgage and Housing Corporation (“CMHC”) lending rules. Growth was $587.6 million and 7.9 per cent.
• Total deposits increased to $11.2 billion in 2012 from $10.3 billion in 2011, a jump of 8.5 per cent. Retail and
business deposits increased by $0.5 billion. Deposit growth enabled us to maintain stable core liquidity
levels of 10.0 per cent at the end of the year.
• Total investment services assets under administration increased by 12.2 per cent from $1.8 billion to
$2.0 billion.
• Retained earnings increased by 11.6 per cent, to $688.1 million from $616.6 million in 2011.
• Total assets under administration went up by 7.8 per cent, to $14.6 billion from $13.5 billion in 2011.
• Net interest income declined from $236.3 million to $233.6 million despite our loan growth of $1.0 billion.
Margin compression continues to impact the financial services industry limiting revenue growth.
• Revenue was $323.3 million in 2012, compared to $311.4 million the previous year. Greater focus in other lines of
business that generated other income was necessary to offset the revenue reductions from margin compression.
• Our members opened more than 28,000 of our signature Free Chequing, Free Debit and More account
last year.

In the early 2000s three leading credit unions joined together to create a new kind of banking institution. Our
founding credit unions shared a belief that Canadians deserved a banking alternative that benefits ordinary people
and communities. They also recognized that in order to successfully compete against much larger banks, they were
going to need to do two things:
• offer a better experience to more Canadians and
• be different.
So that’s what we’ve done. We’ve established a unique brand voice and a suite of innovative and competitive
products that successfully differentiate our credit union in the marketplace. Since 2003, we’ve grown our membership
by 5 per cent per year, more than any other credit union in Canada. In total, in the past ten years, we’ve added
almost 200,000 new members. We’ve also grown our business, posting 7.8 per cent in asset growth, year over year
since 2003 while continuing to deepen our relationships with our individual and business members. True to our
co-operative roots, we’ve accomplished these results while making our communities stronger through contributions
totalling $42.6 million over the past ten years.
We believe the strategies that have got us to this point will allow us to realize the vision of our founders. That’s
because these strategies are aligned with the powerful purpose of our organization — to change the way Canadians
feel about banking, forever — a simple, ambitious, and unique goal that everyone at Coast Capital strives for every
day. Our purpose recognizes our need to achieve scale and grow to benefit new members and communities. It also
makes sure we continue to do things differently, to make banking better for Canadians, forever.
To reinforce the centrality of our purpose, we make sure it cascades throughout the organization. For example, we
have embedded it as a daily objective for all our member facing staff — I will change the way Canadians feel about
banking today — and aligned it with our HR strategy to change the way employees feel about work, forever. Our
purpose is at the forefront of every decision we make and is alive in all business units.
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Strategy
How we do things differently — our strategy — is
Thinking of joining Coast Capital and becoming a
reflected in our mission to deliver simple financial help.
member and owner? Here’s why that’s a great idea:
‘Simple’ and ‘helpful’ are two words that Canadians
• You get to bank with an organization that is
rarely use when describing traditional banking, which
dedicated to improving your financial well-being.
is why they are key principles underlying our mission
• You get to enjoy simple financial help.
and strategy: we’re intentionally challenging the norms
• You get high value products and services, with
of our industry. Where the banking standard practice
the same great rates enjoyed by all members.
is delivering sophisticated, complex advice, we
• Your assets are well looked after by strong and
provide simple, actionable help. Where most financial
prudent managers who live in your community.
institutions offer personalized service for affluent
• You have a democratic say in how we are
clients, we offer efficient, cheerful service for all. And
governed, with equal rights regardless of
like our purpose, this notion of challenging norms
financial position.
permeates our strategic thinking at Coast Capital.
• Your community is strengthened when we
You can see it in our brand — How can we help you?,
contribute 7 per cent of budgeted pre-tax
which puts members at the centre, rather than putting
income to local causes, initiatives and events.
the company first, and in our corporate culture which
• You will benefit as the business grows and
fosters un-bank-like behaviour with values such as
expands into new communities.
taking our business seriously, ourselves not so much.
What we do and how we do it isn’t for everyone.
We describe the type of people who get the most benefit from being Coast Capital members as value-conscious
Canadians who want simple, innovative banking. What this description says is our members expect we won’t
“nickel-and dime” them, and they’ll get the best quality products and services at a cost that makes sense. “Value” in
“value-conscious” is a play on both meanings of the word. It says our members want value for money and also want
to do business with companies that share their values and ethics.
Because we‘re a co-operative financial institution, we’re not bound by trying to maximize quarterly shareholder
earnings, and we plan for the long-term. For our strategy, this means remaining focused on long-term goals, and
using an iterative planning process to determine the best ways to achieve those objectives in the near-term. In 2012,
we implemented year two of our current three-year plan, designed to take us to the next level of changing the way
Canadians feel about banking, forever. This plan identifies five “aiming points” that will guide our focus through
2013. The aiming points are strategically aligned to our mission, brand and culture, and take into account the current
economic environment.
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Strategic aiming points
Description

Achievements in 2012

Community
banking 2.0

• Building on our service strengths and
ensuring consistency.
• Bringing an even more helpful
and unexpected experience to our
members.
• Delivering the next evolution of service
and ensuring that our branches are an
integral part of communities.

• Ingrained our Where You’re at Money Chat into our
culture to provide a more helpful customer experience.
• Opened our second aperio 2.0 design branch and
remodelled two of our existing branches.
• Accelerated our Money Pro role, to better equip our
employees to meet a greater breadth of member’s
needs.

Local
community
builders

• Delivering on our community promise
to help build a richer future for youth
in our communities.
• Ensuring that we are not just ‘giving’,
but also ‘building’ communities
through grants, strategic partnerships,
sponsorships and events and
employee engagement activities.

• Introduced Young Leaders Community Councils to
provide guidance and recommendations for local
community grants (approximately $1 million).
• Invested $1 million in the Sauder School of Business at
the University of British Columbia to establish the Coast
Capital Savings Innovation Hub, a program supporting
early stage ventures devoted to solving social and
environmental problems using for-profit business models.
• Introduced an employee recognition platform for
volunteers and engaged employees in volunteering
for the Junior Achievement BC Dollars with Sense
program, a financial literacy program for high school
and elementary school students.

Retail banking • Offering streamlined, fast, end-to-end
in under 30
processes to support value-based
minutes
products and services.
• Continually simplifying our products,
forms and processes and working with
common sense guidelines.
• Identifying functions that can be
automated centralized or eliminated
“ACE” to decrease administrative
functions in branches.

• Simplified our account opening process to provide a
better on-boarding customer experience.
• Continued focus on identifying and executing strategic
cost management initiatives.
• Created a centralized underwriting team at our contact
centre to provide more responsive service to members,
our mobile lenders, and third party brokers.
• Continued the development of our new banking system
which was implemented in February 2013. The new
system will allow us to enhance our member service
capabilities while providing for new opportunities.

Business
banking

• Aiming to be the best at serving the
local entrepreneur.
• Building on our community roots by
having local decision-makers deliver
professional advice.

• Integrated our small business specialists with our
business banking team to provide a skilled team
better able to provide a professional and consistent
customer experience.
• Relocated our commercial relationship managers to
retail branches to enhance customer access and provide
more integrated services at our retail branches.

Targeted
geographic
expansion

• Growing our business outside of
southwest British Columbia.

• Worked to support the formal implementation of the
federal credit union legislation and regulations enabling
interested credit unions to expand beyond their
provincial boundaries.
• Began a comprehensive review of the federal credit
union option, including the member benefits, business
opportunities, risks and legal implications.
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As the table on page 13 illustrates, we were able to make significant progress in implementing our strategy in 2012.
These strategic advancements, combined with our accumulated success in the marketplace and our renewed focus
on building a unique organizational culture resulted in Coast Capital being recognized for a significant number
of awards during the year. These include Platinum Club recognition for our thirteenth year on the Best Managed
Companies list, and innovation awards for our Where You’re At Money Chat. External recognition of this level can
be attributed to our employees’ hard work and commitment to provide a great member service experience. These
achievements are even more remarkable given the ongoing challenges in the economic environment and the
efforts by our employees in support of a significant banking system upgrade.
Economic environment and impact in 2012
As we entered into 2012, economic expectations were fairly conservative. Consensus forecasts were for both the
United States (U.S.) and the Eurozone to perform only slightly better than 2011. The U.S. came in largely as forecast,
while the Eurozone came in below expectations. Financial markets were surprised by the unexpected weakness
coming out of China, which started reporting single digit gross domestic product (GDP) growth, and by the likelihood
of another Japanese recession. Overall, the world economy was growing less than expected.
Canada’s economy performed slightly better than forecast and seemed to be ignoring the weakness being felt in
the rest of the world. Both GDP and unemployment rates were better than expected.
British Columbia’s economy outperformed Canada’s, but with mixed results; B.C.’s unemployment rate came
in better than expected, while GDP growth was lower than forecasted. In 2012, B.C.’s GDP grew by an estimated
2.2 per cent (forecast was 2.5 per cent) versus 2.8 per cent in 2011. Canada’s GDP, in comparison, grew by 1.8 per cent.
With interest rates continuing at all-time lows, housing sales, a large driver of our success, were very strong over
the first half of 2012. However, sales dropped off considerably in the last half. Overall Multiple Listing Service®
(“MLS”) sales ended the year at 67,637 units versus 76,817 in 2011, a decrease of 12 per cent; housing starts exceeded
expectations at 27,500 units, up from 26,400 the previous year.
The shift in MLS activity halfway through 2012 resulted in our residential mortgage growth coming in below last
year’s. Unlike 2011, where the first half of the year saw members preferring 5-year fixed-rate mortgages and the latter
half primarily variable-rate products at much lower yields, in 2012, most of our growth took place in 5-year fixed
mortgages. This was due to the very low fixed rates being offered and the view that interest rates were not likely to
rise for several years out, which seemed inevitable after the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank publicly stated that it had no
intention of raising its rate until sometime in 2015.
A very flat yield curve, combined with lower mortgage growth, had a negative impact to our net interest income.
Normally we have the ability to widen our margins by taking on interest rate risk on a calculated basis. This is done
by funding a portion of higher-rate term mortgages and loans with lower-rate short term deposits. With the very flat
yield curve first established in the summer of 2011 after one of the European debt crisis episodes, we have reduced
ability to employ this strategy.
Equity markets, as measured using the TSX Composite Index, headed lower into the summer but recovered in the
latter half of the year with the overall growth for the year coming in at 4.0 per cent. This came after an 11.1 per cent
decline in 2011. Market appreciation contributed to the increase in investment services income. With low interest
rates continuing to plague fixed income type investments, members became more open to equity type investments
and used the weak markets as a buying opportunity for their mutual funds.
Economic environment in 2013
B.C. real GDP

B.C. housing starts

growth in per cent

2009

2009

(1.80)

2010
2011

3.40
2.10

2010

26,479

2011

26,400

2012

2.20

2012

2013*

2.20

2013*
*forecast

*forecast
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16,077

27,500
26,125

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Assuming that the U.S. fiscal and debt ceiling issues and the Eurozone problems don’t deteriorate, the Canadian
economy is expected to grow at 2.0 per cent, a slight improvement over the 1.9 per cent growth in 2012. British
Columbia is expected to again outperform Canada, growing at 2.2 per cent. MLS sales are forecast to be similar to
2012 levels, while house prices are expected to decrease slightly. Housing starts in B.C. are forecast to decline by
5 to 10 per cent. With a relatively flat outlook in the housing market we are forecasting slower mortgage growth for
2013 than we had for 2012. The Bank of Canada is also expected to keep interest rates low throughout 2013, which will
continue to put pressure on our margins.
With the improved performance in the stock markets in the latter half of 2012 we expect that mutual fund sales to
our members will continue at 2012’s pace or slightly better. This will be contingent on no further deterioration to the
European debt crisis or the U.S. economy.
Legislative and Policy Developments
The following had or will have significant impacts to how we operate:
Insurable Housing Loan Regulations – In July 2012, the government of Canada laid out a series of rules changes
that impacted access to CMHC mortgage insurance. These included a reduction to the maximum amortization of a
residential mortgage from 30 to 25 years, a reduction of the maximum loan-to-value ratios for refinancing mortgages
from 85 per cent to 80 per cent, the tightening of debt service ratios, and capping the value of homes that can be
insured at $1 million. All changes were designed to limit borrowers’ debt and, in turn, reduce the ability for many first
time buyers to qualify for a mortgage.
Protection of Residential Mortgage or Hypothecary Insurance Act – In June 2012 OSFI (Office of the Superintendent
of Financial Institutions Canada) announced its B-20 Mortgage Underwriting Guidelines which also served to tighten
up mortgage qualification. These included reducing loan-to-value ratios on home equity lines of credit from 80 per cent
to 65 per cent, more stringent income verification, higher qualifying rates on variable rate mortgages, and excluding
cash back payments from lenders as part of down payments.
Bank Act – In July 2012 and subsequently finalized in December 2012, the government of Canada released new
draft regulations that would allow new or existing credit unions to come under the Bank Act and continue as federal
credit unions. The changes would permit credit unions to retain the essential characteristics of a co-operative but at
the same time gain the benefits of being regulated by the Bank Act, and therefore becoming more competitive with
banks regulated by the Bank Act.
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) – U.S. legislation designed this act to improve tax compliance of
U.S. citizens with foreign financial assets and offshore accounts. In addition, FATCA will require non-U.S. financial
institutions to report directly to the IRS information about financial accounts held by U.S. taxpayers. However, we
await harmonization between FATCA regulations and an intergovernmental agreement between federal governments
to determine the legislation’s impact.
Corporate Performance
Our main focus in 2012 was expanding our commercial banking business, solidifying our strong capital and liquidity
positions, and preparing for a successful banking system upgrade in 2013. Since the last increase in the Prime rate
of 2010, the financial services industry has continued to experience interest margin compression. This impacted our
results in 2012 as net interest income declined despite balance sheet growth of over $800 million. Much of the impact
in North America was a result of a “flight to safety” as fears of the Eurozone debt crisis pushed investors to perceived
safer havens. The increased demand for North American debt pushed down interest rates. This and the fact that the
Canadian financial industry is highly competitive drove mortgage rates down to record levels throughout 2012.
Our net income in 2012 was $72.4 million, compared to $62.0 million in 2011. While core operations performed at
similar levels to 2011, the increase in net income was driven by:
• Growth in other income with strong gains in our retail credit card and general insurance revenue;
• Favourable valuation changes for financial instruments held at fair value as a result of steepening of swap yield
curves; and
• A one-time gain on the sale of an owned branch property.
Continuing the trend that started in late 2010, the low interest rate environment drove down loan yields but many
deposit rates had nowhere to decline. Our net interest margin has declined from 2.37 per cent in 2010 to 1.95 per cent
in 2012. Over this time, net interest income has declined from $249.9 million in 2010 to $233.6 million in 2012 despite
the $1.5 billion growth in our average assets.
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The real estate market in our trade area slowed dramatically after CMHC announced in June 2012 changes designed
to reduce the amount of consumer residential debt. MLS sales in the latter half of 2012 were 21 per cent lower than
for the same period in 2011, resulting in price declines as sales to active listings moved firmly into buyers’ markets.
Assets increased by 7.1 per cent from $11.8 billion to $12.6 billion. Because we were able to redeploy some of our
excess liquidity into higher-yielding assets, such as residential and commercial loans, our overall asset growth was
less than our loan growth. Assets under administration include assets on our balance sheet plus mutual funds invested
with third parties. The market value of these funds increased by $215.7 million as market appreciation enhanced the
value of new investments by members.
Total deposits increased from $10.3 billion to $11.2 billion. While some of the growth was sourced from institutional
deposit accounts, the majority was from retail members. While members continued to invest in high-interest savings
accounts, more customers were attracted to redeemable term deposits and rising rate products as they sought
increased yield. Our strong deposit growth enabled us to maintain a solid liquidity ratio made up of cash resources
and liquid investments sourced from members’ deposits. At year-end, our liquidity ratio was 14.6 per cent, well above
the statutory minimum of 8.0 per cent.
Members’ equity increased by $69.2 million from $655.2 million to $724.4 million. The increase was from net
income of $72.4 million, offset by some reductions in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) and from Class B
share redemptions.
Financial Performance
Net interest income
Interest income is our major source of revenue and is earned from retail and commercial banking. In 2012, we earned
$425.5 million in interest revenue from borrowers on their loans and from other investments. Interest expense,
which represents amounts paid by us on members’ deposits and corporate borrowings, totalled $191.9 million. Net
interest income is the difference between interest revenue and interest expense and in 2012, net interest income
was $233.6 million compared to $236.3 million in 2011. Net interest income as a percentage of average assets was
1.95 per cent for 2012 compared to 2.16 per cent in 2011. Net interest income is adjusted for lending fees, and mortgage
and deposit broker commissions amortized using the effective interest method.
Our net interest income continues to be negatively impacted by falling interest rates. The Canadian banks were very
competitive with fixed rate residential mortgages in the first half of the year in attempts to increase market share. This
drove loan yields down further and shifted borrowers away from Prime based loans as the spread between a 5-year
fixed rate mortgage and a Prime-based mortgage was negligible. Members have become more aware that interest
rates are unlikely to increase in the near future. In 2011, this was reflected in the loan portfolio as many borrowers
committed to Prime-based mortgages. In 2012, depositors began shifting their investments out of savings accounts
and into longer term deposits, especially if the deposit products had upside features such as rising rates. While this
provided higher yields for depositors, this had a negative impact on our net interest margin. The overall decline in
interest rates has reduced interest income more than interest expense. Our interest income did however benefit from
growth of $1.0 billion in our residential mortgage and commercial portfolios.
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Analysis of net interest income
Year ended December 31
in thousand of dollars

2012
Average
balance

Cash resources

$ 1,387,851

2011
Interest

Interest
rate %

11.6 $ 25,450

1.83 $ 1,710,752

15.6 $ 29,020

1.70

Mix %

Interest

Interest
rate %

Average
balance

Mix %

Loans
Residential

7,784,120

64.9

268,739

3.45

6,819,942

62.2

259,627

3.81

Commercial

2,379,965

19.8

109,078

4.58

1,977,148

18.0

103,337

5.23

84,245

0.7

5,523

6.56

102,335

0.9

6,367

6.22

210,136

1.8

16,726

7.96

212,988

2.0

16,603

7.80

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

83.1 $ 385,934

4.24

Personal
Lines of credit
Derivatives

–

Total loans

$ 10,458,466

Other assets
Total

149,948
$ 11,996,265

87.2 $ 400,066
1.2

–

100.0 $ 425,516

3.83 $ 9,112,413
–

139,194

3.55 $ 10,962,359

1.3

–

–

100.0 $ 414,954

3.79

Deposits
Demand

4,066,088

33.9

31,808

0.78

3,844,139

35.1

31,482

0.82

Term

5,152,219

42.9

112,952

2.19

4,718,337

43.0

103,669

2.20

1,465,482

12.2

35,486

2.42

1,435,045

13.1

37,207

2.59

91.2 $ 172,358

1.72

RRSP
Total deposits
Borrowings
Subordinated notes
Derivatives
Total financial liabilities

$ 10,683,789

89.0 $ 180,246

1.69 $ 9,997,521

548,673

4.6

9,299

1.69

254,992

2.3

4,116

1.61

–

–

–

–

7,083

0.1

442

6.25

–

2,335

–

–

–

1,771

–

93.6 $ 178,687

1.74

–
$ 11,232,462

93.6 $ 191,880

1.71 $ 10,259,596

Other liabilities

79,472

0.7

–

–

82,684

0.7

–

–

Class B shares

39,072

0.3

–

–

40,274

0.4

–

–

–

–

–

719

–

–

–

5.4

–

–

579,085

5.3

–

–

100.0 $ 178,687

1.63

$ 236,267

2.16

Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (AOCI)
Retained earnings
Total
Net interest income

(2,388)
647,645
$ 11,996,263

100.0 $ 191,880
$ 233,636

1.60 $ 10,962,358
1.95

Fee, commission and other income
Fee, commission and other income is all income that is not interest-related. This includes items such as insurance,
credit card and mutual fund commissions, foreign exchange income, banking service charges and fair valuation
changes to certain financial instruments. We price our products and services to provide excellent member value and
fair returns while maintaining market competitiveness.

2012 Annual Report

17

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
In 2012, we earned $89.7 million in fee, commission and other income compared to $75.2 million in 2011. Some of
the increases were due to non-recurring revenue sources. These included:
• $5.6 million gain from the sale and leaseback of one of our branch locations;
• $5.0 million increase in fair value of investments held for trading and derivatives held for hedging purposes but
not qualifying for hedge accounting treatment; and
• $0.8 million in additional underwriting bonuses from commercial general insurance activity.
Our credit card commissions increased by $0.7 million as we continued to have more members initiating and using
our credit cards. Our income from home insurance revenue increased by $0.9 million but was driven by increased
premiums as our active policy count declined by 1.0 per cent. Equity markets, combined with strong net fund sales,
increased our mutual fund assets under administration, which in turn increased our trailer fee commissions. However,
this was more than offset by our decision to no longer sell funds with a deferred sales charge load type. By selling only
no-load funds, we increase our long-term earnings stability but in the short term, reduce sales commission revenue.
Non-interest expenses
Non-interest expenses are all costs that are not interest-related, excluding provisions for credit losses and income
taxes. These include employee salaries and benefits, occupancy, information technology, marketing, community
contributions, deposit insurance assessments, ATM and debit card interchange fees and other costs. We continue to
strive to contain and manage our costs as effectively as possible.
We managed the increase in our non-interest expenses to 2.2 per cent, from $224.6 million in 2011 to $229.5 million
in 2012. Employee costs, including salaries, benefits and incentive compensation, were $127.7 million in 2012 compared
to $124.2 million in 2011, an increase of 2.8 per cent. This can be attributed to market range increases to salaries and
higher restructuring costs. Other costs included a $1.0 million increase in higher occupancy costs, with half due to two
recently opened retail branches. Additional increases included higher amortization costs on hardware in support of our
new banking system, professional services in support of national expansion initiatives, higher regulatory assessments
that match our balance sheet and customer growth, and a 4.8 per cent increase in contributions to the community. Our
cost savings arose from consolidating contracted services and redesigning processes.
Capital expenditures
In 2012, our capital expenditures were $31.7 million compared to $24.5 million in 2011. The go-live date for our new
banking system was February 12, 2013. Implementation and configuration costs for the system have been significant
components to our capital expenditure for the past two years with 2012 costs at $19.2 million. We estimate another
$2.0 million of 2013 capital expenditure to complete this project, and are targeting $12.0 million for total 2013 capital
expenditure.
We opened one new branch in Burnaby in 2012, the second of our new aperio 2.0 format, complete with iPads
providing access to online banking and product information, a local business gallery to showcase our commercial
clients, and workstations to provide enhanced privacy.
Year ended December 31
in thousands of dollars
Building renovation and improvements

2012
$

104

2011
$

655

Leasehold improvements

4,271

1,346

Computer equipment

2,752

2,695

20,806

18,167

Software
Furniture and equipment
Total

18

3,769
$
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31,702

1,668
$

24,531
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One unplanned capital expenditure was a significant replacement of the cash dispensing machines at our retail
branches. This was necessitated by a review of our existing machines ability to handle the new polymer notes issued in
2012. Machine replacement became an industry-wide issue as the new notes would too frequently adhere to each other.
We sold a retail branch in 2012 and subsequent to the end of the reporting year, sold two other locations including
our current head office. We are also in the midst of marketing two other retail branch locations. The property
transactions allow us to redeploy our capital to areas that provide the highest returns in our core operations.
Loans
Total loans grew by 9.8 per cent from $9.8 billion in 2011 to $10.8 billion in 2012. This is a slower growth rate than
what we experienced in 2011 when we grew our loan portfolio by 15.6 per cent. The lower growth rate is a result of
a slower real estate market, greater competition from the banks seeking to increase their domestic market share in
residential mortgages, and a rebalancing of our total loan portfolio from high volume origination of lower yielding
residential mortgages in favour of higher yielding commercial loans.
We primarily originate real estate secured first mortgages in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver
Island regions of British Columbia. We provide mortgages to individuals and businesses and source loans directly
to our members in our retail branches, via our mobile mortgage specialists and contact centre representatives, or
through approved external brokers. Of our total loan portfolio, 93.2 per cent is secured by real property. While this
provides a high degree of tangible security for our asset base, we also seek to diversify by expanding our portfolio
into operational lending to businesses, especially small and medium enterprises, which is a key component of our
commercial banking strategy. This rebalancing is accompanied by sound underwriting policies and practices, which
is evident in the declining impaired balances and delinquency rates.
At December 31, 2012, residential mortgage loans totalled $8.0 billion, representing 74.3 per cent of total loans
outstanding compared to $7.4 billion or 75.6 per cent of total loans at December 31, 2011. We successfully competed
for residential mortgages and benefited from a favourable real estate market in the first half of 2012. New rules from
CMHC which went into effect in July made qualification significantly more difficult for new home buyers. This had an
industry-wide impact of slowing down insured mortgage lending and occurred as the overall real estate market was
already showing signs of a slowdown.
Personal loans to members include instalment loans, demand loans and lines of credit. We also offer a suite of
credit cards. Based on the contractual agreement with the credit card supplier, we do not profit from the balances
owing from the credit card holders but earn a fee based on the total net purchases of the credit card holders, as well
as a per-card fee. At December 31, 2012, personal loans decreased by $10.3 million to $279.0 million representing
2.6 per cent of total loans outstanding compared to 2.9 per cent of total loans as at December 31, 2011. Members
continue to move away from unsecured or chattel-secured personal borrowings and access either home equity loans
or seek new residential mortgages with scheduled payments, both of which offer lower interest rates. These loans
expose us to less risk due to higher quality security.
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Loan portfolio
As at December 31

2012

Number

Total
in millions
of dollars1

Average
in thousands
Mix %
of dollars

2011

Number

Total
in millions
of dollars1

Average
in thousands
Mix %
of dollars

Retail
Mortgages
Conventional
Revenue

20,772
2,787

Progressive

$

3,944

36.6

190

20,083

681

6.3

$

244

2,597

$

3,577

36.4

617

6.3

$

178
238

92

41

0.4

446

90

28

0.3

311

Insured

4,618

1,280

11.9

277

4,418

1,201

12.2

272

High-ratio

9.6

372

2,731

992

10.1

363

2,793

1,038

Mortgage-secured lines of
credit

17,847

1,029

9.5

58

17,153

1,013

10.3

59

Subtotal mortgages

48,909

8,013

74.3

164

47,072

7,428

75.6

158

Other
Retail leasing
Other lines of credit

7

–

–

–

63

–

–

–

146,136

200

1.9

1

146,686

200

2.0

1

Personal loans

7,428

79

0.7

11

8,383

89

0.9

11

Subtotal other

153,571

279

2.6

2

155,132

289

2.9

2

Subtotal retail

202,480

8,292

76.9

41

202,204

7,717

78.5

38

127

Commercial
Commercial loans

15,810

2,214

20.5

140

14,930

1,900

19.3

Commercial leasing

3,339

280

2.6

84

2,879

209

2.1

73

Subtotal commercial

19,149

2,494

23.1

130

17,809

2,109

21.5

118

221,629

10,786

100.0

49

220,013

9,826

100.0

45

221,629

$ 10,807

49

220,013

Subtotal individuals and
commercial
Accrued interest
Total loan portfolio

21

23
100.0

$

$

9,849

100.0

$

45

1 Before allowance for credit losses

At December 31, 2012, commercial loans totalled $2.5 billion, representing 23.1 per cent of total loans outstanding
(19.9 per cent of total assets) compared with $2.1 billion, representing 21.5 per cent of total loans as at December
31, 2011 (17.7 per cent of total assets). Throughout 2012, we continued to access our syndication channel which
contributed significantly to our growth. We also financed more construction lending reflecting highly competitive
markets for industrial space and low downtown office space vacancy rates in British Columbia.
As noted above, our commercial lending consists primarily of first mortgages to medium-sized businesses for real
estate term loans and development projects. We provide banking services and operating lines to small and medium
size businesses and, increasingly, we offer payments and cash management products and services. Another growth
area is equipment financing using commercial leases; in 2012, our commercial lease portfolio increased by $80.8 million
or 40.5 per cent. In 2013, we will continue to diversify our portfolio while meeting the needs of our members.
We maintain conservative lending policies and hold no loans denominated in a foreign currency. Our present
policy limits commercial lending to a maximum of $3.5 billion, in line with our goal of holding 30 per cent of total
assets in commercial loans, the regulatory maximum. The maximum single loan exposure to any one property is
currently limited to $30.0 million, while our maximum exposure to any one connection is limited to $50.0 million on
real estate loans. Other types of loans have substantially lower limits.
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Allowance for credit losses
We maintain collective and specific allowances to reduce the value of our loan portfolio by the amount of estimated
credit losses. We review our loan portfolio on an ongoing basis and establish a specific allowance if we identify
potential credit losses on individual loans. We are gaining experience with an updated IFRS compliant collective
allowance model which provides greater insights into the performance of our various loan portfolios. We additionally
apply management judgment that considers economic impacts that may not be picked up immediately in our model.
Our provision for credit losses in 2012 was $8.0 million compared to $8.3 million in 2011. The decrease in 2012 was
primarily attributed to reversals of loans previously provided or written off. The total allowance for credit losses
decreased to $42.5 million or 0.39 per cent of total loans as at December 31, 2012, compared to $43.7 million or
0.45 per cent at December 31, 2011. Our specific allowance declined by $2.5 million or 19.5 per cent as we resolved
certain large impaired commercial loans while few new large loans became impaired. Our collective allowance
increased by $1.3 million or 4.2 per cent which reflected loan portfolio growth of 9.8 per cent offset by reduced
average probabilities of default in our portfolio mirroring the reduced delinquency rates in our portfolio.
The level of impaired loans stood at $50.5 million at December 31, 2012 versus $77.8 million at December 31, 2011,
reflecting continued portfolio performance improvement as we work out delinquent loans that peaked following
the recession. We classify a loan as impaired if, in the opinion of management, we have reasonable doubt as to its
ultimate collectibility, either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. While the entire amount of the loan is reported
as impaired, factors such as collateral in place mitigate how much of the value of the loan is actually at risk and
requires an allowance. Loans where interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days are automatically classified
as impaired, unless we determine that we have no reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectibility of principal
and interest. All loans are classified as impaired when interest or principal is past due 180 days. With the transition
to IFRS, we continue to recognize interest income on a loan even when we classify it as impaired. We will assign a
specific allowance to the impaired loan for the accrued interest unless, in our opinion, we have no reasonable doubt
as to collectibility of the interest.
Asset quality coverage
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars
Total loans
Provision for credit losses

2012
$

10,764,060

2011
$

9,805,582

8,047

8,337

Loan write-offs

10,957

25,949

Total allowance for credit losses

42,507

43,658

Impaired loans

50,541

77,769

724,439

655,160

Provision for credit losses as % of total loans

0.07

0.09

Loan write-offs as % of total loans

0.10

0.26

Impaired as % of total loans

0.47

0.79

Impaired as % of members’ equity

6.98

11.87

84.10

56.14

0.39

0.45

Members’ equity
in per cent

Total allowance as % of impaired loans
Total allowance as % of total loans

Deposits
We offer a full range of personal deposit services and products, including chequing accounts, savings accounts, and
term deposits. All deposit accounts are in Canadian funds, with the exception of a special U.S. dollar (USD) chequing
account and USD short-term deposits. Included in our deposit suite is a very successful Haggle-free Guarantee® term
deposit pricing concept, where all our retail members are assured that they receive our best rate without having to
negotiate. We actively market a suite of products including RRSPs, RRIFs and RESPs, as well as a complete line of
Tax-Free Savings deposit products.
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Total deposits as at December 31, 2012 were $11.2 billion compared with $10.3 billion for the previous year, an
increase of 8.5 per cent. Unlike the past few years, members’ expectations for rate increases lessened as balances
in retail term deposits increased. During the year, we increased our focus on growing core retail deposits providing
ongoing feature products. This resulted in an increase of $400 million in shorter term, rising rate and redeemable
products. We had an additional $300 million growth from institutional accounts which were mostly one year and
under terms. The remainder of our deposit growth was from retail high-interest savings accounts or sourced through
deposit agents. This channel uses a network of financial planners who offer our term deposits to their members to
balance out their investment portfolios.
As at December 31, 2012, demand deposits represented 36.8 per cent of total deposits compared with 39.1 per cent
in the previous year. Term deposits represented 49.6 per cent compared with 46.4 per cent in 2011. Registered
term deposit balances grew by $36.0 million over 2011, making up 13.2 per cent of total deposits compared with
13.9 per cent in 2011.
Borrowings
We maintain a loan facility with Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”) and another with Caisse Centrale Desjardins.
As an important part of effective liquidity management, financial institutions need access to borrowing facilities.
These facilities are used to fund loans during periods when loan growth exceeds deposit growth. When the reverse
happens, that is, deposit growth exceeds loan growth, these facilities are paid down. As such, outstanding amounts
under both these facilities fluctuate throughout the year. Through the Caisse Centrale Desjardins facility, we are able
to borrow up to $250 million. The primary Central 1 facility is dedicated and allows us to borrow up to 5 per cent
of our total assets. Amounts above the 5 per cent are also available at Central 1 under special circumstances and
for specific terms. We had $565.0 million in borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2012 compared to balances
of $675.0 million at the end of 2011. Average borrowings throughout the year were $432.0 million compared to
$92.1 million for 2011.
During Q4 of 2012, we became a direct National Housing Agency Mortgage-Backed Securities (“NHA MBS”)
Issuer providing us an additional liquidity source. Becoming an NHA MBS issuer allows us to sell mortgages
to investors. This process is also known as securitization. These sales free up money to fund new mortgage
business. Again, this activity usually takes place when loan growth exceeds deposit growth. Even though the
mortgages have been sold, we continue to administer the mortgages without any impact to our members.
Under IFRS accounting, when we securitize a pool of loans through this vehicle, the transaction is recorded as a
financing transaction. The first transaction that we did in late 2012 required the recording of a fixed rate liability
of $39.0 million due in five years after the securitization. This was our first securitization transaction since 2008.
Our total securitization liability at the end of 2012 was $51.7 million compared to $50.7 million at the end of 2011
because we paid down the majority of the liability that arose from the 2008 securitizations. Throughout 2013, this
should provide us with a cost effective alternative to fund our growing loan portfolio.
Capital Management
We are committed to maintaining a strong capital position by balancing the interests and requirements of members,
regulators and depositors. Our capital requirements are regulated by Financial Institutions Commission of British
Columbia (“FICOM”) using the risk-weighted approach developed by the Bank for International Settlements (“BIS”).
FICOM established a minimum capital standard based on a ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0 per cent. At
least 50 per cent of a credit union’s capital base, for the purpose of meeting the standard, must consist of primary
capital, known as Tier 1, comprised of voting shares, qualifying investment shares, contributed surplus and retained
earnings, less intangible assets such as goodwill and deferred income tax assets. As we do not currently access capital
markets to raise equity, our principal source of Tier 1 capital is retained earnings, the most stable source of capital.
Secondary capital, known as Tier 2, includes subordinated notes, other investment shares, and 50 per cent of a
credit union’s portion of retained earnings in Central 1, Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation (“CUDIC”), and
Stabilization Central Credit Union (“Stab Central”). A credit union’s assets are weighted according to six categories
of relative risk ranging from 0 per cent to 200 per cent. Residential mortgages, the largest portion of our assets, are
risk-weighted at 35 per cent, while commercial loans, the second largest portion, are risk-weighted at 100 per cent.
We monitor our capital levels on a regular basis. Our capital plan is updated in conjunction with our annual
operating plan and provides a forecast of capital requirements over a five-year horizon. We monitor and evaluate the
impact of future changes to capital regulations arising from Basel III. Although Basel III will not be fully in effect until
2017, our capital forecasts comply with the new capital requirements.
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At December 31, 2012, our total capital ratio, which includes Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, was 12.63 per cent, compared
to 13.06 per cent in 2011. Our capital ratio is impacted by growth in our residential and commercial loan portfolios
as well as a regulatory requirement to deduct from capital all unamortized but capitalized software, including the
majority of costs relating to our new banking system. An additional impact is the growth of residential mortgages
with loan-to-value ratios between 75 and 80 per cent. While OSFI regulated financial institutions are required to set
aside more capital for mortgages only when loan-to-value ratios exceed 80 per cent, provincially regulated credit
unions in British Columbia must set aside more capital at loan-to-value ratios exceeding 75 per cent. This puts credit
unions at a competitive disadvantage as OSFI regulated financial institutions would not need to price for higher
capital requirements for mortgages in this loan-to-value ratio band. Mortgages in this loan-to-value ratio band are a
significantly growing portfolio.
We are committed to a strong capital position, with a policy of maintaining our capital ratio above 9.0 per cent of riskweighted assets. We are supportive of system-wide initiatives that focus on internal targets and early warning signals.
The following two tables show the levels of our capital and our risk-weighted assets under the BIS requirements:
Tier 1 and 2 capital
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2012

2011

Tier 1 capital
Class A shares

$

Class B shares
Retained earnings
Deferred income taxes

2,256

$

40,302

688,091

616,576

(4,346)

Less: capital deductions

2,161

38,892

(6,711)

724,893

652,328

(61,314)

(42,373)

663,579

609,955

82,657

73,296

Tier 2 capital
Portion of equity in Central 1, CUDIC and Stab Central 1

82,657
Total capital

$

746,236

73,296
$

683,251

1 Portion of system related equity multiplied by 50 per cent
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Risk-weighted assets
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

Cash resources

$

2012

2011

Balance
sheet
amount

Balance
sheet
amount

BIS riskweight
(%)

1,046,020

0

1,265,562

Commercial paper

$

$

2012

2011

Riskweighted
balance

Riskweighted
balance

–

$

–

414,176

796,038

0–150

110,361

319,431

Residential mortgages

5,067,564

5,248,477

35

1,779,079

1,844,670

Insured mortgages

1,271,575

1,201,001

0

–

–

High-ratio mortgages 75 to 80 per
cent loan to value (“LTV”)

1,488,378

828,803

75

1,116,283

621,603

145,032

149,962

75

108,773

112,470

High-ratio mortgages
greater than 80 per cent LTV
Personal loans

278,989

289,240

75

209,242

195,402

Commercial loans and leasing

2,498,642

2,108,748

100

2,414,230

2,037,610

Other assets and investments

169,587

99,948

100

169,587

99,948

0–100

1,530

Off-balance-sheet exposure
$

12,599,505

$

11,768,237

$

Risk-weighted assets as a percentage of total assets

5,909,085

1,664
$

5,232,798

46.9%

44.5%

11.23

11.66

1.40

1.40

12.63

13.06

in per cent
Ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets
Primary capital to risk-weighted assets
Secondary capital to risk-weighted assets
Total capital ratio
Total collective allowance for credit losses
As a percentage of risk-weighted assets

$

32,408
0.55%

$

31,107
0.59%

Lines of Business Performance
Measurement and reporting of our lines of business
Our management reporting framework is intended to measure the performance of each line of business as if it
were a stand-alone business. The following list highlights the key aspects of how our lines of business are managed
and reported.
• Retail banking includes income earned from residential mortgages, personal loans and deposits sourced through
our branches, mobile lenders, contact centre or external brokers, as well as other general banking activities.
• General insurance includes the commissions earned from automobile, home, business and travel insurance
policies.
• Investment services includes the deposit and fund revenues from assets under administration plus life and living
benefits insurance commissions.
• Commercial services include income from commercial loans and deposits and other commercial activities.
• Corporate support are the enterprise-wide activities undertaken for the benefit of the organization and not directly
attributable to the four business lines. This includes net revenues from certain treasury activities, and indirect noninterest expenses. We use a funds transfer pricing methodology to evaluate the profitability of each financial asset
or liability within each line of business.
• We allocate all premises and direct technology costs to each line of business. We use a management reporting
framework to allocate other costs not directly attributable to the line of business.
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Retail banking
The retail banking group is our core business, maintaining relationships with a majority of our members. This
includes personal lending (residential mortgages, personal loans, lines of credit, and credit cards), deposit services
(chequing and savings accounts, term deposits and registered deposits) and other general banking activities (foreign
exchange and safety deposit boxes). These services are provided through our network of 50 branches (14 on southern
Vancouver Island and 36 throughout Metro Vancouver and in the Fraser Valley).
A key focus in 2012 was to further embed the Where You’re at Money Chat into the customer service process.
The Money Chat, launched in 2011, is an integral part of our Help Process and is designed to help understand our
members’ personal financial goals so that we provide them with the appropriate advice, deepening our relationships
and increasing the number of products customers choose to hold with us. During 2012, over 34,000 Money Chats
were completed with members, including 76 per cent of all new members.
The launch of our Money Pro role in 2011 represented a shift away from service specialists to generalists, able
to help customers with all their financial needs – from personal lending to investment requirements. We continued
this shift in 2012 by increasing the Money Pro positions in our branch network as well as introducing expanded
roles and service capabilities for other banking positions. While we continue to retain specialized professionals for
more complex needs, the ability of our retail banking staff to have broader and more meaningful conversations
with members is an important part of achieving our simple financial help mission. The change also provides a better
employee experience with more learning and growth opportunities.
2012 also saw the successful rollout of our new Edmonds branch in Burnaby. The Edmonds branch is the second
to be fitted with our aperio 2.0 enhancements; incorporating increased privacy for members, remaining true to our
open concept while incorporating the latest technologies to enhance the in-branch customer experience. We also
relocated our Beverly Corners branch in Duncan and remodelled it and our Bay Centre branch in Victoria into our
aperio 2.0 design.
Financial performance
With our Haggle-free Guarantee and the best in class features of our
award winning You’re the Boss Mortgage product line, our residential
mortgages grew $585 million during the year – a 7.9 per cent growth
rate in total retail mortgages. The majority of our mortgage growth,
94 per cent, occurred in the first half of the year, in fixed rate mortgage
products at competitive rates.
Combined retail and commercial deposits grew by $539 million or
7.2 per cent during the year. The deposit growth was primarily in our
term deposit accounts.
The low interest rate environment continued to impact retail
revenues, which were down 0.5 per cent or $0.9 million. Our margins
were impacted by the significant domestic focus of the large banks
offering very competitive residential mortgage rates while depositors
looked for higher yield in the low rate environment.

Retail banking loan and deposit portfolios
in millions of dollars

2010

7,206
6,594

2011

7,467
7,711

2012

8,006
8,007

 Retail deposits
 Retail mortgages, loans and lines of credit

Retail banking revenues
in thousands of dollars

Opportunities and challenges
190,001
2010
After several years of planning and development, we launched our
new banking system in early 2013. The banking system is core to
2011
188,318
our operation and represents significant change in terms of the
2012
187,450
organization’s back-end processes. The preparation and launch of the
new system creates special challenges in 2013, as will the operational
adjustments needed post-implementation. However, once completed
it will allow a shift in focus towards new opportunities for efficiencies and enhanced service capabilities.
The expanded roles and member service capabilities of retail banking staff will further enhance our relationships
with members, improve our Help Process, and increase the number of products customers choose to hold with us.
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Low interest rates, resulting from global economic conditions and competition within the Canadian banking
services market, are expected to continue to compress net interest margins with narrowing spreads between
residential mortgages and deposit products offered throughout 2013. We expect a similar real estate market for 2013
in terms of number of sales, and housing starts, with further small price reductions likely. In response to the current
economic climate, we will be focusing more attention on customers whose credit has been adversely impacted by
life events.
General insurance
General insurance revenues are generated in a subsidiary company,
Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. The company operates 32 retail
insurance offices across Vancouver Island and Metro Vancouver with
over 200 insurance employees. Through these operations, members can
purchase a variety of insurance products.
We offer habitational, private auto, short-term travel and some basic
commercial products under the Coast brand name. We also offer ICBC,
marine and some commercial packages, RV and long-term travel under
a supplier’s name. Finally, we can better help customers afford insurance
premiums via our own financing product PayVantage.®

General insurances revenues
in thousands of dollars

2010
2011
2012

25,208
26,185
27,663

Financial performance
Revenue increased $1.5 million, or 5.6 per cent, from last year. Revenue results for the year were challenged by flat
auto insurance revenues for the year, but supported by home insurance revenue, which increased by 7.6 per cent
over the previous year. Underwriting bonuses were $1.2 million, up $0.8 million from the previous year, and a main
contributor to 2012 revenue growth. These bonuses are the result of the quality of insurance underwriting that we do,
combined with overall profitability levels in the insurance industry.
Opportunities and challenges
General insurance is a key opportunity for us to provide an enhanced offering of simple financial help to our
membership. Growth in this division will continue to be challenged with increasing competition in the home and
commercial markets, the presence of a government-owned supplier and competitor in the automobile market, and a
low interest rate environment which limits investment returns for our insurance company suppliers.
Investment services
Assets under administration
Investment services specialize in the sales, advice and servicing relating
in millions of dollars
to mutual and segregated funds, and life and living benefits insurance.
Investing and financial planning continue to be complex with increasing
1,758
2010
market volatility led by the uncertainty of key global economies. We
differentiate ourselves by offering simple financial help, providing our
2011
1,762
members with the meaningful resources they need to attain their financial
2012
1,978
goals. This includes our private label family of investments, the Low-Fee,
More-for-me Mutual Funds, introduced in 2009.
Our membership has access to our services through the retail branch
network and contact centre representatives. In mid-2010, we commenced offering all of our mutual funds as no-load
funds. The no-load offering was extended to segregated funds beginning in Q4 2012. No-load provides increased
flexibility and portability to our membership.
In 2011, we rolled out the next phase of our strategy by improving our accessibility through the introduction of
the Money Pro in our retail branch network. The Money Pro position was further expanded in 2012 to increase our
ability to offer an unexpected member experience by providing help directly, while directing members with complex
financial needs to our more specialized advisors.
These changes were well received by our membership with net fund sales totalling $108 million during the year
($82 million in 2011), despite uncertain global markets.
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Financial performance
The investment services industry experienced less market volatility in 2012, but continued to be marked by uncertainty
due to the ongoing financial crisis in Europe and political strife in the United States. North American financial markets
experienced positive growth, with the S&P/TSX Total Return index rising 4.0 per cent for the year.
Our total fund assets under administration grew $216 million, or
Investment services revenue
12.3 per cent, from 2011 reflecting both positive financial markets and
in thousands of dollars
net fund sales activities. Our Low-Fee, More-for-me Mutual Funds
2010
12,391
continued to offer investors solid returns with low management expense
2,915
ratios, resulting in assets under management growth of $169 million
2011
in 2012. Low-Fee, More-for-me assets totalled $429 million at year end,
14,370
22 per cent of our total fund assets under management.
3,089
Revenue earned from funds fell $0.3 million due to declines in sales
2012
14,057
revenue resulting from the move to no-load sales. Our revenue model is
3,112
now primarily earned from trailer fees meaning that we do not earn any
revenue at the time a customer makes an investment but rather as the
 Funds  Life insurance
customer retains their investment. Revenues earned from life and living
benefits insurance, our other significant product offering, increased
marginally over the previous year.
Opportunities and challenges
Increased accessibility to investment services and a simpler product line provide an opportunity to enhance member
experience and ensure we are providing valued simple financial help. This will ensure the membership has access to
the required assistance to manage through uncertain financial times.
Commercial services
The commercial services group offers a wide range of lending, leasing and deposit services to over 40 thousand
commercial real estate and small- and medium-sized businesses. We made strong progress in executing strategy
which is focused on increasing access to the services we offer to small business members while maintaining the
profitability and risk management of our business. This strategy has turned the commercial division into our fastest
growing sector among our lines of business.
Financial performance
Commercial asset portfolio
The commercial services group includes commercial real estate,
in millions of dollars
business services, equipment finance and small business specialists.
During the year, our commercial portfolio grew $386 million or
1,929
2010
18.3 per cent year-over-year. This was attained primarily in commercial
mortgages, which grew $300 million, and commercial leases, which
2011
2,113
grew $81 million. The growth in commercial mortgages was split almost
2012
2,499
evenly between fixed and variable rate loans. We benefited from the
improvements in our syndication channel, which provided $161 million
of this growth during the year.
Despite a challenging interest rate environment commercial services revenues increased year-over-year, largely
due to increased non-interest income. On average, interest rates on commercial services’ loans were 40 basis points
lower year-over-year.
Opportunities and challenges
Opportunities in 2013 will come from deepening the relationship with
existing and new business members in markets such as small business
and mid-market and pursuing opportunities to grow the leasing business.
The interest rate environment in 2013 will continue to be challenging.

Commercial banking revenues
in thousands of dollars

2010
2011
2012

73,859
68,005
69,029
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Risk Management
(Certain information within this section, where indicated,
forms an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Integrated Risk Management (“IRM”) framework (shown below) was adopted in 2009 and serves as both a
governance and management toolRISK
to REVIEW
provide
effective oversight
and risk management. This framework enables
COMMITTEE
AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
Board Committees
us to enhance member value and maintain sound business and financial operations over the long-term. The Group
Risk Management (“GRM”) function, under the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer (“CRO”), enhances the continued
Management Committees
ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE
SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM
SENIOR CREDIT COMMITTEE
growth of the business by maintaining appropriate risk monitoring and adherence to regulatory practices. GRM is
responsible for building and maintaining our enterprise-wide risk management capability, which comprises economic,
Functional Units operationalGROUP
MANAGEMENT
BUSINESS LINES GRM oversees
SUPPORT
UNITS
AUDIT
and RISK
credit
risk functions. Furthermore,
the implementation
ofINTERNAL
effective
risk-management
policies and procedures that arise from the financial services industry’s increasingly regulated environment.
The IRM framework is dynamic and flexible allowing us to adapt as required to internal and external opportunities.
Our approach allows us to look across all business areas to identify, assess, mitigate, monitor and report on potential
risks. Since our business activities have significant inherent risks, we are committed to the effective, efficient and
proactive management of these risks within acceptable levels realizing that these risks cannot be fully eliminated.
Increasing the awareness of the risk-management role throughout the organization contributes to building a stable
and strong company to benefit our members, staff and communities.
MEMBERS’ DESIRE FOR A STRONG AND STABLE CREDIT UNION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ DESIRED KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

LEGAL AND REGULATORY COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS

ENTERPRISE RISK APPETITE

CREDIT AND
COUNTERPARTY RISK

LIQUIDITY AND
FUNDING RISK

MARKET RISK

OPERATIONAL RISK

STRATEGIC RISK

LEGAL, REGULATORY AND REPUTATION RISK
INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk governance
Below is a representation of our Governance Model. Sound corporate governance is essential for ensuring an
appropriate level of management and oversight of risks and controls in order to balance risk and reward in the
organization. Managing risk is the shared responsibility of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), executives and staff.
The GRM function enables us to understand and implement this shared responsibility.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Committees
Board Committees

RISK REVIEW COMMITTEE

Management
Committees
Management
Committees
Functional
Units
Functional
Units

ASSET LIABILITY COMMITTEE

GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT

AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE

SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM

BUSINESS LINES

SENIOR CREDIT COMMITTEE

SUPPORT UNITS

INTERNAL AUDIT

Board of Directors: provides general oversight, establishes the risk management appetite which is monitored
through the Risk Review Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee, and approves the strategic direction of
the credit union.
Risk Review Committee: provides risk oversight for the Board, including the monitoring and evaluation of key risks,
by ensuring the appropriate risk framework and policies are in place. The Chief Risk Officer has a reporting line to
the committee.
MEMBERS’ DESIRE FOR A STRONG AND STABLE CREDIT UNION
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Audit and Finance Committee: provides oversight for the Board on financial and controls matters, including
maintaining the integrity, reliability, accuracy and clarity of financial reporting. The Director of Internal Audit has a
reporting line to the committee.
Asset Liability Committee: ensures that we are within our risk appetite in terms of liquidity and funding, interest rate
risk, foreign exchange risk and capital management.
Senior Executive Team: develops and executes our strategic direction and ensures the overall risk profile is aligned
with strategic direction.
Senior Credit Committee: ensures that we are within our risk appetite in terms of credit risk and approves credit deals
above individual limits and below our regulatory caps.
Group Risk Management: promotes our risk management culture and provides risk management support to the
Business Lines, Support Units, Senior Executive Team and the Board and its Committees.
Business Lines: provide the front-line sales production and operate and manage the controls used to mitigate risks
in the organization.
Support Units: provide back-office assistance primarily to the Business Lines but also to the rest of the organization.
These units also operate and manage the controls used to mitigate risks.
Internal Audit: provides independent oversight and testing of the controls in place to manage the risks that we face.
We actively monitor and manage the following principal risks which are most likely to affect our organization:
credit and counterparty risk, market risk, liquidity and funding management risk, operational risk, strategic risk, legal
and regulatory risk and reputation risk.
Credit and counterparty risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Credit risk is the risk of losing money on a(n):
• Loan – where the borrower is unwilling or unable to fulfil their financial obligations;
• Investment – where a decrease in the credit quality of the issuer leads to a decline in market value.
Counterparty risk is the risk that, in a contract, the other party fails to meet its contractual obligations. With the context
of a credit union, this is a consideration beyond our loan portfolio and includes potential transactions with strategic
partners, vendors or other financial intermediaries. These transactions are subject to counterparty risk rating limits
that include portfolio, industry and single name caps. Reporting allows us to monitor and manage this risk.
Our system for controlling the credit risk of borrowers defaulting on loan obligations is based upon strict adherence
to clearly defined credit policies and credit approval procedures. The Board delegates commercial and retail loan
approval limits to the CEO and CRO. The CRO then delegates discretionary limits to lending officers, with the policy
reviewed annually by the Board. Loan approval limits are established based upon the experience and qualifications
of the individuals involved. If a proposed retail loan is beyond the lending limit prescribed for branch management, it
is forwarded to a retail credit team, and escalated if necessary to more senior retail credit positions, depending on the
size of the loan. On the commercial side, depending on the size of the borrower, credit applications may be approved
by the business line, commercial credit department or Senior Credit Committee. We review lending practices and
activities on a regular basis to ensure adherence to policy and general credit quality. Loans in default are removed
from the branch level and dealt with centrally. Commercial watch loans in default are managed with risk decisions
by special account officers.
Maximum exposure to credit risk – The table on page 30 presents the maximum exposure to credit risk of balance
sheet and off-balance-sheet financial instruments, before taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements. For financial assets recognized on the balance sheet, the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying
amount. For financial guarantees granted, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that we
would have to pay if the guarantees were called upon. For loan commitments and other credit-related commitments
that are irrevocable over the life of the respective facilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount
of the committed facilities.
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Maximum exposure to credit risk
As at December 31, 2012
in thousands of dollars

Banking

Derivatives

On balance sheet
Cash held at Central 1

$

Investments held at Central 1

66,618
962,541

Shares in Central 1

42,076

Other investments

651,100

Loans

10,764,060

Derivative instruments

$

Accounts receivable

1,887

9,528
12,495,923

1,887

Off balance sheet
Letters of credit

26,204

Commitments to extend credit

2,860,346
2,886,550

Maximum exposure to credit risk

$ 15,382,473

–
$

1,887

Concentration risk – Concentration risk arises if a number of borrowers are engaged in similar economic activities
and/or are located in the same geographic region. We primarily carry out our lending activities in the Metro Vancouver,
Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. The following table breaks down our lending activity
by loan type and industry.
As at December 31, 2012
in thousands of dollars

Outstanding

Undrawn
commitments

Residential mortgages

$ 8,013,205

$ 1,230,159

$ 9,243,364

278,989

779,957

1,058,946

437,806

336,193

92,653

52,234

144,887

2,096

3,209

5,305

Personal loans

Other

Derivatives

Total
exposure

Commercial
Construction1
Food services and accommodation
Agriculture
Finance and insurance

26,204

800,203

168,120

140,920

309,040

Manufacturing

38,711

21,228

59,939

Professional

20,529

28,225

48,754

1,122,694

153,256

1,275,950

64,791

33,304

98,095

7,023

8,355

15,378

Real estate
Retail and wholesale trade
Transportation
Other

538,857

73,306

$ 10,785,474

$ 2,860,346

1 For construction loans, “Other” refers to letters of credit
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Market risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Market risk is the risk that interest rate fluctuations and volatile foreign exchange markets impact our profitability,
capital and ability to achieve business objectives.
Market risk is primarily incurred in the fundamental banking activities of lending and deposit gathering. Reporting
to the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), the Vice President, Treasury, is responsible for preparing, executing and
monitoring risk management strategies in this area with additional oversight provided by GRM.
Interest rate risk – As noted in our discussion of net interest income, the majority of our revenue is derived from
the spread between the interest we charge on members’ loans and the interest we pay on members’ deposits.
Most of our loans and deposits have a fixed interest rate, which we set for a specific term. With thousands of these
fixed-rated products maturing at different times, and with market interest rates fluctuating, we bear an interest
rate risk that our spread will be negatively impacted for certain periods of time. We are additionally impacted by
mismatches between variable-rate loans and deposits. Our income is reduced if interest rates decline and we have
excess variable-rate assets.
Our treasury team closely manages interest rate risk, and forwards major recommendations to our Asset Liability
Committee — comprised of the CEO, CFO, CRO, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Vice President,
Treasury and other executives. The committee meets regularly to review and monitor asset- and liability-related
activities and initiate changes when necessary. Treasury managers use strategies that manage the spread between
deposit and loan rates for different maturities, while making sure to stay within policy limits that define our risk
appetite, optimizing our profitability.
Mismatches in maturity dates between loans and deposits are constantly changing. These changes are in large part
influenced by members’ expectations of future interest rates. Our treasury department uses modelling software to
forecast net interest income scenarios and measure interest rate risk on a monthly basis. This modelling determines
the effect that rising or falling interest rates would have on net interest income and market value over the next
12 months. Treasury managers monitor these changes to our balance sheet looking for developing trends. Should
forecast interest rate risk exceed maximum policy guidelines, we can often reduce our exposure by conventional
means, such as marketing deposit products or securitizing mortgages. More often than not the more practical
approach is to use synthetic means such as interest rate swaps. At year-end, we held $0.2 billion in synthetic
instruments for interest rate risk management purposes compared to $0.3 billion at December 31, 2011.
Asset and liability maturities
As at December 31
in thousands of dollars

2012
Assets

Liabilities
and equity

$ 4,260,008

$ 4,059,750

1,214,949

4,456,891

1–2 years

1,152,763

1,039,275

2–3 years

1,494,205

880,172

3–4 years

2,070,227

4–5 years

2,147,728

Variable rate

2011
Assets

Liabilities
and equity

$ 4,128,480

$ 4,162,876

2,027,105

3,798,087

(1,770,984)

113,488

697,157

1,005,519

(308,362)

614,033

1,163,744

712,574

451,170

279,759

1,790,468

1,730,949

285,614

1,445,335

239,404

1,908,324

1,781,829

308,150

1,473,679

Differential
$

200,258

Differential
$

(34,396)

Interest sensitive
Maturing within 1 year

(3,241,942)

Maturing between

Non-interest bearing items

1

259,625

1,644,254

$ 12,599,505

$ 12,599,505

(1,384,629)
$

–

238,973

1,495,417

$ 11,768,237

$ 11,768,237

(1,256,444)
$

–

1 Assets include cash, accrued interest receivable, premises and equipment and other items. Liabilities/equity include accrued interest payable,
retained earnings, Class B shares and other items.
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We continue to be asset sensitive. Our asset sensitivity is similar to what it was last year at this time. In the table
above, the $4.1 billion of variable-rate liabilities includes $0.7 billion of chequing and transaction accounts that are
minimally rate sensitive and an additional $2.7 billion of savings accounts that would increase with Prime but at a
lesser rate since deposit and loans rate have compressed considerably in the current low interest rate environment.
If interest rates were to rise in 2013, they would have a positive impact on our net interest income. This is due to the
large portion of our assets that are still Prime-based loan products. They would reprice immediately higher, while
many of our liabilities have longer dated maturities and are unable to reprice higher or as quickly or are in demand
deposit products that have rates that are fixed or not directly influenced by Prime-related changes.
The following table shows the expected change to net interest income as a result of an immediate change in
interest rates. Compared to last year, interest rate changes would have a reduced impact on net interest income, as
we have added more long-term fixed rate assets, primarily residential mortgages. These measures are based on a
number of assumptions and consider the professional judgment of senior financial staff. For instance, the historically
low interest rate environment has resulted in considerable margin compression as deposit costs had less downward
room to move than loan yields. Management judgment includes assumptions relating to further compression or
decompression. Interest rate scenarios are based on outstanding asset and liability balances as at December 31.
Impact on net interest income
in thousands of dollars

2012

2011

1 per cent increase in rates

$

2,867

$

6,093

1 per cent decrease in rates

$

(3,942)

$

(7,676)

Most financial institutions tend to deem a prudent level of asset/liability mismatching to be necessary in order to
optimize profitability. The challenge is to find the level of mismatch that will maximize net interest income while
maintaining an acceptable level of risk.
Foreign exchange risk – Any assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have foreign exchange risk. All
of our foreign exchange risk comes from USD transactions. The risk occurs through our offering USD chequing and
USD term deposits to our members. We mitigate this risk by investing these USD deposits into USD denominated
investments. Our investment policy stipulates the maximum difference permitted between these USD deposits and
USD investments. By limiting the difference, we protect against rapid changes in USD exchange rates.
Liquidity and funding management risk
(Information below is an integral part of the audited financial statements.)
Liquidity and funding management risk is the risk that insufficient access to or inappropriate management of funds
threatens our capacity to grow. It is also the exposure to loss as a result of the inability to satisfy cash flow obligations
in a timely and cost-effective manner, or a poor investment, resulting in a loss that impacts our ability to achieve our
business objectives.
The Financial Institutions Act (“FIA”) requires us to maintain a minimum of 8.0 per cent of total deposits and
borrowings in a liquidity portfolio comprised of investments with maturities ranging from overnight to five years.
As part of this regulation, we are required to hold statutory liquidity with Central 1 equalling 1.5 per cent of the
British Columbia credit union system’s assets, which presently amounts to approximately 7.0 per cent of deposits
and borrowings. These deposits provide yields similar to those of Government of Canada treasury bills or bonds.
In addition to the liquidity portfolio held at Central 1, we hold other liquidity investments outside of Central 1. Our
investment policy specifies the minimum rating and certain single investment exposures for these investments. In
general, funds placed outside of Central 1 are invested in financial instruments that are rated R-1 low (A–) or higher.
Our intention is to maintain a total liquidity portfolio at or above 9.0 per cent of total deposits and borrowings. This
level provides us with an operating cushion in the event of rapid asset growth or sudden deposit declines and still
allows us to meet our regulatory requirements. Our treasury team monitors liquidity levels on a daily basis.
We developed and implemented a Liquidity Contingency Management Plan in 2012, to ensure that our liquidity is
effectively managed. This plan lays out how and what is monitored to determine the health of our liquidity, as well as
the steps to be taken if a liquidity event takes place. Liquidity metrics are monitored monthly to determine whether
a liquidity issue might be in the offing and its stage of urgency. We stress test our forecasted liquidity needs and
monitor the Basel III liquidity coverage ratio and the net stable funding ratio on a monthly basis.
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Maintaining liquidity levels and funding loan growth are managed using a number of different strategies. These
include growing our core retail deposits through the introduction of new retail deposit products, continuing to
promote existing retail deposit products, seeking deposits through an established network of deposit agents and
fostering institutional relationships to attract wholesale deposits. We also have in place several borrowing lines,
including the facility at Central 1, with the ability to borrow as much as $1.0 billion. We also became an NHA MBS
Issuer in 2012. This allows us to securitize mortgages through the CMB (Canada Mortgage Bond) program as well as
directly into the markets.
Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk that inadequate or faulty activities with regard to partners, vendors, products, services,
processes, human capital, technology or projects could result in a loss or missed opportunity that prevents the
achievement of strategic objectives.
We invest in our people and endeavour to have those with the right skills in the right job at the right time.This enables
the development of strong leaders and loyal employees, while providing a safe workplace that will help us grow and
maintain a healthy corporate culture. We also strive to conduct activities in a manner consistent with our members’
stated objectives. This requires a clear understanding of the relationship that we have with our members and ensuring
that our sales staff have the appropriate training and licensing in place to demonstrate this understanding.
We incur operational risk as a result of general day-to-day activities throughout the organization. As such,
operational risk covers a broad range of events such as fraud, disasters and legal and privacy issues, all of which
can impact our efficiency, reputation, brand and financial performance. We have built solid partnerships with other
organizations that make sound business sense with the primary objective being to make these functions seamless to
our stakeholders. We have processes in place to help ensure these partnerships remain effective and add value. We
continue to create and implement both technology and processes that assist in increasing efficiencies. These in turn
help us use our resources more effectively and contain costs.
We have an operational risk management program in place to strengthen the organization’s ability to identify,
manage and mitigate risk. The expected outcome of our program is that our members, employees and community
are confident in our ability to manage risk while maintaining a sound financial position.
We manage our operational risk through various policies and procedures that affect different aspects of our
business and that also help protect the integrity and security of the organization while allowing us to minimize any
adverse impacts to our stakeholders.
The primary components of the program include:
Corporate policies
We have established a Corporate Policy Framework. These policies are reviewed annually by the Senior Executive
Team and the Board. They are in place to ensure staff understand what is expected of them by the organization.
Corporate insurance
We have a Corporate Insurance Program that is designed to protect our organization against unexpected losses such
as fraud, disasters, accidents or lawsuits. We regularly review a number of our primary policies to ensure coverage
remains current with our business practices, growth objectives and strategic direction.
Business continuity planning
We continue to invest in our Business Continuity Program and ensure that plans and procedures are in place to protect
the organization in the event of a disaster or unexpected outage. Processes are in place to ensure staff are aware of
these programs and that they are reviewed to address the evolving needs of the organization.
Fraud prevention
We have made substantial investments in fraud monitoring and fraud prevention. We have a team dedicated to
monitoring fraud across all delivery channels using the ACI Pro-active Risk Manager system. These investments have
resulted in reduced fraud losses while enhancing our abilities to detect fraud more effectively.
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Compliance and privacy
We continue to invest in compliance programs including Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorist Financing,
investment compliance, and privacy. This includes investing in training and technology, and reviewing our oversight
processes to ensure they remain effective. We respect our members’ privacy and have policies and procedures
that ensure our employees safeguard members’ personal information in compliance with the Personal Information
Protection Act.
Corporate security
We have a number of programs to ensure the safety and preparedness of our staff. Our organization has a robust
robbery prevention program in place to ensure the safety and protection of our staff and members.
Enterprise risk management
We have a number of risk management processes in place to proactively identify potential risks that could impact
the objectives of the organization. A Risk and Control Self-Assessment is in place to identify the potential risks and
corresponding controls as they pertain to achieving the day-to-day operation of the business functions.
Strategic risk
Strategic risk is the risk that unsuccessful business strategy, inadequate execution of business strategies or the lack
of responsiveness to changes in the general business environment result in not being able to achieve our business
objectives. In order to ensure the successful implementation of our business strategy we perform a comprehensive
internal and external analysis of our three year planning cycle each year. During this review we also validate new and
emerging opportunities that conform to our business strategy. This process enables documented decision-making to
provide greater governance over capital and resource allocations.
Legal and regulatory risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk that a flaw in design or operation, human error, oversight or indifference results
in not conforming to legal and/or regulatory requirements. We are required to meet various regulatory obligations
including but not limited to the FIA and its regulations as enforced by FICOM, the Anti-Money Laundering & AntiTerrorist Financing Act and the Personal Information Protection Act. This risk also includes non-compliance by our
employees as it pertains to the many statutes and regulations set out by other governing bodies, including those
associated with investment services provided to our members. We maintain a rolling internal audit plan in which we
review our regulatory environment. Additionally, our General Counsel provides ongoing analysis of legislative changes.
Reputation risk
Reputation risk is the risk that our reputation is damaged, potentially resulting in a loss of members, profits and the
ability to compete and achieve business objectives. Reputation is any institution’s greatest asset, and in a financial
institution, reputation and brand value are essential in maintaining the continued confidence of our stakeholders. We
earn our reputation by providing quality products, outstanding service and helpful interactions with our stakeholders.
Our Code of Conduct explains the importance of corporate reputation. Annually, all employees are required to review,
complete an online course, and sign off on the Code of Conduct as an indication of their understanding.
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Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting and Disclosures
We have designed internal controls over financial reporting that are operating effectively. We strive to continually
adopt the best financial reporting and corporate governance practices, and as a result, initiated a controls certification
project on internal controls over financial reporting (“ICOFR”) during the year. This project is conducted entirely on a
voluntary basis as regulatory requirements typically only require such certification for public companies.
During 2012, the ICOFR project focused on the finance function. This included testing the design of and
the effectiveness of internal controls, testing entity level controls, identifying potential control weaknesses,
recommending and finally implementing remediation. Results from our testing within the finance function noted no
significant control deficiencies. In 2013, we will continue to expand the project work beyond the finance function as
we transition into our new banking system.
Executive Compensation Philosophy
Our primary objectives for executive compensation philosophy are to:
• Attract and retain highly qualified executive talent who will lead the change in how Canadians feel about
banking, forever;
• Motivate and reward executives fairly for the achievement of short and long-term performance results that support
our strategy; and
• Provide programs that are competitive, within market, transparent, flexible and understandable and do not
encourage or reward undue or unmanageable risk.
Our primary comparative market is the Canadian financial sector. Within this sector, the most relevant organizations
include the full range of Canadian banks, with appropriate adjustments to reflect the relative size of the organization,
and other large credit unions. Together these are the main sources of executive talent. We also conduct comparisons
to organizations in other industries in order to monitor the broad marketplace, particularly for roles that require
skills that are transferable across industries. Our compensation will be positioned competitively within the primary
comparator market. The Board retains an independent compensation expert to provide advice on the various
elements of our compensation programs.
Pay-for-performance is an important component of the executive pay package. Incentive compensation is delivered
through a combination of Board approved short and long-term incentive compensation programs. A portion of the
executive compensation package is tied to achieving annual goals and creating long-term value.
Our Short Term Incentive Program (“STIP”) is an annual pay-for-performance plan to focus the Executive Team on
the achievement of our annual objectives. The objectives reflect a balanced approach to managing the organization
by focusing on financial performance, member satisfaction, employee engagement and risk management.
The Long Term Incentive Program (“LTIP”) is designed to support the longer term corporate strategy, ensuring
prudent and balanced management of the organization over the longer term and to serve as an executive attraction
and retention tool. The goals of the LTIP are to:
• Ensure long-term health and growth so we can continue to serve our customers;
• Increase the depth of member relationship through innovative products and services; and
• Build our community satisfaction in alignment with our desire to make our communities stronger.
The LTIP was approved by the Board to commence in 2009 with three-year Performance Periods; the first payout was
disbursed in Q2 2012 for $0.6 million.
The Human Resources Committee is responsible for developing the plans’ objectives, monitoring performance
and recommending the plans and annual results for approval by the Board.
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Incentive payments are part of short-term and long-term employment benefits. Each year the Board establishes
a number of metrics that are important to deepening the relationships with our customers, employees and the
communities we serve, achieving the annual operating plan and enhancing the long-term performance of Coast
Capital Savings. Actual results are measured against predetermined goals for each metric and determine the
eligibility for incentive payments by key management personnel. The metrics for the 2012 short term incentive plan
and the three-year long-term incentive plan ending December 31, 2014 are outlined below:
Short Term Incentive Plan
2012

Metrics

Long Term Incentive Plan
2012 to 2014

Financial
Normalized operating income

X

Controllable expenses

X

Performance vs. peer group
(3 year operating income)

X

Revenue per customer

X

Customer
Products per customer

X

Net promoter score

X

Employees
Employee engagement

X

Risk Management
Asset quality
(commercial 90 day delinquency)

X

Asset quality
(retail 90 day delinquency)

X

Community
Community satisfaction score

X

Critical Accounting Estimates
Allowance for credit losses
We establish and maintain an allowance for credit losses that we consider our best estimate of probable creditrelated losses existing in our portfolio. The allowance for credit losses has a specific and collective component.
Specific allowance
Specific allowances reduce our loan balances to realizable amounts for loans where we have identified impairment.
We review all individual loans above a threshold that become delinquent. We determine the realizable value of
the loan by estimating future cash flows which may reference the underlying security. We apply judgment on the
realization period and on the valuation of the underlying security, although for significant loans, we obtain updated
third party valuation of the collateral.
Collective allowance
Collective allowances provide for credit losses that we believe to exist but have not yet been specifically identified. Our
methodology uses a model that incorporates a number of factors such as the size of the portfolios, the probability of
default (PD) and the loss given default specific to the portfolios, and the period of time between when a loss event is
estimated to have occurred and when the loss is specifically identified. Additionally, we consider current observable
factors that influence losses in our portfolio. Deterioration in these factors, such as changes in unemployment rates
and provincial GDP, will cause losses that may not yet have been detected in our model. We apply judgment in
evaluating the severity of changes to these observable factors.
While we quantify inputs to the model based on performance of each of the portfolios, we apply judgment when
we have gaps in data or results appear anomalous. A uniform 10 per cent increase in the PD across all portfolios
would cause the collective allowance to increase by approximately $3.3 million.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
We record all securities, derivatives and certain loans at their fair value. Fair value represents our estimate of what we
would receive or pay, in the case of a derivative liability, in a transaction between two willing parties. The best evidence
of fair value is quoted bid or ask price, as appropriate in an active market. Where bid and ask prices are unavailable,
we use the closing price of the most recent transaction of that instrument. Where quoted prices are not available for a
particular financial instrument, we use the quoted price of a financial instrument with similar characteristics and risk
profile, or use internal or external valuation models using observable market-based inputs to estimate the fair value.
Determining fair value for instruments that are actively traded and have quoted market prices (Level 1) requires
minimal subjectivity. Judgment is required for other instruments. Our valuation of derivatives uses readily
available market information that can be input to internal models (Level 2). We validate the outputs by comparing
our valuations with counterparties. Our use of internal models without observable market information (Level 3)
uses general assumptions such as internal pricing spreads over observable market inputs. All modelled valuations
consider credit risk adjustments as appropriate. We disclose these valuations in Note 28.
Changes in fair value are recorded in the income statement unless we have elected a security to be available for
sale or held to maturity or we have designated a derivative as an effective cash flow hedge.
At December 31, 2012, $653.0 million, or 5.2 per cent of our financial assets and $3.6 million of our financial liabilities
(all derivative instruments) were carried at fair value ($821.3 million, or 7.0 per cent of our financial assets and $6.0 million
of our financial liabilities at December 31, 2011). Included in the financial assets is $16.1 million ($16.6 million at
December 31, 2011) of loans where we have made a fair value option in order to match hedged and hedging items.
Asset impairment (goodwill and intangible assets)
At December 31, 2012, we had goodwill of $6.2 million, identifiable intangible assets with a definite life of $0.4 million
and software of $58.8 million. The goodwill and identifiable intangible assets were all acquired in purchases of shares
or assets of general insurance or financial planning businesses.
At least annually, we are required to test these assets for impairment. These impairment tests consist of comparing
the carrying value with the fair value of the reporting unit. We apply judgment in measuring fair value when estimating
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. As we are required to
amortize these intangible assets over their estimated useful lives, we also apply judgment in determining the useful life.
Of the software, $48.6 million pertains to our new banking system that became operational on February 12, 2013.
As with all other intangible assets, this system is subject to the same tests for impairment.
We also hold intangible assets with an indefinite life of $2.7 million. These assets are all license appointments from
the Insurance Corporation of British Columbia (“ICBC”), a requirement to sell automobile insurance in the province
of B.C. The carrying amount reflects our costs for appointments acquired in business combinations. We also hold at
nil value ICBC licenses for remaining branches appointed to us in exchange for ownership of the books of insurance
business at the formation of ICBC. As these appointments do not trade in an active model, we record them at cost.
Contingent liabilities
In the ordinary course of our business, we are party to a number of legal proceedings. In accordance with accounting
standards, we accrue amounts if, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that a future event will confirm that
a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
At times, however, it is either not possible for us to determine whether a liability has been incurred or to reasonably estimate
the amount of loss until the case is closer to resolution, in which case we will not accrue any amounts until that time. If
the reasonable estimate of loss involves a range within which a particular amount appears to be a better estimate, we will
accrue that amount. If no such better estimate within a range is indicated, the minimum amount in the range is required
to be accrued. We regularly assess the adequacy of our contingent liability accrual and make the necessary adjustments to
incorporate new information as it becomes available. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of such
matters, based on current knowledge and consultation with legal counsel, we do not expect that the outcome of any of these
matters, individually or in aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position. However,
the outcome of any such matters, individually or in aggregate, may be material to our operating results for a particular year.
Income taxes
We use judgment in the estimation of income taxes and deferred income tax assets and liabilities. We estimate our
actual current tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences that result from the different treatments
of items for tax and accounting purposes, and any tax loss carry-forwards. We are also required to establish a deferred
income tax asset in respect of expenses recorded currently for which a tax deduction will be available in a future
period, such as the collective allowance for credit losses.
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Depending on our ability to grow deposits, we have access to a credit union deduction that impacts our effective tax rate.
In valuing our deferred income tax assets and liabilities, we estimate future reversing tax rates based on our forecast growth
for deposits and income before taxes. If we estimated our future reversing rate to be 1 per cent higher, our net future income
tax assets would be $0.5 million higher. This would consequently reduce our deferred income tax expense by $0.5 million.
As at December 31, 2012, we had available deferred income tax assets of $17.9 million (2011: $19.3 million), and
deferred income tax liabilities of $7.0 million (2011: $5.1 million). We are required to assess whether it is more likely
than not that our deferred income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiration. If it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilized, we recognize the
full deferred income tax assets. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization are our past experience of
income and capital gains, forecast of future net income before taxes, available tax planning strategies that could be
implemented to realize the deferred income tax assets and the remaining expiration period of tax loss carry-forwards.
Although realization is not assured, we believe, based on all the available evidence, it is more likely than not that
the remaining deferred income tax assets will be realized prior to their expiration.
Outlook and Priorities
Loans and deposits
As mentioned under the Economic Environment section, we are anticipating a slightly weaker real estate market in
2013. As such, we expect our residential mortgage growth to be less than what it was in 2012. We continue to see
intense price competition from the Chartered Banks, which will pose challenges to both our growth and our margins.
As we continue to execute on our commercial strategy, we will continue to focus on re-balancing our loan portfolio,
increasing the percentage of commercial loans.
As such, we are budgeting for increased commercial loan growth in 2013. The commercial services team has
built up a large pipeline of projects that will fund in 2013. We expect a continuation of the very competitive pricing
environment we saw in 2012. High levels of liquidity at the banks will lead to more pressure on margins for the
different commercial financing we undertake.
We rely primarily on retail deposits for our funding. In 2013 we intend to increase our focus on sourcing these
deposits. With our successful application to become an NHA MBS Issuer we intend to increase the use of this as a
funding source as well. We securitized our first pool of mortgages as an Issuer by participating in the December CMB
pool. By focusing more on retail deposits and securitizations we hope to decrease our reliance on other forms of
funding, including borrowings and institutional deposits, which tend to be more costly and less stable.
Net income
Net interest income was again negatively impacted in 2012 by generally low interest rates and a very flat yield curve;
both compressing our margin. This will continue to be the case in 2013. While we are slightly asset sensitive and
would benefit if interest rates increased, our expectations are for no change in interest rates over 2013. By focusing
more on some alternative residential mortgage products and increasing our commercial loan exposure, we hope to
offset some of the negative impacts being felt.
We are forecasting other income to increase slightly in 2013 as a result of continuing to offer a suite of value based
products. By engaging our customers with the Where You’re at Money Chat we hope to provide our customers with
the services they need to be financially successful. Our Low-fee, More-for-me family of mutual fund products has a
value proposition that resonates well with our membership – solid results with low management fees. Additionally,
in recent years we have added a number of branches offering general insurance and continue to provide a wide
variety of products including private optional automobile coverage. We will keep on expanding member access to
our life insurance and business insurance products in 2013.
Our ongoing focus on strategic cost management has been able to improve efficiencies with increased scale and
we plan to accelerate these initiatives. In the first quarter of 2013, we converted to our new banking system, which
will act as a catalyst for finding opportunities to analyze existing processes and seek efficiencies.
Even though we expect a softer real estate market in 2013, we believe we have taken the steps necessary to face
this challenge, and be able to produce another successful year.
Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements about the operations, objectives and expected financial
performance of Coast Capital. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ
depending on a number of factors, including but not limited to legislative or regulatory changes, interest rates and
general economic conditions in British Columbia and Canada. These issues should be given careful consideration and
readers should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The consolidated financial statements and all other
information contained in the Annual Report are the
responsibility of management and have been approved
by the Board of Directors (the “Board”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by management
in accordance with the requirements of the Credit Union
Incorporation Act and International Financial Reporting
Standards, and include amounts based on informed
judgments and estimates of the expected effects of
current events and transactions. Financial information
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report is consistent
with that in the consolidated financial statements. In
meeting its responsibility for the reliability of financial
data, management relies on comprehensive internal
accounting, operating and system controls. Controls
include an organizational structure providing for effective
segregation of responsibilities, delegation of authority
and personal accountability and careful selection and

training of personnel; the application of accounting
and administrative policies and procedures necessary
to ensure adequate internal control over transactions,
assets and records; and a continued program of
extensive internal audits. These controls are designed
to provide reasonable assurance that financial records
are reliable for preparing financial statements and
maintaining accountability for assets, and that assets are
safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition. The
Board has appointed an Audit and Finance Committee,
comprised of five directors, to review with management
and auditors the annual financial statements prior to
submission to the Board for final approval. KPMG LLP
has been appointed by the membership as independent
auditors to examine and report on the consolidated
financial statements, and their report appears at right.
They have full and free access to the internal audit staff
and the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board.

Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer

Don Coulter, CA
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union
as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

To the Members of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union
We have audited the accompanying consolidated
financial statements of Coast Capital Savings Credit
Union, which comprise the consolidated balance sheets
as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the
consolidated statements of income, members’ equity,
comprehensive income, and cash flow for the years
ended December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, and
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

KPMG LLP
February 27, 2013
Vancouver, Canada
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated		

Notes		 2012

2011

Assets
Cash and cash resources				

4

$

399,374

$

375,590

Financial investments				

5		 1,286,124		 1,447,872

Loans				

6–9		10,764,060		 9,805,582

Premises and equipment				

10		

36,873		
826		

33,928

Investment property				

11		

Goodwill and intangible assets				

12		

60,976		

42,036

Deferred income tax assets				

24		

10,852		

14,238

Other assets				

13		

40,420		

48,141

 					$ 12,599,505

850

$ 11,768,237

Liabilities
Deposits				

14

$ 11,188,782

$ 10,311,365

Secured borrowings				

9		

51,720		

50,673

Borrowings				

16		

565,000		

675,000

Provisions				

17		

1,998		

2,308

Income taxes payable						
Other liabilities				

18		

2,263		

–

65,303		

73,731

						11,875,066		11,113,077
Members’ equity
Class B shares					$
Retained earnings						
Accumulated other comprehensive loss					
 						

38,892

688,091		
(2,544)		
724,439		

					$ 12,599,505
Commitments and contingent liabilities			

25

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Bill Wellburn, FCA, C.Dir			

Daniel Burns

Chair, Board of Directors                            Chair, Audit and Finance Committee
Bill Wellburn			
Karen Kesteloo
Chair, Board of Directors                            Chair, Audit and Finance Committee
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$

40,302
616,576
(1,718)
655,160

$ 11,768,237

Consolidated Statements of Income
Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated			

Notes		

2012		

2011

Interest income
Loans						

20

$

400,066

$

385,934

Cash and financial investments						

20		

25,450		

29,020

								

425,516		

414,954
172,358

Interest expense
Deposits						

20		

180,246		

Borrowings						

20		

9,299		

4,558

Derivatives						

20		

2,335		

1,771

								

191,880		

178,687

Net interest income								

233,636		

236,267

Provision for credit losses						

7		

8,047		

8,337

								

225,589		

227,930

Insurance commissions								

25,975		

24,385

Mutual and segregated fund commissions							

23,530		

23,568

Fee and commission income

Foreign exchange								

4,850		

5,030

Other fees and commissions								

17,521		

17,001

								

71,876		

69,984

21		

17,795		

5,173

								

Other income						

315,260		

303,087

Non-interest expenses
Salaries and employee benefits						

22		

127,703		

124,237

Administration						

23		

56,988		

57,553

Technology								

9,403		

9,100

Occupancy								

21,104		

20,150

Depreciation and amortization								

9,026		

8,520

Community contributions								

5,235		

4,993

								

229,459		

224,553

Income before provision for income taxes							

85,801		

78,534

Provision for income taxes						

13,355		

16,561

72,446

61,973

24		

Net income							$

$

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Members’ Equity
As at December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011

All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

2012		

2011

Class B shares
Balance at beginning of the year							

$

40,302

$

41,485

Share dividends								

870		

Share redemptions								

(2,280)		

(2,254)

1,071

Balance at end of the year								

38,892		

40,302

616,576		

555,834

Retained earnings
Balance at beginning of the year								
Net income								

72,446		

Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans							

(105)		

61,973
(284)

Share dividends								

(870)		

Cash dividends								

(90)		

(1,071)
(84)

Income tax deduction on dividends								

134		

208

Balance at end of the year								

688,091		

616,576

Accumulated other comprehensive income – available for sale securities
Balance at beginning of the year								
Other comprehensive loss								
Balance at end of the year 								

3,674		
(1,349)		

6,014
(2,340)

2,325		

3,674

(5,392)		

(3,214)

Accumulated other comprehensive income – cash flow hedges
Balance at beginning of the year								
Other comprehensive income (loss)								

523		

(2,178)

Balance at end of the year 								

(4,869)		

(5,392)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss							

(2,544)		

(1,718)

Total equity

					$

724,439

$

655,160

Class B shares are not a membership requirement. These shares are non-transferable, non-cumulative and non-voting. Retraction and redemption of
Class B shares including terms, conditions and dividends are set at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The dividend rate is a floating rate and is
currently 2.40 per cent (2011 – 2.50 per cent). These shares have a par value of $1 each. Coast Capital has authorized an unlimited number of Class B
shares and all issued shares are fully paid.
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

Net income							$
Other comprehensive income
Gains (losses) on effective portion of cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $113, 2011 – $(150))							
Reclassification to net income of gains on cash flow hedges
(net of income taxes of $(28), 2011 – $(229))							
Unrealized losses on available for sale securities
(net of income taxes of $(216), 2011 – $(495))							
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans
(net of income taxes of $(17), 2011 – $(60))							
Total other comprehensive loss								
Comprehensive income							$

2012		
72,446

$

2011
61,973

703		

(709)

(180)		

(1,469)

(1,349)		

(2,340)

(105)		
(931)		
71,515
$

(284)
(4,802)
57,171

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2012, with comparative figures for 2011
All amounts expressed in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated					

2012		

2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income before provision for income taxes						 $
85,801
$
78,534
Adjustments for:
Amortization and depreciation								
9,026		
8,520
Provision for credit losses								
8,047		
8,337
Interest income								 (422,869)		 (414,182)
Interest expense								 191,880		 178,687
Dividend income								
(2,647)		
(772)
Changes in other non-cash operating items							
(7,940)		
(1,952)
Interest income received								 427,470		 415,559
Interest expense paid								 (186,903)		 (175,993)
Dividends received								
2,182		
1,162
Net income taxes paid								
(7,694)		
(28,754)
Cash flows from operating activities								
96,353		
69,146
Cash flows used in investing activities
Net increase in loans								
(968,444)		 (1,330,939)
Net proceeds from sale of assets								
6,023		
–
Net decrease in investments								 219,221		 237,167
Net purchase of premises and equipment							
(30,887)		
(24,242)
Cash flows used in investing activities							
(774,087)		 (1,118,014)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase in deposits								 872,346		 588,782
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings							
(108,953)		
603,603
Net redemption of Class A and B shares							
(2,185)		
(2,156)
Cash flows from financing activities								
761,208		
1,190,229
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		 					
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year							
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year						 $

83,474		
242,040		
325,514
$

141,361
100,679
242,040

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2012, with comparative information for 2011
All amounts in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated

Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”) is incorporated under the British Columbia Credit Union
Incorporation Act and its subsidiaries are incorporated under the British Columbia Company Act or the Canada
Business Corporations Act.
Coast Capital is located in Canada and its registered office is in Surrey, British Columbia. The operation of Coast
Capital is regulated under the British Columbia Financial Institutions Act. Coast Capital provides financial services to
members principally in the Metro Vancouver, Fraser Valley and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia.
The consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on
February 27, 2013. The Board has the authority to amend the financial statements after issue.
1. Basis of Presentation
a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for available for
sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities accounted for at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial instruments, which are measured at fair value.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency.
c) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates and judgments include the measurement of
the allowance for credit losses, income taxes, goodwill and intangible assets. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
d) Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the financial position, operating results and cash flows of Coast
Capital, its active subsidiaries Coast Capital Insurance Services Ltd. (“CCIS”), Coast Capital Equipment Finance
Ltd. (“CCEFL”) and inactive subsidiaries. All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using consistent accounting and valuation policies for similar
transactions and events under similar circumstances.
A Special Purpose Entity (“SPE”) is created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective.
An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with Coast Capital and the
SPE’s risks and rewards, Coast Capital concludes that it controls the SPE. The following circumstances may indicate
a relationship which, in substance, Coast Capital controls and consequently consolidates an SPE:
i)
The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of Coast Capital according to its specific business needs
so that Coast Capital obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation.
ii) Coast Capital has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE.
iii) Coast Capital has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks
incident to the activities of the SPE.
iv) Coast Capital retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to
obtain benefits from its activities.
Based on the assessments performed, Coast Capital determined that it does not control any SPEs for which the
results are not already included in its consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements.
a) Cash and cash resources
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances
with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and deposits with Central 1 Credit
Union (“Central 1”), treasury bills and other eligible bills, amounts due from other banks and cheques and other
items in transit.
b) Non-derivative financial instruments
All non-derivative financial instruments, with certain exceptions, are classified as one of the following: held to
maturity (“HTM”), loans and receivables, financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
available for sale (“AFS”) or other financial liabilities. All financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial
recognition and are subsequently accounted for based on their classification. Classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. Interest income and interest expense on
all non-derivative financial instruments are recognized in Net Interest Income using the effective interest method in
the Consolidated Statements of Income. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability.
Fair values of financial instruments are based on quoted market prices by reference to closing bid prices for
financial assets held and asking price for financial liabilities held, where available from active markets; otherwise fair
values are estimated using a variety of valuation techniques and models. These techniques principally include the use
of recent arm’s length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by
market participants. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instruments and include adjustments to take account of
the credit risk of Coast Capital and / or its subsidiaries and the counterparty as relevant. Fair value estimates obtained
from models are adjusted for other factors, such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties. Fair values determined by
applying valuation techniques utilize independent observable market inputs to the maximum extent possible.
The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured
at initial recognition, minus principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any
reduction for impairment.
HTM financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and a fixed maturity,
other than loans and receivables, which an entity has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These financial
assets are accounted for at amortized cost. Coast Capital has designated certain investments as HTM, which consists
of statutory deposits and certain investments with Central 1.
Financial assets are required to be classified as FVTPL if they are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or if they are part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Financial assets may also be designated
as FVTPL when the designation eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies
that would otherwise arise from measuring financial assets, or from recognizing gains and losses on them, on
different bases. The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable. Gains and losses on assets classified as FVTPL
are recorded in Other Income in the Consolidated Statements of Income. At December 31, 2012, Coast Capital has
designated select commercial loans and an investment in a Euro denominated bond as FVTPL. The objective of
these designations is to significantly reduce a measurement inconsistency that would have otherwise occurred from
measuring associated derivative instruments that were obtained to structure an economic hedge against interest
rate risk in these financial assets.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than those that are classified or designated as FVTPL or as AFS. They are accounted for at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Coast Capital’s loans and receivables principally consist of loans
and advances to members and other amounts receivable.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS or that are not designated or
classified as FVTPL, loans and receivables or HTM. AFS instruments are carried at fair value whereby the unrealized
gains and losses are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income until sale or identification of impairment
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the Consolidated Statements of Income. Realized gains
and loss, impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized immediately in Other Income.
Interest income on monetary AFS assets is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Income when Coast Capital’s right to receive payment is established. Coast Capital’s AFS assets
consist of certain holdings of bankers’ acceptances, bonds and equity investments.
Financial liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method and include all financial
liabilities, other than liabilities designated as FVTPL. A financial liability is required to be classified as FVTPL if it
is incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial liabilities that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit taking. Coast Capital has not designated or classified any financial liabilities as FVTPL at December 31, 2012.
Financial liabilities consist of accounts payable, deposits and member shares.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts with the same counterparty and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
c) Financial investments
Investments are accounted for on a trade date basis and are classified as HTM, FVTPL or AFS.
d) Impairment of financial assets
Coast Capital assesses, at each Consolidated Balance Sheets date, whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets not carried
at FVTPL is considered impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of the occurrence of a loss
event and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced by the amount of the impairment loss and recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income. However,
if the impairment pertains to an AFS financial asset, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in
profit or loss, is reclassified from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income and recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, if, the amount of the impairment loss decreases in a subsequent
period and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed and recognized in profit or loss. For equity instruments classified
as AFS, impairment losses are not reversed through the Consolidated Statements of Income. For other AFS financial
assets, the impairment loss is reversed through the Consolidated Statements of Income.
e) Loans
Loans are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method net of the allowance for credit losses.
Interest income is recorded on the accrual basis using the effective interest rate method. Uncollected interest
continues to be accrued at the effective interest rate whenever loans are determined to be impaired but Coast Capital
will review these loans individually to assess whether a specific allowance is required. Coast Capital classifies a
loan as impaired when, in the opinion of management, there is reasonable doubt as to the ultimate collectibility,
either in whole or in part, of principal or interest. Loans where interest or principal is contractually past due 90 days
are automatically categorized as impaired, unless management determines there is no reasonable doubt as to the
ultimate collectibility of principal and interest. All loans are classified as impaired when interest or principal is past
due 180 days.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f) Loan fees
Loan origination fees, including commitment, renewal and renegotiation fees, are considered to be adjustments
to loan yield and are deferred and amortized to loan interest income over the term of the loans using the effective
interest method. Mortgage prepayment penalty fees are recognized in income unless only minor modifications
(based on a present value of future cash flows test) were made to the loan in which case, the fees are deferred and
amortized over the remaining term of the loan. Loan discharge and administration fees are recorded directly to
income when the loan transaction is complete. Loan syndication fees are included in income when the syndication
is completed and Coast Capital has retained no part of the package for itself or, if part has been retained, it bears the
same effective interest as other participants.
g) Allowance for credit losses
Coast Capital assesses, at each Consolidated Balance Sheets date, whether there is objective evidence that a loan or
group of loans is impaired. A loan or a group of loans is impaired and impairment losses are recorded only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a “loss event”) and the loss event(s) has (have) an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan or
group of loans that can be reliably estimated.
For the purposes of a specific evaluation of impairment, the amount of the impairment loss on a fixed rate loan
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statements
of Income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, for which specific allowances cannot be determined,
financial assets are categorized on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are relevant to
the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the counterparties’ ability to pay
all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. Future cash flows in a group of
financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience
for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group, taking into account resolution rates, work out
costs and discount factors.
Coast Capital adjusts its collective allowance methodology, taking into account factors such as historical loss
experience and adjusting for current observable data that did not impact the period, on which the historical loss
experience was based. Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets reflect and are directionally
consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment
rates, real estate prices, payment status or other factors indicative of changes in the probability of losses by Coast
Capital and their magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly by Coast Capital to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience. The collective
allowance is adjusted through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the adjustment in the collective
provision is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off after all the necessary procedures, such as restructuring or collection
activities, have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
h) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired
or transferred and either all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been substantially transferred; or the risks
and rewards of ownership have not been retained nor substantially transferred but control has not been retained.
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, is
cancelled or is expired.
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i) Derivative instruments and hedges
Derivative instruments are financial contracts whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign exchange rates or
other financial indices.
In the ordinary course of business, Coast Capital enters into various derivative contracts, including interest
rate forwards, swaps and options. Derivative contracts are either exchange-traded contracts or negotiated overthe-counter contracts. Coast Capital enters into such contracts principally to manage its exposures to interest rate
fluctuations as part of its asset/liability management program.
Coast Capital formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking
all derivatives to specific assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets or to specific firm commitments
or forecasted transactions. Coast Capital also formally assesses, at the hedge’s inception, retrospectively and
prospectively on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective
in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows attributed to hedged risks. Hedges are designated as either fair value
or cash flow hedges and are carried in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, either as assets or liabilities
depending on whether they have a positive or negative fair value.
In a cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is recorded
in Other Comprehensive Income. The ineffective portion is recognized in Other Income. The amounts recognized in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to net income in the same period that the hedged cash
flows affect Net Income. For cash flow hedges that are discontinued prior to the end of the original hedge term,
the unrealized gain or loss in OCI is amortized to interest income in the Consolidated Statements of Income as the
hedged item impacts earnings. If the hedged item is sold or settled, the entire unrealized gain or loss is recognized in
Interest Income in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
In a fair value hedging relationship, the change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk
is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income. This change in fair value of the hedged item, to the extent
that the hedging relationship is effective, is offset by changes in the fair value of the hedging derivative. If the
derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, no longer meets the criteria for fair value hedge accounting
or the designation is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. Any adjustment up to that point to a
hedged item for which the effective interest rate is used is amortized to the Consolidated Statements of Income as
part of the recalculated effective interest rate of the item over its remaining life.
Non-hedging derivative instruments used in trading activities are marked to market and the resulting realized and
unrealized gains or losses are recognized in Other Income in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the current
period, with a corresponding asset or liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
j) Finance and operating leases
Agreements which transfer to counterparties substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
assets, but not necessarily legal title, are classified as finance leases. When Coast Capital is a lessor under finance
leases the amounts due under the leases are included as Loans in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The finance
income receivable is recognized in Net Interest Income over the periods of the leases so as to give a constant rate of
return on the net investment in the leases.
All other leases are operating leases. When Coast Capital is the lessee, leased assets are not recognized in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Lease amounts payable under operating leases are accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the leases and are included in Non-Interest Expenses in the Consolidated Statements of
Income.
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k) Premises and equipment
Land is carried at cost. Buildings, leasehold improvements, computer and telephone equipment, furniture and
other equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Subsequent expenditures are included in the
assets’ carrying amount or are recognized as separate assets only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the items will flow to Coast Capital and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are charged to the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Asset classes are further categorized for depreciation where significant differences in the estimated useful life of
the various components of individually significant assets are identified. Depreciation is calculated using the straightline method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Computer and telephone equipment
Furniture and other equipment

40 to 50 years
Lease term
3 to 5 years
5 to 10 years

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Gains and losses on disposal are recorded separately in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
l) Investment properties
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and when the use of a property
changes such that it is reclassified as premises and equipment, its carrying value at the date of reclassification
becomes its cost for subsequent accounting.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets,
being 40 to 50 years.
Investment properties are reviewed for impairment in the same manner as premises and equipment.
m) Business combinations, goodwill and other intangible assets
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Identifiable intangible assets are recognized
separately from goodwill and included in Other Intangible Assets.
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for the acquisition of subsidiaries over the fair
value of the net assets acquired and is recognized at cost. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to a cash-generating unit, which is tested for impairment, annually and whenever there is an indication that the cashgenerating unit may be impaired. Impairment is tested by comparing the carrying amount of the cash-generating
unit, including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit exceeds the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, the cash-generating unit and
the goodwill allocated to that cash generating unit is not considered impaired. Otherwise, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to reduce the other assets of the cash-generating
unit on a pro rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
The other classes of intangibles assets include computer software, customer lists and ICBC licenses. ICBC licenses
have indefinite useful lives. Computer software and customer lists have definite lives. These are measured at cost
and are amortized using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Computer software
Customer lists

2 to 5 years
10 years

These intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. ICBC licenses are tested annually for impairment. An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount. The write down is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell or its value in use.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
n) Income taxes
Coast Capital’s income taxes are comprised of current and deferred income taxes.
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of
previous years.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
A deferred income tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred
income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
the related tax benefit will be realized.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax liabilities against current income tax assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current income tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis or their income tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.
o) Employee benefits
Coast Capital participates in a number of post-retirement benefit plans, including defined benefit and defined
contribution plans as well as a multi-employer pension plan.
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. Coast
Capital provides post-retirement benefits to its eligible employees and the obligations are comprised of the amount
of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The liability
recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in respect of its defined benefit pension plans is the present value
of the unfunded defined benefit obligations at the date of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The defined benefit
obligations are calculated annually by independent actuaries by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will
be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognized immediately in OCI and are not recycled to the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Coast Capital also provides a group RRSP to its employees, whereby all of the contributions are funded by Coast
Capital. For these defined contribution plans, Coast Capital pays a specified flat rate for employer contributions. Coast
Capital has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognized
as an employee benefit expense in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.
Coast Capital is a participating member of the British Columbia Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan (“the
Plan”), a multi-employer defined benefit plan administered by Central 1. Each member credit union is exposed to the
actuarial risks of the other employers with the result that, in Coast Capital’s opinion, there is no reasonable way to
allocate any defined benefit obligations. The Plan has informed Coast Capital that they are not able to provide defined
benefit information on a discrete employer basis as the investment records are not tracked by individual employer
and each employer is exposed to the actuarial risks of the Plan as a whole. Accordingly, Coast Capital’s participation
in the Plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan with contributions recorded on an accrual basis.
p) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, Coast Capital has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
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q) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates on the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated
to the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items
carried at amortized cost is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the
period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period and the amortized cost in foreign currency
translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Revenues and expenses are translated using
average spot exchange rates. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognized in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
3. Significant Accounting Changes
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended
December 31, 2012 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these are
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of Coast Capital, except as discussed below.
a) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) which introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to IFRS 9
relating to financial liabilities. Together, these changes represent the first phase in the IASB’s planned replacement
of IAS 39 – “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) with a less complex and improved
standard for financial instruments.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. IFRS 9 is required to be applied
retrospectively.
The main changes to the requirements of IAS 39 are summarized below:
All financial assets that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 will be classified as either amortized cost or fair value. The
available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and loans and receivables categories will no longer exist. Classification of financial assets
is based on an entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics.
Reclassifications between the two categories are prohibited unless there is a change in the entity’s business model.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if two criteria are met: i) the objective of the business model is
to hold the financial asset for the collection of the contractual cash flows; and ii) the contractual cash flows of the
instrument are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. All other financial assets would
be measured at fair value. Movements in the fair value of financial assets classified at fair value are recognized in
profit or loss, except for equity investments where an entity has taken the option to designate at fair value through
Other Comprehensive Income. If this option is taken, all subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income with no recycling of gains or losses to the income statement. Dividend income would
continue to be recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
An entity is only permitted to designate a financial asset otherwise meeting the amortized cost criteria at fair value
through profit and loss if doing so significantly reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch. This designation is
made on initial recognition and is irrevocable.
Financial assets which contain embedded derivatives are to be classified in their entirety either at fair value or
amortized cost depending on whether the contracts as a whole meet the relevant criteria under IFRS 9.
Most of IAS 39’s requirements for financial liabilities are retained, including amortized cost accounting for most
financial liabilities. The guidance on separation of embedded derivatives will continue to apply to host contracts that
are financial liabilities. However, fair value changes attributable to changes in an entity’s own credit risk for financial
liabilities designated under the fair value option other than loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts
are to be presented in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income unless the treatment would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. These amounts are not subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated
Statements of Income but may be transferred within members’ equity. The second and third phases in IASB’s project
to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost and hedge accounting. In
addition, the IASB is working with the U.S. Financial Accounting Standards Board to reduce inconsistencies between
U.S. GAAP and IFRS in accounting for financial instruments. The impact of IFRS 9 may change as a consequence of
further developments resulting from the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. As a result, it is impracticable to quantify
the impact of IFRS 9 as at the date of publication of these consolidated financial statements.
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3. Significant Accounting Changes (continued)
b) IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10 – “Consolidated Financial Statements” (“IFRS 10”) replaces the guidance in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements. IFRS 10 provides a single model to be applied in the control analysis for all investees, including
entities that currently are SPEs, in the scope of SIC-12. In addition, the consolidation procedures from IAS 27 (2008)
are carried forward substantially unmodified.
Coast Capital intends to adopt IFRS 10, including the amendments issued in June 2012, in its financial statements
for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. Coast Capital does not expect IFRS 10 to have a material impact
on the financial statements.
c) IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12 – “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (“IFRS 12”) contains the disclosure requirements for entities
that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities. Interests are widely defined as contractual and non-contractual involvement that
exposes an entity to variability of returns from the performance of the other entity. The required disclosures aim
to provide information in order to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and the risks associated with, an entity’s
interest in other entities, and the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance
and cash flows.
Coast Capital intends to adopt IFRS 12, including the amendments issued in June 2012, in its financial statements
for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. Coast Capital does not expect IFRS 12 to have a material impact
on the financial statements due to the nature of its interests in other entities.
d) IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 – “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”) was issued on May 12, 2011. IFRS 13 defines fair value, establishes
a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS
13 explains how to measure fair value when it is required by other IFRSs. It does not introduce new fair value
measurements, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurements that currently exist
in certain standards. Prior to the introduction of IFRS 13 there was no single source of guidance on fair value
measurement and inconsistencies in guidance added to the complexity of financial reporting.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. IFRS 13 is required to be
applied prospectively.
Fair value is measured as an exit price, with measurement considering characteristics of the asset or liability and
not entity-specific characteristics, as well as assuming a transaction takes place in the entity’s principal (or most
advantageous) market between market participants. Price is not adjusted for transaction costs and measurement
maximizes the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. Measurement of
non-financial assets is based on highest and best use of the asset. Measurement of net exposures for financial assets
and liabilities with offsetting risks is allowed in limited circumstances.
Where liabilities and an entity’s own equity instruments are recorded at fair value, quoted prices are used if available;
if not, then quoted prices for an identical item held as an asset are used before resorting to other valuation techniques.
Fair value hierarchy disclosures are extended to non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. There
is also a requirement to disclose the effect on profit or loss for recurring fair value measurements categorized within
Level 3, which are those measurements which are based on models using significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data, as well as information about fair value to be disclosed for items not measured at fair value
but for which fair value is disclosed.
Coast Capital intends to adopt IFRS 13 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1,
2013. Coast Capital does not expect IFRS 13 to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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e) IAS 19 – Employee Benefits
In June 2011, IASB issued a revised IAS 19 – “Employee Benefits” (”IAS19”). IAS 19 amends the existing standard by
clarifying the distinction between short- and long-term employee benefits, while aligning the accounting methods
permitted in recognizing actuarial gains and losses on pensions. Prior to the amendment, the ‘corridor’ method
of recognizing actuarial gains and losses was permitted. This method allowed optional disclosure on any actuarial
changes within plus or minus 10 per cent of the greater of i) the present value of the defined benefit obligation, or ii)
the fair value of plan assets. Under the revised standards actuarial gains and losses will be immediately recognized
in Other Comprehensive Income and will no longer be permitted to be deferred and amortized.
The revised standard will require both assets and liabilities to be discounted at the same rate providing for a net
interest income. Defined benefit costs, comprised of service costs and interest expense or income, will be recognized
in the Consolidated Statements of Income while re-measurements and plan amendments will be recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income.
In addition to the pension amendments, the standard amends the recognition requirements for termination benefit
obligation. The revised standard will require immediate recognition when the entity no longer has the ability to
withdraw the offer of the termination benefit or recognize related restructuring costs and an accrual is not applicable
until such termination has been communicated to the affected employees.
The revised standard comes into effect for annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and is to be applied
retrospectively.
Coast Capital intends to adopt IAS 19 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1,
2013. Coast Capital does not expect IAS 19 to have a material impact on the financial statements.
4. Cash and Cash Resources
2012
Cash

$

71,389

2011
$

44,452

Short-term financial investments, classified as AFS

254,125

197,588

Cash and cash equivalents

325,514

242,040

73,717

133,399

Short-term deposits with Central 1, classified as HTM
Accrued interest

143
$

399,374

151
$

375,590

In accordance with provincial legislation, credit unions are required to maintain liquid investments at a minimum of
8 per cent of their deposit and debt liabilities. Within this 8 per cent, credit unions are required to hold with Central 1,
the greater of:
• 1.5 per cent of all British Columbia credit union assets; or
• 6.0 per cent of their deposits plus borrowings.
Deposits with Central 1 earn interest at short-term market rates. The long-term portion is classified as financial
investments. These funds are not available to finance Coast Capital’s day-to-day operations and as such, are excluded
from cash and cash equivalents.
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5. Financial Investments
2012
Financial investments, designated at FVTPL

$

32,997

2011
$

32,442

Financial investments, classified as AFS

360,898

583,866

Long-term deposits with Central 1, classified as HTM

884,860

821,520

Accrued interest

7,369

10,044

$ 1,286,124

$ 1,447,872

AFS financial investments are primarily comprised of deposit notes and bankers’ acceptances with Canadian
chartered banks, corporate, provincial and municipal bonds rated AA or higher and commercial paper rated R1
low or higher. Coast Capital is also required to hold a specified number of membership shares in Central 1 as a
condition of membership. The amount of the required equity investment in Central 1 is determined based on Coast
Capital’s membership and assets. Coast Capital also has equity investments in other affiliated co-operative entities
that complement and support the credit union system. All such shares are classified as AFS. Typically, the Central 1
shares are not available for trade in an active market therefore market values are not readily available. In addition,
the variability in the range of fair value estimates based on valuation models is significant. Therefore Coast Capital’s
equity investments in Central 1 are reported at their original cost, $41,610 (2011 – $39,128) because their fair value
cannot be measured reliably. Investments in the other affiliated co-operative organizations have been measured at
fair value, estimated using valuation models.
Long-term deposits with Central 1 are a required investment as a condition of membership in Central 1 and are
required by provincial legislation.
6. Loans

December 31, 2012
Loan principal
Fair value adjustment for loans at FVTPL
Accrued interest
Total loans
Allowances for credit losses

Residential
mortgages
$ 8,013,205

$

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

278,989

$ 2,493,042

$ 10,785,236

–

–

238

238

10,831

822

9,440

21,093

8,024,036

279,811

2,502,720

10,806,567

8,137

3,926

30,444

42,507

8,015,899

275,885

2,472,276

10,764,060

Impaired loans

19,937

1,106

29,498

50,541

Less amounts where loss not expected

16,260

106

24,076

40,442

3,677

1,000

5,422

10,099

Specific allowances
Collective allowances
Total allowances for credit losses
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6. Loans (continued)

Residential
mortgages

December 31, 2011
Loan principal

$ 7,428,241

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total
$ 9,825,921

289,240

$ 2,108,440

–

–

308

308

10,320

846

11,845

23,011

7,438,561

290,086

2,120,593

9,849,240

6,188

5,167

32,303

43,658

7,432,373

284,919

2,088,290

9,805,582

Impaired loans

22,477

2,957

52,335

77,769

Less amounts where loss not expected

19,421

2,312

43,485

65,218

3,056

645

8,850

Fair value adjustment for loans at FVTPL
Accrued interest
Total loans
Allowances for credit losses

Specific allowances

$

Personal
loans

12,551

Collective allowances

31,107

Total allowances for credit losses

$

43,658

Substantially all of Coast Capital’s loans are written on properties and businesses located in the Metro Vancouver
and Vancouver Island regions of British Columbia. Of the amounts reported above, $7,709,242 (2011 – $6,980,744) is
expected to be received more than 12 months after the reporting date.
Commercial loans also include finance lease receivables for leases of certain property and equipment where Coast
Capital and CCEFL are the lessors:
2012
Gross
investment
in finance
leases
receivable
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

$

12,994

2011

Unearned
finance
income
$

Net
investment
in finance
leases
receivable

(1,942)

$

11,052

Gross
investment
in finance
leases
receivable
$

9,553

Net
investment
in finance
leases
receivable

Unearned
finance
income
$

(1,694)

$

7,859

305,024

(39,489)

265,535

229,554

(30,618)

198,936

3,927

(764)

3,163

1,416

(274)

1,142

$ 321,945

$ (42,195)

$ 279,750

$ 240,523

$ (32,586)

$ 207,937

7. Allowances for Credit Losses

Residential
mortgages

2012
Balance, beginning of year

$

Provision for credit losses
Loans written off
Recoveries of loans written off
Balance, end of year
Percentage of total loans

6,188

Personal
loans
$

$

32,303

Total
$

43,658

1,959

3,181

2,907

8,047

(1,609)

(4,437)

(4,911)

(10,957)

1,599
$

5,167

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

8,137
0.10%

15
$

3,926
1.42%

145
$

30,444

1,759
$

1.23%
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7. Allowances for Credit Losses (continued)
Residential
mortgages

2011
Balance, beginning of year

$

Provision for credit losses

$

1,800

Loans written off

(973)

Recoveries of loans written off
Balance, end of year

4,540

Personal
loans

821
$

Percentage of total loans

6,188

6,890

Commercial
mortgages
and loans
$

0.08%

$

59,911

3,559

2,978

8,337

(5,292)

(19,684)

(25,949)

10
$

48,481

Total

5,167

528
$

1.81%

32,303

1,359
$

1.55%

43,658
0.45%

The allowance for credit losses adjusts the value of loans to reflect their estimated realizable value. In assessing their
estimated realizable value, Coast Capital must rely on estimates and exercise judgment as they relate to economic
factors, historical loss experience and specific issues with respect to single borrowers. Changes in circumstances
may cause future assessments of credit risk to be materially different from current assessments, which could require
an increase or decrease in the allowance for credit losses.
8. Credit Quality
Residential
mortgages

2012

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

$ 2,265,918

$ 2,265,918

197,772

197,772

Grades
1 to 3 – satisfactory risk
4 – watch list
5 – sub-standard but not impaired
Commercial mortgages and loans not impaired
Residential mortgages and personal loans
not impaired

$ 7,993,268

Loans not impaired

$

7,993,268

Impaired

92

92

2,463,782

2,463,782

2,463,782

10,734,933

277,883

8,271,151

277,883

19,937

1,106

29,498

50,541

8,013,205

278,989

2,493,280

10,785,474

Past due up to 29 days

79,849

918

20,034

100,801

Past due 30 – 89 days

15,755

2,337

13,058

31,150

Past due 90 – 179 days

7,224

653

2,338

10,215

Past due over 180 days

16,313

321

17,901

34,535

119,141

4,229

53,331

176,701

Loans past due

Loans past due but not impaired
Past due up to 29 days

79,149

725

16,395

96,269

Past due 30 – 89 days

14,822

2,131

6,131

23,084

Past due 90 – 179 days

5,233

267

1,306

6,806

Past due over 180 days

–

–

–

–

99,204

3,123

23,832

126,159

Past due up to 29 days

700

193

3,639

4,532

Past due 30 – 89 days

933

206

6,926

8,065

1,991

386

1,032

3,409

Loans impaired

Past due 90 – 179 days
Past due over 180 days

16,313
$
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19,937

321
$

1,106

17,901
$

29,498

34,535
$

50,541
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8. Credit Quality (continued)
Residential
mortgages

2011

Personal
loans

Commercial
mortgages
and loans

Total

$ 1,871,002

$ 1,871,002

185,211

185,211

Grades
1 to 3 – satisfactory risk
4 – watch list
5 – sub-standard but not impaired
Commercial mortgages and loans not impaired
Residential mortgages and personal loans not
impaired

$ 7,405,765

Loans not impaired

$

200

200

2,056,413

2,056,413

286,283

$ 7,692,048

7,405,765

286,283

2,056,413

22,477

2,957

52,335

77,769

7,428,242

289,240

2,108,748

9,826,230

Past due up to 29 days

75,923

1,105

6,691

83,719

Past due 30 – 89 days

19,865

1,475

7,196

28,536

Impaired

9,748,461

Loans past due

Past due 90 – 179 days

9,206

407

5,198

14,811

Past due over 180 days

14,752

2,569

42,456

59,777

119,746

5,556

61,541

186,843

Past due up to 29 days

75,156

1,016

1,514

77,686

Past due 30 – 89 days

17,708

1,383

6,726

25,817

Past due 90 – 179 days

4,405

200

966

5,571

Past due over 180 days

–

–

–

–

97,269

2,599

9,206

109,074
6,033

Loans past due but not impaired

Loans impaired
Past due up to 29 days

767

89

5,177

Past due 30 – 89 days

2,157

92

470

2,719

Past due 90 – 179 days

4,801

207

4,232

9,240

Past due over 180 days

14,752
$

22,477

2,569
$

2,957

42,456
$

52,335

59,777
$

77,769

Credit grades are formally applied to commercial mortgages and loans and comply with provincial regulations.
Residential mortgages and personal loans are tested for impairment on an ongoing basis. If a residential mortgage
or personal loan is 14 days past due but determined to not be impaired, management has a formalized process which
queues loans by age for regular monitoring.
Accrued interest of $3,176 (2011 – $5,978) has been accrued on the impaired loans but a specific provision of $2,313
(2011 – $4,341) has been established to reduce the carrying value of this accrual to its estimated net realizable value.
The fair value of the collateral held by Coast Capital as security for impaired loans was $47,854 (2011 – $69,072). Coast
Capital has estimated the fair value of collateral based on an updated assessment of the respective security appraisal
undertaken at the original funding assessment and management’s knowledge of current local economic conditions.
The collateral and other credit enhancements held by Coast Capital as security for loans include: (i) insurance,
mortgages over residential lots and properties, (ii) recourse to business assets such as real estate, equipment,
inventory and accounts receivable, (iii) recourse to the commercial real estate properties being financed, and
(iv) recourse to liquid assets, guarantees and securities.
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9. Transfers of Mortgage Receivables
As part of its program of liquidity, capital and interest rate risk management, Coast Capital enters into arrangements
to fund mortgage growth by selling loans to unrelated third parties. Coast Capital reviews these securitization
arrangements in order to determine whether they should result in all or a portion of the transferred mortgages
being derecognized from the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The derecognition requirements include an assessment
of whether Coast Capital’s rights to contractual cash flows have expired or have been transferred or whether an
obligation has been undertaken by Coast Capital to pay the cash flows collected on the underlying transferred assets
over to a third party. The derecognition standards also include an assessment of whether substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred.
The amount of residential mortgages, including accrued interest, that were transferred but which were not
derecognized at December 31 was $50,042 (2011 – $48,591). Coast Capital has also recognized $51,720 (2011 – $50,673)
of secured borrowing relating to securitization transactions as Coast Capital did not transfer substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership, principally because it did not transfer prepayment, interest and credit risk of the
mortgages in the securitization. The residential mortgages are categorized as Loans and they are held as security
for this secured borrowing. The average weighted average interest rate on the secured borrowing was 3.70 per cent
(2011 – 3.90 per cent) and mature at the same rate as the underlying mortgages.
As a result of the transactions, Coast Capital receives the net differential between the monthly interest receipts of
the mortgages and the interest expense on the borrowings.
The following table summarizes quantitative information about mortgages securitized by Coast Capital as at
December 31, 2012:

Type of loan
Residential

Total principal
amount of
mortgages
$

Principal
amount of
loans over 60
days past due

49,977

–

Average
balances
$

33,579

Coast Capital has no obligation to repurchase the securitized mortgages. The mortgages and the secured borrowing
mature as follows:

Mortgages
2013

$

2017
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Secured
borrowings
$

12,066
39,654
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10. Premises and Equipment
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2011

Land
$

3,229

Buildings
$

17,144

Furniture and
equipment
$

28,994

Leasehold
improvements
$

22,887

Total
$

72,254

Additions during the year

–

655

4,364

1,346

6,365

Disposals during the year

–

83

5,146

138

5,367

Balance at December 31, 2011

3,229

17,716

28,212

24,095

73,252

Additions during the year

–

104

6,521

4,271

10,896

Disposals during the year

164

1,841

2,295

8

4,308

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2011

3,065

$

Land
$

–

15,979

Buildings
$

10,407

$

32,438

Furniture and
equipment
$

17,424

$

28,359

$

79,840

$

37,482

Leasehold
improvements
$

9,651

Total

Depreciation during the year

–

608

4,154

2,180

6,942

Disposals during the year

–

84

4,912

103

5,099

Balance at December 31, 2011

–

10,931

16,666

11,728

39,325

Depreciation during the year

–

588

4,280

2,469

7,336

Disposals during the year

–

1,585

2,104

5

3,694

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

Net book value, 2011
Net book value, 2012

–

$

3,229
$

3,065

9,934

$

6,785
$

6,045

18,842

$

11,547
$

13,596

14,192

$

12,367
$

14,167

42,967
33,928

$
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11. Investment Property
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2011

$

Additions during the year

1,448
–

Disposals during the year

8

Balance at December 31, 2011

1,440

Additions during the year

–

Disposals during the year

–

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

1,440

$

571

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2011
Depreciation during the year

22

Disposals during the year

3

Balance at December 31, 2011

590

Depreciation during the year

24

Disposals during the year

–

Balance at December 31, 2012

$

614

$

826

Net book value, 2011

850

Net book value, 2012

Investment property is comprised of a property that is not being used for the supply of services or for administrative
purposes and includes a part of a commercial property held by Coast Capital, which is currently not being used for
operational or administrative purposes. The intent is to hold the property until there is adequate capital appreciation
to merit a sale. Occupancy costs related to this property, including repairs and maintenance expenses, were $493
(2011 – $468), and $3 (2011 – $34) was recognized as rental income in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
An external, independent valuation company, having appropriate recognized professional qualifications and
recent experience in the location and category of property being valued, valued the investment property. The fair
value is based on market values, being the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date
of the valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably and willingly. As at December 31, 2012, the fair value of the
property was $1,905 (2011 – $1,925).
12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Original cost
Balance at January 1, 2011

Software
$

20,907

Intangible
assets

Goodwill
$

6,242

$

5,244

Total
$

32,393

Additions during the year

18,167

–

–

18,167

Disposals during the year

843

–

–

843

Balance at December 31, 2011

38,231

6,242

5,244

49,717

Additions during the year

20,806

–

–

20,806

Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2012
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202
$

58,835

–
$

6,242

–
$

5,244

202
$

70,321
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12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (continued)
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2011

Software
$

Depreciation during the year
Disposals during the year

5,229

Intangible
assets

Goodwill
$

–

$

1,724

Total
$

6,953

1,308

–

261

1,569

841

–

–

841

Balance at December 31, 2011

5,696

–

1,985

7,681

Depreciation during the year

1,464

–

201

1,665

1

–

–

1

Disposals during the year
Balance at December 31, 2012

$

Net book value, December 31, 2011
Net book value, December 31, 2012

7,159

$

32,535
$

51,676

–

$

6,242
$

6,242

2,186

$

3,259
$

3,058

9,345
42,036

$

60,976

Other intangible assets are comprised primarily of purchased ICBC licenses and customer lists. Amortization of
computer software and customer lists is recognized in Depreciation and Amortization in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.
At December 31, 2012, Coast Capital recognized $2,668 with respect to ICBC licences (2011 – $2,668). ICBC licenses
are not amortized because they are considered to have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the assets are expected to generate cash inflows for Coast Capital. The licenses do not have a legal
life, the expected cash flows will not cease unless the licenses are sold and there is no expectation that the Province
of British Columbia, who has issued the assets, will change the terms of the assets so that it directly impacts their
expected lives or that the Province will recall the licenses.
To test impairment relating to goodwill, the goodwill is allocated to its cash-generating unit, CCIS, which represents
the lowest level at which this asset is monitored for internal management purposes. The recoverable amount for the
cash-generating unit was determined using value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections
based on historical experience and projected long-term average growth rates. Value-in-use was determined by
discounting the future cash flows generated from the continuing use of the cash-generating unit. The calculation of
the value-in-use was based on the following key assumptions:
Assumptions

2012

2011

Discount rate

4.9%

6.02%

Growth rate

0.0%

0.0%

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent management’s assessment of future trends and are based on
both external sources and internal sources. As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, based on the results of the impairment
testing performed, it was determined that the recoverable amount was greater than the carrying amount and
therefore, no impairment loss was recognized.
13. Other Assets
2012
Accounts receivable

$

Prepaid expenses
Derivatives (note 27)
Other

9,528

2011
$

12,199

10,190

1,887

1,405

16,806
$

11,403

40,420

25,143
$
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14. Deposits
2012

2011

$ 4,110,316

$ 4,026,815

Term

5,538,357

4,785,453

Registered plans

1,471,271

1,435,319

2,256

2,161

153

165

Demand

Class A membership shares
Class P non-equity shares
Accrued interest

66,429

61,452

$ 11,188,782

$ 10,311,365

Of the amounts reported above, $2,515,268 (2011 – $2,344,917) is expected to be recovered or settled more than
12 months after the reporting date.
Class A shares are a membership requirement and are redeemable on demand upon cessation of membership
and accordingly are classified as deposits. These are voting shares with a par value of $1 each. Coast Capital has
authorized an unlimited number of Class A shares. All issued shares are fully paid.
Amounts contributed by members for Class P shares can be withdrawn on demand or redeemed at any time by
Coast Capital and accordingly are classified as deposits. These shares have a life insurance component such that
the shareholder’s estate is paid double the value of the share upon death of the shareholder. These shares do not
participate in any annual dividend. Coast Capital has authorized an unlimited number of Class P shares, each with a
par value of $1. All issued shares are fully paid.
Class A
membership
shares
Balance at January 1, 2011

$

Issued during the year

$

613

Redeemed during the year
Balance at December 31, 2011
Issued during the year
Redeemed during the year
Balance at December 31, 2012

2,064

Class P nonequity shares
–

516

23

2,161

165

160

–

65
$

188

2,256

12
$

153

15. Assets Pledged as Collateral
In the normal course of business, Coast Capital pledges assets to secure credit facilities and other financing
arrangements. Asset pledging transactions are conducted under terms that are common and customary to standard
financing activities. Standard risk management controls are applied with respect to asset pledging.
Assets which are pledged as collateral are related to proceeds from securitizations and other borrowings. Coast
Capital has pledged its assets to Central 1 through a general security agreement in relation to its borrowing line. As
at December 31, 2012, Coast Capital has also pledged $50,042 (2011 – $48,591) of residential mortgages in relation to
its borrowings secured by loans and has $250,000 of other borrowings secured by $376,000 of mortgages insured by
the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
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16. Borrowings
Maturity date

Interest rate

2012

January 4, 2013

1.7700%

January 9, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 10, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 11, 2013

1.7800%

50,000

January 11, 2013

1.7700%

50,000

January 15, 2013

1.7700%

30,000

January 18, 2013

1.7800%

30,000

January 28, 2013

1.7900%

25,000

February 5, 2013

1.7150%

100,000

February 5, 2013

1.7150%

25,000

February 19, 2013

1.7150%

75,000

February 28, 2013

1.8500%

Maturity date

$

30,000

50,000
$

565,000

$

15,000

Interest rate

2011

January 6, 2012

1.5200%

January 9, 2012

1.5600%

January 9, 2012

1.5600%

65,000

January 9, 2012

1.6650%

100,000

January 11, 2012

1.5600%

93,000

January 12, 2012

1.5600%

60,000

January 16, 2012

1.5600%

27,000

January 16, 2012

1.8500%

40,000

January 20, 2012

1.5800%

35,000

January 23, 2012

1.6100%

75,000

January 23, 2012

1.6100%

40,000

February 27, 2012

1.6950%

75,000

50,000

$

675,000

Coast Capital has the ability to borrow up to 15 per cent of its total assets from Central 1. Borrowings would be
secured by a debenture in favour of Central 1, creating a floating charge on the assets and undertakings of Coast
Capital, and an assignment of book debts.
17. Provisions
Total
Balance at December 31, 2011

$

2,308

Provisions made during the period

1,458

Provisions used during the period

(1,375)

Provisions reversed during the period
Balance at December 31, 2012

(393)
$

1,998

Provisions relate to various items arising in the normal course of operations based on management’s best estimate
of the future obligations. Coast Capital expects to incur most of the liabilities over the next three years.
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18. Other Liabilities
2012
Accounts payable and accruals

$

Derivatives (note 27)

58,974

2011
$

3,551

Deferred fee income

5,991

2,778
$

65,303

63,659
4,081

$

73,731

19. Capital Management
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, requires Coast Capital to disclose information that enables users of its
financial statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.
a) Objectives, policies and processes
Coast Capital’s objectives in managing financial capital resources include: generating value to all stakeholders but
primarily to members while ensuring the long-term viability of the credit union by holding a level of capital deemed
sufficient to protect against unanticipated losses; providing prudent depositor security; and exceeding applicable
regulatory requirements and long-term internal targets.
Coast Capital’s policy is to hold capital in a range of different forms and from diverse sources but with an emphasis
on growing retained earnings. Retained earnings represent the highest quality, the most stable, and the least
expensive form of capital.
To ensure processes are in place to meet its objectives, Coast Capital follows policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Management monitors capital levels on a regular basis. The capital plan is updated annually and provides
a forecast of capital requirements over a three-year horizon.
Coast Capital’s Finance and Treasury departments manage compliance with policies monthly, with regular
monitoring by the Asset and Liability Committee (“ALCO”). ALCO is chaired by the Vice President, Treasury, and
includes the senior executive management team. Departures from policy are reported to the Board of Director’s Risk
Review Committee (“RRC”) with a detailed action plan to resolve any deviation.
b) Regulatory capital
Total capital comprises both primary and secondary capital. Capital requirements are regulated by the Financial
Institutions Commission of British Columbia (“FICOM”) using the risk-weighted approach developed by the Bank for
International Settlements (“BIS”). FICOM established a minimum capital standard based on a ratio of capital to riskweighted assets of 8.0 per cent or $455,574 (2011 – $418,624). At least 50 per cent of a credit union’s capital base, for
the purpose of meeting the standard, must consist of primary capital, known as Tier 1.
Tier 1 capital is the permanent capital of Coast Capital, comprised primarily of retained earnings but also voting
shares, qualifying investment shares, and contributed surplus. It is offset by deferred income tax assets and various
capital deductions such as goodwill as prescribed by FICOM. Investment share redemption is subject to limitations,
reviewed at least annually, ensuring adequate capital for both regulatory and operational purposes.
Secondary capital, also known as Tier 2 capital, includes subordinated debentures, other investment shares,
and 50 per cent of a credit union’s portion of retained earnings in the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“CUDIC”), Central 1 and Stabilization Central Credit Union (“Stab Central”).
A credit union’s assets are weighted according to six categories of relative risk ranging from 0 per cent to
200 per cent. Residential mortgages, the largest portion of Coast Capital’s assets, are risk-weighted at 35 per cent,
while commercial loans, the second largest portion, are risk-weighted at 100 per cent.
As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, Coast Capital’s capital ratio was greater than the minimum requirement and
Coast Capital reported the following components of regulatory capital:
2012
Tier 1 capital

$

663,579

$

746,236

Tier 2 capital
Total capital
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2011
$

609,955

$

683,251

82,657

73,296
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20. Net Interest Income
Interest income
Loans

2012
$

Financial assets, designated at FVTPL

400,066

2011
$

385,934

1,047

725

Financial investments, classified as AFS

12,805

15,973

Deposits with Central 1, classified as HTM

11,598

12,322

$

425,516

$

414,954

$

180,246

$

172,358

Interest expense
Deposits
Borrowings

8,036

1,813

Derivatives

2,335

1,771

Secured borrowings

1,263

2,745

191,880
Net interest income

$

233,636

178,687
$

236,267

21. Other Income
2012
Credit card revenues

$

4,252

2011
$

3,568

Safety deposit box rental income

1,452

1,466

Gains (losses) on financial investments measured at FVTPL

2,838

(2,140)

Gains on sale of assets

5,604

_

Other

3,649

2,279

$

17,795

$

5,173

The gain on sale of assets pertains to the sale of a branch property location.
22. Salaries and Employee Benefits
2012
Salaries

$

Benefits

105,968

2011
$

104,398

12,647

12,578

Post-employment benefits

6,383

6,147

Termination benefits

2,612

1,037

93

77

Other
$

127,703

$
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23. Administration Expenses
2012
ATM/POS operations

$

12,919

2011
$

13,729

CUDIC assessments

6,208

5,849

Central 1 and FICOM assessments

2,975

2,838

Chequing service charges

3,858

3,904

Marketing

6,050

6,106

Bonding and other insurance

1,559

1,626

Professional services

6,454

5,783

Stationery, telephone and postage

5,463

6,073

Travel, meals and entertainment

2,285

2,467

Loan processing

1,324

1,553

993

1,192

Courier
Training and recruitment
Other
$

428

430

6,472

6,003

56,988

$

57,553

24. Provision for Income Taxes
Current income taxes

2012

Current year

2011

$

9,969

$

17,248

$

9,969

$

17,248

Deferred income taxes
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

3,364

Change in estimate of tax rate

(1,129)

22

442

3,386
Total income taxes

$

13,355

(687)
$

16,561

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the federal and provincial
statutory income tax rates of 25 per cent (2011 – 26.5 per cent) to income before income taxes. The reasons for the
differences are as follows:
2012

Combined federal and provincial statutory income
taxes

$

Amount

% of pre-tax
income

21,450

25.0%

Reduction applicable to credit unions

(7,589)

(8.8%)

Reduction applicable to capital gains

2011

$

Amount

% of pre-tax
income

20,812

26.5%

(4,085)

(5.1%)

(528)

(0.6%)

–

–

Change in estimate of tax rates

22

0.0%

442

0.6%

Change in estimate of tax reversals

35

0.0%

1,668

2.1%

Other

(35)

Effective income tax rate
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$

13,355

(0.0%)
15.6%

$

(2,276)

(2.9%)

16,561

21.2%
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24. Provision for Income Taxes (continued)
The components of the net deferred income tax asset are as follows:
2012
Allowance for credit losses

$

Deferred revenue/prepaid expense

6,697

2011
$

(1,593)

Restructuring costs

6,525
(2,104)

499

450

Employee future benefits

1,006

1,024

Capital and intangible assets

4,718

8,397

Other

(475)
$

10,852

(54)
$

14,238

25. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
a) Commitments
Lease commitments
Coast Capital occupies premises under long-term leases extending to 2027. Aggregate basic annual lease payments
are as follows:
2012
2011
Not later than 1 year

$

Later than 1 year and less than 5 years

11,849

$

31,123

Later than 5 years

26,185

6,766
$

49,738

10,893
6,343

$

43,421

During the year ended December 31, 2012 an amount of $16,320 was recognized as an expense in the Statement of
Income in respect of operating leases for minimum lease payments (2011 – $15,248) and $198 was recognized as an
expense in the Statement of Income in respect of operating leases for sublease payments (2011 – $190).
Coast Capital leases a number of premises for its administrative functions and for its branch operations. The leases
typically run for a period of 5 to 10 years and most agreements have an option to renew the leases for an additional
5 to 10 years after that date at rates which reflect prevailing market prices. Also, at two branch locations, Coast Capital
has the right of first refusal to purchase the leased premises from the lessors.
Credit instruments
Coast Capital enters into various off-balance-sheet commitments such as letters of credit and loan commitments.
These are not reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In the normal course of business, many of these
arrangements will expire or terminate without being drawn upon, and therefore the actual credit risk is expected to
be less than the amounts set forth. Details of these are as follows:
2012
2011
Lines of credit, unfunded

$ 1,879,369

$ 1,756,649

Letters of credit

$

$

26,204

32,740

Coast Capital, as part of its commercial lending services program, issues letters of credit and guarantees. These are
issued in the normal course of business. Coast Capital issues guarantees that commercial clients will perform certain
work or services on behalf of third parties. Additionally, Coast Capital may issue guarantees to facilitate commercial
trade of goods and services between clients and third parties. Coast Capital’s policy for requiring collateral security
with respect to these instruments held is generally the same as for loans. As at December 31, 2012, all but $1,907
(2011 – $2,245) of the total letters of credit and guarantees issued were secured by deposits by the borrower with
Coast Capital. Management estimates that there will be no losses under these obligations that require an allowance
for credit losses.
b) Contingencies
Coast Capital is involved in various claims arising in the normal course of business and provisions for these claims
have been included in liabilities where management has considered this to be appropriate. We do not expect the
outcome of any of these proceedings, in aggregate, to have a material effect on our consolidated financial position or
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25. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (continued)
our results of operations. Specific claims have arisen related to the actions of a former employee in our Investment
Services area. Management believes, based on available information, that the probability of a material net cash
outflow arising from this matter is low.
26. Interest Rate Sensitivity Position
Interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities or repricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and
liabilities, both on and off the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The resultant mismatch, or gap, as it is commonly called,
may produce favourable or unfavourable variances on interest margins depending on the direction of the gap, the
direction of interest rate movements and/or the volatility of those interest rates.The maturity or repricing profiles change
daily in the ordinary course of business as members select different terms of mortgages, member loans and deposits.
Fixed-rate terms

2012

Variable
rate

0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

1–3
years

3+
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

%

–

434,811

84,116

165,710

487,883

376,690

136,288

1,685,498

1.37

4,260,008

151,656

107,282

(26,610) 10,764,060

3.58

–

–

–

4,260,008

586,467

191,398

3.32%

1.99%

3.45%

Asset
Cash and
investments
Loans
Other assets
Asset yield

271,374 2,159,085 3,841,265
–

–

–

437,084 2,646,968 4,217,955
3.67%

3.48%

3.35%

779,477 2,244,633 1,867,727

519,162

149,947

149,947

–

259,625 12,599,505

–

–

–

3.24

889,164 11,188,782

1.89

Liabilities
Deposits

3,455,837 1,432,782

Borrowings
Borrowings secured
by loans
Other liabilities

565,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

565,000

2.00

–

–

–

–

51,720

–

–

51,720

2.38

22

–

–

–

–

–

69,542

69,564

0.00

779,477 2,244,633 1,919,447

519,162

4,020,859 1,432,782
Total Liability cost

958,706 11,875,066

–

0.82%

1.68%

1.98%

2.01%

2.35%

2.75%

–

–

1.49

38,892

–

–

–

–

–

–

38,892

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

688,091

688,091

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

38,892

–

–

–

–

–

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income
Balance sheet
mismatch

200,257

(846,315) (588,079) (1,807,549)

(2,544)
685,547

727,521 3,698,793 (1,384,628)

(2,544)

–

724,439

–

–

–

Derivatives
Asset

–

Liabilities

–

11,025

30,000

30,000

–

188,184

(30,000)

(30,000)

Net mismatch

70

200,257

199,209

–

–

(658,131) (618,079) (1,837,549)
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–

–

–

199,209

1.40

90,000

38,184

–

199,209

2.86

(90,000)

(38,184)

–

–

–

–

–

637,521 3,660,609 (1,384,628)
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26. Interest Rate Sensitivity Position (continued)
Fixed-rate terms

2011

Variable
rate

0–3
months

4–6
months

7–12
months

1–3
years

3+
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

%

–

511,948

256,011

541,510

370,022

28,657

115,314

1,823,462

1.50

4,128,480

184,917

189,063

343,654 1,490,879 3,484,121

(15,532)

9,805,582

3.77

–

–

–

139,193

–

4,128,480

696,865

445,074

3.27%

2.18%

2.70%

Asset
Cash and
investments
Loans
Other assets
Asset yield

–

–

–

885,164 1,860,901 3,512,778
3.05%

3.92%

3.86%

754,528 1,997,056 1,667,420

593,764

139,193

238,975 11,768,237
–

3.37

Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings
Borrowings secured
by loans
Other liabilities

3,447,434 1,046,503
675,000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

50,673

139

–

–

–

–

754,528 1,997,056 1,718,093

593,764

4,122,573 1,046,503
Total liability cost

804,660 10,311,365

1.90

–

675,000

2.00

–

–

50,673

3.90

–

75,900

76,039

0.00

0.79%

1.64%

1.82%

1.76%

2.70%

3.07%

40,302

–

–

–

–

–

880,560 11,113,077
–

1.47

Members’ equity
Class B shares
Retained earnings
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income
Balance sheet
mismatch

–

–

–

–

–

–

40,302

–

–

–

–

–

(34,395) (349,638) (309,454) (1,111,892)

–

40,302

616,576

616,576

(1,718)
614,858

142,808 2,919,014 (1,256,443)

(1,718)
655,160
–

Derivatives
Asset

–

259,641

–

–

–

–

–

259,641

1.36

Liabilities

–

–

–

–

131,025

128,616

–

259,641

2.67

–

259,641

–

–

–

–

Net mismatch

(34,395)

(89,997) (309,454) (1,111,892)

(131,025) (128,616)

11,783 2,790,398 (1,256,443)

–

In managing interest rate risk, Coast Capital relies primarily upon its contractual interest rate sensitivity position
adjusted for certain assumptions regarding customer behaviour preferences, which are based upon historical trends.
Adjustments made include assumptions relating to early repayment of loans and customer preferences for demand,
notice and redeemable deposits.
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27. Derivative Instruments
All derivative instruments, including hedging derivatives, are recorded at their fair value in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
Types of derivatives
Coast Capital enters into the following types of derivatives:
• Interest rate swaps: these are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange a series of cash flows and
are tools that Coast Capital uses to manage interest rate risk. Generally, counterparties exchange fixed and floating
rate interest payments on a notional value. These contracts are linked to and adjust the interest rate sensitivity of
a specific asset, liability, forecasted transaction or a specific pool of transactions with similar risk characteristics.
Notional amounts are not exchanged.
• Options: these are contractual agreements that convey to the buyer the right but not the obligation to either buy or
sell a specified amount of a currency, commodity, interest rate sensitive financial instrument or security at a fixed
future date or at any time within a fixed future period.
In addition, Coast Capital can classify the derivatives it uses into two broad categories according to their intended purpose:
Trading derivatives
Trading derivatives are transacted to generate trading income or include interest rate swaps that do not qualify
as hedges for accounting purposes. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recorded in Other Income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Unrealized gains on trading derivatives are recorded as Other Assets and
unrealized losses on trading derivatives are recorded as Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Hedging derivatives
A derivative will qualify as a hedge if the hedge relationship is designated and formally documented at inception,
detailing the particular risk management objective and strategy for the hedge, the specific asset, liability or cash flow
being hedged, as well as how effectiveness will be assessed.
The effectiveness of these hedging relationships is evaluated at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis,
both retrospectively and prospectively using quantitative statistical measures of correlation. Cash flows or changes
in the fair value of the derivative must be highly effective in offsetting either cash flows or changes in the fair value,
respectively, of on-balance-sheet items. Changes in the fair value of hedging derivatives, to the extent that they are
effective, are either offset in the Consolidated Statements of Income against the changes in the fair value of the risk
being hedged, or recorded in OCI, in the case of unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges. During the year, Coast
Capital recognized a gain of $105 (2011 – $(74)) on effective fair value hedges due to gains of $175 (2011 – $(234))
on hedging instruments and losses on related hedged items of $69 (2011 – $(308)). During the year, Coast Capital
recognized a gain of $147 (2011 – $(157)) for ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges, which is recognized in interest
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Income as it arises.
Cash flow hedges are a type of hedging derivative used to modify exposure to variability in cash flows for variable
rate interest bearing instruments or the forecasted issuance of fixed-rate liabilities. Coast Capital records interest
receivable or payable on the derivative as an adjustment to interest in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
For cash flow hedges that are discontinued prior to the end of the original hedge term, the unrealized gain or
loss in OCI is amortized to interest in the Consolidated Statements of Income as the hedged item impacts earnings.
If the hedged item is sold or settled, the entire unrealized gain or loss is recognized in interest in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.
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27. Derivative Instruments (continued)
Coast Capital has the following derivatives:
Notional amounts
Maturities of derivatives
0–12
months

1–3 years

Total 2012

Total 2011

Fair values
2012

Fair values
2011

36,684

$ 199,209

$ 259,641

$

$

3–5 years

Interest rate swaps
Pay fixed

$

Total interest rate swaps

71,025

$

91,500

$

(1,664)
(1,664)

(4,598)

71,025

91,500

36,684

199,209

259,641

(4,598)

U.S. currency options

1,000

–

–

1,000

3,000

–

12

Total options

1,000

–

–

1,000

3,000

–

12

36,684

$ 200,209

$ 262,641

Options

Total derivative
contracts

$

72,025

$

91,500

$

$

(1,664)

$

(4,586)

Notional amounts are the contract amounts used to calculate the cash flows to be exchanged. They are a common
measure of volume of outstanding transactions, but do not represent credit or market risk exposure. An interest rate
swap with a notional amount of $11,025 includes a cross-currency position maturing in the next 12 months.
The following tables indicate the periods in which the hedged cash flows associated with cash flow hedges are
expected to occur and affect profit or loss:

2012
Assets

Expected Cash
Flows
$

Liabilities
Net cash inflow (outflow)

2011
Assets

$

(2,687)
$

(2,687)

Expected Cash
Flows
$

Liabilities
Net cash inflow (outflow)

–

Less than 1
year

–
(4,255)

$

(1,854)
$

(1,854)

$

–
(1,968)

(833)

1–5 years
$

(1,968)
$

–

More than 5
years
$

(833)
$

Less than 1
year

(4,255)
$

–

1–5 years

–

–
$

(2,287)

–

More than 5
years
$

(2,287)
$

–

–
–

$

–

28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following table represents the fair values of Coast Capital’s financial instruments, including derivatives.
The fair value of financial investments is determined by using quoted market values when available. For financial
assets and liabilities where market quotes are not available, including loans and deposits, Coast Capital uses
valuation techniques to estimate fair value. These techniques include discounted cash flow models based on interest
rates being offered for similar types of assets and liabilities with similar terms and risks as at the balance sheet date.
These techniques incorporate Coast Capital’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when
valuing the instruments.
Fair values of other financial assets and liabilities are assumed to approximate their carrying values, principally due
to their short-term nature. Fair values of derivative financial instruments have been based on market price quotations.
No fair values have been determined for capital assets or any other asset or liability that is not a financial instrument.
The under noted fair values, presented for information only, reflect conditions that existed only at the respective
balance sheet dates and do not necessarily reflect future value or the amounts Coast Capital might receive or pay if
it were to dispose of any of its financial instruments prior to their maturity.

2012 Annual Report

73

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
2012
Book value

Fair value

2011

Difference

Book value

Fair value

Difference

Assets
Cash and short term investments

$

399,374 $

398,323

Long-term financial investments
at FVTPL

34,280

34,280

Long-term financial investments,
AFS

362,556

362,556

Financial investments, HTM

889,288

887,191

Loans

10,764,060

10,835,265

Other

26,335

26,335

$

(1,051) $

375,590 $

375,215

$

(375)

–

33,728

33,728

–

588,430

588,430

–

825,714

830,365

4,651

71,205

9,805,582

9,893,456

87,874

–

36,534

36,534

–

(2,097)

–

$ 12,475,893 $ 12,543,950

$

68,057 $ 11,665,578 $ 11,757,728

$

92,150

$ 11,188,782 $ 11,236,712

$

47,930 $ 10,311,365 $ 10,371,916

$

60,551

Liabilities
Deposits
Borrowings secured by loans
Borrowings
Other
Derivatives

51,720

51,319

(401)

50,673

52,091

565,000

564,425

(575)

675,000

674,656

64,522

64,522

71,958

71,958

–

$ 11,870,024 $ 11,916,978

$

$

$

(1,664) $

(1,664)

1,418
(344)
–

46,954 $ 11,108,996 $ 11,170,621
– $

(4,586) $

(4,586)

$

61,625

$

–

Derivatives are comprised of instruments in an asset position, with a carrying value as at December 31, 2012 of
$1,887 (2011 – $1,405) and instruments in a liability position, with a carrying value as at December 31, 2012 of $3,551
(2011 – $5,991). The change in the fair value of the derivatives is comprised of changes in market conditions and
changes in counterparty credit risk. Coast Capital measures credit risk at each reporting date by incorporating a
quantitative measure of credit risk, which is based on each counterparties’ credit rating as determined by credit rating
agencies, into its valuations of financial instruments.
Coast Capital follows a fair value hierarchy to categorize the inputs used to measure fair value. The fair value
hierarchy is based on quoted prices in active markets (Level 1), models based on observable inputs (Level 2), or
models using significant inputs that are not based on observable market data (Level 3).
2012

Derivative instruments
FVTPL
securities

AFS securities
Level 1 – Valued using
quoted market prices

$

Level 2 – Valued using internal
models (with observable inputs)
Level 3 – Valued using internal
models (without observable
inputs)
Total

74

$
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308,975

$

34,279

Loans at
FVTPL
$

–

Asset
$

–

Liability
$

–

259,239

–

–

1,887

3,551

–

–

16,074

–

–

568,214

$

34,279

$

16,074

$

1,887

$

3,551

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
28. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)
2011

Derivative instruments
FVTPL
securities

AFS securities
Level 1 – Valued using quoted
market prices

$

Level 2 – Valued using internal
models (with observable inputs)

$

197,715

Level 3 – Valued using internal
models (without observable
inputs)
Total

547,837

745,552

$

–

–
$

33,728

Loans at
FVTPL

33,728

$

–

–
$

–

Asset

16,617

1,405

–
$

2012
$

16,617

–
5,991

–
$

Valued using internal models (without observable inputs)
Balance, beginning of year

$

1,405

16,617
$

–

Liability

5,991
2011

$

–

Purchases

–

Redemptions

–

–

Issues

–

16,375

Settlements

(1,054)

Interest / dividends

580

Fair value adjustments

(69)

Balance, ending of year

–

$

16,074

(263)
197
308
$

16,617

Of the financial instruments that are valued using models with inputs that are not based on observable market data,
all of it relates to a commercial loan which has been designated at FVTPL. Holding other assumptions constant,
changing the discount rate used in the model to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would change the fair
value of the commercial loan as follows:

Change in fair value

1% increase

1% decrease

$

$

(458)
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2012

FVTPL

AFS

HTM

Hedging

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

Financial assets
Cash

– $

– $

– $

– $

Short-term investments

$

–

254,125

–

–

–

–

–

254,125

Short-term deposits with
Central 1

–

–

73,717

–

–

–

–

73,717

Long-term deposits with
Central 1

–

–

851,859

–

33,001

–

–

884,860

32,997

360,898

–

–

–

–

–

393,895

1,282

1,797

4,432

–

–

–

–

7,511
10,764,060

Other investments
Accrued interest
Loans

– $

– $

71,389 $

71,389

–

–

–

– 10,764,060

–

–

1,887

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,887

Premises and equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

36,873

36,873

Investment property

–

–

–

–

–

–

826

826

Derivatives

Deferred income
tax assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,852

10,852

Other assets

–

–

–

–

24,317

–

75,193

99,510

$ 36,166 $ 616,820 $ 930,008 $

– $10,892,767 $

$

– $

– $ 123,744 $ 12,599,505

Financial liabilities
and equity
Deposits

– $

– $

– $

– $ 11,188,782 $

– $ 11,188,782

Borrowings secured
by loans

–

–

–

–

–

51,720

–

51,720

Borrowings

–

–

–

–

–

565,000

–

565,000

Derivatives

2,529

–

–

1,022

–

–

–

3,551

–

–

–

–

–

1,998

–

1,998

Provisions
Income taxes payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,263

2,263

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

61,752

–

61,752

Equity

–

–

–

–

–

–

724,439

724,439

– $

– $

$

76
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1,022 $

– $ 11,869,252 $ 726,702 $ 12,599,505
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29. Classification of Financial Instruments (continued)

2011

FVTPL

AFS

HTM

Hedging

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities

Nonfinancial
instruments

Total

Financial assets
Cash

– $

– $

– $

– $

Short-term investments

$

–

197,588

–

–

–

–

–

197,588

Short-term deposits with
Central 1

–

–

133,399

–

–

–

–

133,399

Long-term deposits with
Central 1
Other investments
Accrued interest
Loans
Derivatives

– $

– $

44,452 $

44,452

–

–

811,365

–

10,155

–

–

821,520

32,442

583,866

–

–

–

–

–

616,308

1,286

4,690

4,219

–

–

–

–

10,195

–

–

–

– 9,805,582

–

–

9,805,582

1,405

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,405

Premises and equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

33,928

33,928

Investment property

–

–

–

–

–

–

850

850

Deferred income
tax assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

14,238

14,238

–

–

–

–

35,024

–

53,748

88,772

Other assets

$ 35,133 $ 786,144 $ 948,983 $

– $9,895,213 $

$

– $ 102,764 $ 11,768,237

Financial liabilities
and equity
Deposits

– $

– $

– $

– $

– $ 10,311,365 $

– $ 10,311,365

Borrowings secured
by loans

–

–

–

–

–

50,673

–

50,673

Borrowings

–

–

–

–

–

675,000

–

675,000

Derivatives

4,005

–

–

1,986

–

–

–

5,991

Provisions

–

–

–

–

–

2,308

–

2,308

Income taxes payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

63,659

4,081

67,740

Equity

–

–

–

–

–

–

655,160

655,160

– $

– $

$

4,005 $

1,986 $

– $ 11,103,005 $ 659,241 $ 11,768,237
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30. Related-party Transactions
Related parties of Coast Capital include subsidiaries, key management personnel and close family members of key
management personnel.
A number of transactions were entered into with key management personnel in the normal course of business:
Outstanding loans from:
Key management personnel

2012
$

Other employees

1,840

2011
$

274,802
$

276,642

2,647
266,029

$

268,676

Loans are advanced to employees at interest rates that range from market rates to preferred rates but directors are
not eligible for this employee benefit. No individual allowances for credit losses have been recognized with respect
to these loans (2011 – nil). Employee loans are recorded at their fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets with
the difference between market values and carrying values being recognized as Salaries and Employee Benefits in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
Outstanding deposits to:
Key management personnel

2012
$

Other employees

765

2011
$

96,187
$

96,952

982
93,177

$

94,159

The deposits possess the same terms and conditions as those extended to unrelated parties.
During the year, the following compensation was charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the Consolidated
Statements of Income for key management personnel who are managers of Coast Capital and who have the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Coast Capital, directly or indirectly.
These key management personnel are comprised of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Operating Officer, Chief Commercial Officer, Chief Marketing & Public Relations Officer, Chief Human Resources
Officer, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary, Chief Risk Officer, and Chief Information Officer.
2012
Short-term employee benefits

$

Post-employment benefits

3,759

2011
$

243

Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
$

4,468
267

955

795

4,957

5,530

53

604

5,010

$

6,134

Employee benefits include amounts earned in that year. Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits which
are payable within twelve months after December 31 of each year. This includes gross wages, incentive payments, all
taxable/company-paid benefits, and perquisite allowances. Post-employment benefits are employee benefits which
are payable after the completion of employment and this includes compensation made to retirement and pension
plans. Other long-term employee benefits are employee benefits which are payable more than twelve months after
December 31 of each year. This includes compensation under the long-term incentive plan. Termination benefits
are employee benefits payable as a result of an employee’s employment being terminated and include severance
payments and accruals for pending severance offers.
During the year, members of the Board of Directors, who are also considered key management personnel under IFRS,
received remuneration of $720 (2011 – $751). Directors do not receive or pay preferred rates on products and services
offered by the credit union and are only compensated with short term Directors’ fees and related statutory benefits.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
31. Pension Plan
Coast Capital is a participating member of the B.C. Credit Union Employees’ Pension Plan (“Plan”), a multi-employer
contributory defined benefit plan which is administered by Central 1.
Under IFRS, an employer is required to account for its participation in a multi-employer plan in respect of its
proportionate share of assets, liabilities and costs in the same fashion as for any other defined benefit plan except in
the circumstances where the information is not available to the employer, as follows:
• There is insufficient information available to enable the employer to use defined benefit accounting.
• The Plan exposes the participating employers to actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees
of other entities with the result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan
assets and costs to individual entities participating in the Plan.
The Plan has informed Coast Capital that insufficient information is available to enable defined benefit accounting for
the Plan. In particular, the investments made from contributions are not tracked on an individual employer basis to
enable an apportionment of Plan assets to the respective member employers. Furthermore, the Plan exposes each of
the employers to common actuarial risks of all of the members with the consequence that, in management’s opinion,
there is no reasonable and consistent basis of allocation of the actuarial assets (liabilities).
An actuarial valuation of the overall Plan was carried out as at December 31, 2009 and it was determined that the
overall Plan was 87 per cent funded on a going concern basis. The next actuarial review is scheduled for the period
ending December 31, 2012 and should be available in September 2013. Pension expense of $2,735 (2011 – $2,462)
in respect of contributions paid into the Plan in 2012 has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
In addition to the Plan, Coast Capital also provides a group RRSP to its employees, whereby all of the contributions
are funded by Coast Capital. Pension expense of $3,369 (2011 – $3,371) in respect of contributions paid into this plan
in 2011 has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Coast Capital also provides other post-retirement benefits to its eligible employees. The obligations are comprised
of the amount of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods and the benefits are discounted to determine its present value. The health care plans (“Health Care Plans”)
obtain an actuarial valuation once every three years. The latest actuarial valuation was performed as at December 31,
2010 and the next valuation will be completed as at December 31, 2013.
2012
Benefit obligation – beginning of year

$

Current service costs

2011
$

74

Interest costs
Benefit payments
Actuarial (gain) loss
Benefit obligation – end of year

5,145

83

204

237

(417)

(454)

122
$

4,933

5,128

346
$

5,145

Pension expense of $278 (2011 – $320) has been charged to Salaries and Employee Benefits in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in OCI in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
31. Pension Plan (continued)
2012
Cumulative actuarial gains at January 1

$

Actuarial losses in the year

(752)

2011
$

(122)

Cumulative actuarial gains (losses) at December 31

$

(874)

(406)
(346)

$

(752)

Assumptions

2012

2011

Discount rate

3.6%

4.1%

Rate of compensation increase

5.0%

5.0%

Inflation for 10 years

2.3%

2.3%

Provincial medical services plan trend rate for 10 years

4.0%

4.0%

Dental benefits trend rate for 10 years

5.0%

5.0%

Extended health benefits trend rate for 10 years

8.2%

8.6%

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Health Care Plans.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects for 2012:
Increase
2012
Change in current service and interest cost
Change in benefit obligation
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$

10
231

Decrease

2011
$

10
239

2012
$

(8)
(197)

2011
$

(9)
(204)

Corporate Governance
The elected directors serving on the Board of Directors (the “Board”) must bring the skills, experience and
competencies required to enable the Board to effectively guide and oversee one of Canada’s largest co-operative
financial institutions. Both the Board and senior management of Coast Capital Savings Credit Union (“Coast Capital”)
are committed to excellence in sound business practices and the achievement of responsible economic, social and
environmental objectives. The Board is responsible for managing Coast Capital’s business and affairs. It has the
statutory authority and obligation to protect and enhance the assets of the credit union. The Board reviews and
approves Coast Capital’s strategic direction and risk appetite, sets and monitors corporate policies, and is responsible
for overseeing management and ensuring that Coast Capital complies with regulatory and statutory requirements.
Governance of Coast Capital
Coast Capital uses the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Building High Performance Boards published by the
Canadian Coalition for Good Governance as a baseline of best practices as they would apply to a non-public company
and member-controlled financial co-operative.
A high performance board is accountable and independent
Guideline 1

Facilitate shareholder (member) democracy

Guideline 2

Ensure at least two thirds of directors are independent of management

Guideline 3

Separate roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer

✔
✔
✔

A high performance board has experienced, knowledgeable and effective directors and committees,
and the highest level of integrity
Guideline 4

Ensure that directors are competent and knowledgeable

Guideline 5

Ensure the goal of every director is to make integrity the hallmark of the company

Guideline 6

Establish mandates for board committees and ensure committee independence

Guideline 7

Establish reasonable compensation and (equity) share ownership guidelines
for directors

Guideline 8

Evaluate board, committee and individual director performance

✔
✔
✔
✔
✔

A high performance board has clear roles and responsibilities
Guideline 9

Oversee strategic planning, risk management and the hiring and evaluation
of management

Guideline 10

Assess the Chief Executive Officer and plan for succession

Guideline 11

Develop and oversee executive compensation plans

✔
✔
✔

A high performance board engages with shareholders (members)
Guideline 12

Report governance policies and initiatives to shareholders (members)

Guideline 13

Engage with shareholders (members) within and outside the annual meeting

Board of Directors
The Board is accountable to the members of Coast Capital.
Each year, three or four directors are elected by the
membership to the Board for three-year terms. All directors,
including the Chair, are currently independent. The
definition of a “non-independent director” is any person
who derives more than 5 per cent of their commercial
business income from their relationship with Coast Capital.
Eleven board meetings (including two two-day meetings)
were held in 2012. A portion of each regularly scheduled
board meeting is set aside for a directors-only session with

✔
✔

and without the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The Chair,
as the presiding board member, ensures the relationships
between the Board, the CEO and the senior executive team
and the membership are effective, efficient and further the
best interests of Coast Capital.
The Board undertakes a regular process of identifying
and reviewing the overall skills and experience required
among directors to strengthen the Board and to meet the
needs of Coast Capital’s governance, both in the present
and into the future.
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Corporate Governance
Ethical Business Conduct
The Board embraces and promotes a culture of
ethical behaviour at Coast Capital and is accountable
for ensuring Coast Capital meets public, regulatory,
customer and member expectations in complying with
existing laws.
The Board has a Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy (the
“Board Code”) that establishes the standards that govern
the manner in which directors conduct themselves and
in particular how they consider the interests of members,
employees and other stakeholders. Annually, each director
is required to formally adopt and agree to the Board Code.
Coast Capital also has a Code of Conduct and Business
Ethics Corporate Policy (“The Code”) that applies to the
Board, officers and employees.The Code states the values
upheld by Coast Capital and the standards of behaviour
expected. Every director, officer and employee at Coast
Capital is required to acknowledge and sign The Code
each year. The Board’s Human Resources Committee
is responsible for reviewing The Code at least annually,
reviewing any incidents of non-compliance and the
resulting consequences, and reporting to the Board.
Position Descriptions
Annually, the Board reviews the position descriptions
for directors, the Board Chair, Committee Chairs and the
CEO. A director’s job is to work with the Board in providing
strategic advice and business oversight of Coast Capital’s
operations. This includes critiquing and giving approval
to Coast Capital’s strategic plan and annual operating
plan. Directors are required to act honestly, in good faith
and in Coast Capital’s best interests. In doing so, they
must take into account the interests of the members,
depositors, employees and other stakeholders.
Nomination of Directors
Each year three or four vacancies occur on Coast Capital’s
10-member Board for three-year directors’ terms.
Immediately after the Annual General Meeting (the
“AGM”), the Board appoints a Nominations Committee (the
“Committee”) that is tasked with recommending qualified
candidates in the following year for election to the Board.
The Committee reports directly to the membership, not to
the Board. The composition of the Committee is restricted
to directors who will not be standing for reelection in the
ensuing year. The Committee retains the services of an
expert governance consultant to assist in seeking out and
screening for highly qualified nominees.
In keeping with its charter and adhering to corporate
governance best practices, the Committee carries out
a due diligence review of all nominees, including a
structured full-committee interview of new nominees,
whose stated skills and experience most closely match
the current year’s Ideal Director Candidate Description.
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Following the interviews and at the completion of all the
due diligence reviews, the committee determines those
candidates it will recommend for election to the Board.
The Committee is responsible for:
• Approving an updated Ideal Director Candidate
Description for the current year based on a gap
analysis of the required skills and experience
required within the Board to guide and oversee the
implementation of Coast Capital’s strategic plan;
• Sourcing candidates for election to the Board who
possess the skills and experience set out in the Ideal
Director Candidate Description;
• Recommending qualified candidates for election to
the Board equal to the number of upcoming vacancies;
• Providing information to all Coast Capital members
in a standard format for all candidates seeking
election to the Board;
• Recommending to the Board the appointment of
an independent returning officer to supervise the
election; and
• Receiving certified election results from the returning
officer.
The results of each year’s Directors election are
announced at the AGM by the Chair of the Nominations
Committee.
Total Board and Committee Remuneration Paid for 2012
A Remuneration Philosophy for directors of Coast
Capital and the authority for the Board to set director
remuneration in accordance with the philosophy are
approved by the membership. The current remuneration
amounts paid to directors were recommended by an
external compensation consultant in 2010, approved by the
Board and are in accordance with the member-approved
Remuneration Philosophy. Remuneration is reviewed at
three-year intervals by the Governance Committee. Total
remuneration paid to directors in 2012 was $720,529
(2011 – $750,517), including matching Canada Pension
Plan contributions as required by law. Directors do not
receive any product or service preferences that are not
available to the general membership.
The Board of Directors meets a minimum of eight
times a year for regular board meetings and two two-day
strategy sessions. In 2012 the Board met 11 times. The
Board is currently supported by five standing committees
and two special purpose ad hoc committees (see page 84
for committee descriptions). Committees are populated
by a minimum of three directors and meet throughout
the year and as required to fulfill their responsibilities.
The following table summarizes the attendance of
directors at Board and committee meetings. The table
also provides the total remuneration paid for the year to
each director for attendance at all Board and committee
meetings and at other designated meetings and events
deemed eligible for payment:

Corporate Governance
Board
Meetings
Attended

Percentage
of Board
Meetings
Attended

Doug
Brownridge

11 of 11

100%

Daniel
Burns

9 of 11

82%

Director

Percentage
of Committee
Meetings
Attended

Percentage
of all
Meetings
Attended

Total
Remuneration
Paid for Year

3 of 4 Governance
2 of 2 Human Resources
4 of 4 Risk Review
11 of 11 Banking System
Conversion Board Oversight

75%
100%
100%
100%

97%

$57,120

5 of 6 Audit & Finance
(Chair from April 25)
6 of 7 Governance (Chair to April 24)
6 of 8 Mergers and Acquisitions
(M&A) Advisory Committee

83%

81%

$62,628

Committee Meetings Attended

86%
75%

Robin
Chakrabarti

10 of 11

91%

3 of 3 Audit & Finance
6 of 7 Governance
4 of 4 Human Resources
4 of 8 M&A Advisory Committee
1 of 1 Risk Review

100%
86%
100%
50%
100%

82%

$58,140

Bill
Cooke

10 of 11

91%

100%
3 of 3 Audit & Finance
100%
4 of 4 Risk Review (Chair)
100%
11 of 11 Banking System
Conversion Board Oversight (Chair)

96%

$75,277

Christian
Findlay

11 of 11

100%

3 of 3 Governance
6 of 6 Human Resources
7 of 7 Nominations
(Chair from April 25)
1 of 1 Risk Review
10 of 11 Banking System
Conversion Board Oversight

100%
100%
100%

97%

$74,392

100%

6 of 6 Audit & Finance
6 of 6 Human Resources (Chair)
9 of 9 Nominations

100%
100%
100%

100%

$72,828

1 of 1
Karen
Kesteloo (pre
2012 AGM)

100%

3 of 3 Audit & Finance
(Chair to April 24)
1 of 1 Risk Review

100%

100%

$19,176

Susan
Senecal

100%

6 of 6 Audit & Finance
6 of 7 Nominations
1 of 1 Risk Review

100%
86%
100%

96%

$52,020

8 of 10
Chris
Trumpy (post
2012 AGM)

80%

1 of 3 Audit & Finance
1 of 3 Risk Review

33%
33%

63%

$27,200

11 of 11
Bill
Wellburn
(Board Chair)

100%

6 of 6 Audit & Finance
6 of 7 Governance
6 of 6 Human Resources
2 of 2 Nominations
8 of 8 M&A Advisory Committee
4 of 4 Risk Review
10 of 11 Banking System
Conversion Board Oversight

100%
86%
100%
100%
100%
100%
91%

96%

$157,080

Glenn
Wong

100%

7 of 7 Governance
(Chair from April 25)
7 of 8 M&A Advisory Committee
2 of 2 Nominations (Chair to April 24)
3 of 3 Risk Review

100%

97%

$64,668

Mary
Jordan

11 of 11

11 of 11

11 of 11

100%
91%

100%

88%
100%
100%

Additional detailed information about director remuneration is available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
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Corporate Governance
Board Committees and Meetings
The Board delegates specific governance responsibilities
to five standing committees: Audit and Finance,
Governance, Human Resources, Nominations and
Risk Review. Each committee is comprised of at least
three directors. The Board Chair serves ex officio on
those committees to which he/she has not otherwise
been elected or appointed. Committees draw upon
management resources as appropriate and are authorized
by the Board to engage outside advisors as required.
The Board determines the authority and responsibilities
of each committee and approves the charter and
membership annually. Committees meet in-camera as a
matter of routine, make recommendations to the Board
and, with the exception of the Nominations Committee,
report regularly to the Board.The Nominations Committee
is accountable to and reports directly to the membership.
Audit and Finance Committee: oversees the quality,
integrity, accuracy and clarity of Coast Capital’s financial
reporting and the effectiveness of systems of internal
control. The committee is the liaison between internal
audit, the external auditors and the Board.The committee
is also responsible for monitoring the performance of
the members’ external auditors and reviewing legal and
regulatory matters as they relate to financial reporting
and controls.
Governance Committee: ensures the Board’s governance
practices are consistent with best practices and the
needs of Coast Capital. The committee recommends to
the Board an annual evaluation process for individual
directors, the Board as a whole, committees and the
Board and committee chairs. The committee oversees
the relationship of Coast Capital Savings and the Board
with members and the community.
Human Resources Committee: ensures human resources
policies are in place, implemented and maintained. The
committee reviews and recommends policy and strategy
with respect to employee salaries, benefits and incentive
compensation and succession planning. It engages
an outside advisor to assist in the determination and
approval of executive compensation and directs the
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annual evaluation process for CEO performance. The
committee is responsible for overseeing the conduct of
Coast Capital’s directors, officers and employees.
Nominations Committee: under the Coast Capital Rules,
operates independently of the Board to ensure there are
qualified candidates recommended for election to fill
all upcoming vacancies on the Board. The committee
ensures the integrity of the election process for directors
to the Board and reports the results of the election to the
members at the AGM.
Risk Review Committee: identifies and monitors the key
risks at Coast Capital and evaluates the management
of risks. The committee approves risk management
policies, ensures policies and related internal controls
are in place and critically assesses Coast Capital’s
business strategies and plans from a risk perspective.
The committee reviews and monitors adherence to and
the effectiveness of policies and internal controls, and
ensures Coast Capital is in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. It provides a forum for macro
analysis of future risks which includes considering
emerging risks, significant events and trends.
In addition to the standing committees, the Board has
established two ad hoc Special Purpose Committees:
Mergers & Acquisitions Advisory (M&A) Committee
(formerly Case for Progress Advisory Committee): acts as
a resource to management in exploring the opportunities,
challenges and risks as Coast Capital considers the benefits
and impact to members, employees and other stakeholders
of growing in British Columbia and beyond.
Banking System Conversion Board Oversight Committee:
a sub-committee of the Risk Review Committee
responsible for the oversight of the integration and
successful installation of the new banking system,
implemented February 2013.
These committees will dissolve upon completion of
their purpose.
Information regarding Board and committee meeting
attendance is available at:
www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.

Corporate Governance
Performance Reviews
The Board undertakes annual evaluations to review the
effectiveness of the Board’s governance. This review
process is based on the duties and responsibilities of
the Board, individual directors and the Board Chair as
described in their respective charters. Annually, the
Governance Committee recommends to the Board a
process for the evaluation.The evaluation is administered
by an external governance consultant and involves the
elements listed below.
• Structured individual interviews are conducted by
the consultant with members of senior management
to obtain input on the performance of the Board, the
Board’s committees and the Board Chair.
• Structured interviews are conducted by the consultant
of each director to discuss self-performance as a
Coast Capital director and obtain input on peer
performance, the performance of the Board, the
Board’s committees and the Board Chair. Each
director is provided with the consultant’s findings in
respect of his or her performance.

• An in-depth governance review and debriefing session
on Board performance is held with the consultant and
all directors. Board goals for the next 12 months are
determined and the responsibility for achieving each
goal is assigned.
• The Board Chair meets privately with each director
to discuss their peer evaluation results with a view to
determining how the director could contribute more
effectively to the Board.
The Board undertakes an annual performance evaluation
of the CEO. Each director completes a comprehensive
evaluation of the effectiveness of the CEO’s performance
against the CEO’s agreed goals for the year and the
competencies and expectations of the CEO’s position
description. Following Board discussion and analysis
of the directors’ findings, the Board Chair prepares
a memorandum setting out the Board’s position on
CEO performance. The Board and Human Resources
Committee Chairs meet privately with the CEO to
formally present and review the evaluation results.

More information regarding governance is available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
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Glossary
Actuarial gains (or losses) on defined benefit plans:
gains (or losses) resulting from differences between the
assumptions used to value defined benefit pension plans
and what actually occurred and the effects of changes in
the assumptions.
Allowance for credit losses: equals the difference between
outstanding loan balances and their estimated net realizable value, and consists of a specific allowance and a
collective allowance. The allowances are increased by the
provision for credit losses and decreased by write-offs,
net of recoveries. The allowance for credit losses is maintained at a level that management considers adequate to
absorb all credit-related losses in its loan portfolio.
Amortized cost: amount at which a financial instrument
is measured at initial recognition, minus principal payments, plus or minus cumulative amortization of any
difference between the initial amount recognized and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.
Assets under administration: total assets plus financial
assets that are managed by a third party on behalf of
members and clients. The credit union provides administrative services such as placing trades on behalf of
members and clients.
Available for sale (“AFS”) financial instruments: designated non-derivative financial instruments that are not
designated or classified as financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or
held to maturity financial instruments.
Carrying value: amount at which an asset or liability is
recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Cash flow hedges: derivatives used to hedge exposure
to variability in cash flows that are attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or
liability that could affect profit or loss.
•

Effective portion of cash flow hedges:
degree to which a cash flow hedge is effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash
flows attributable to the hedged risk.

Central 1 Credit Union (“Central 1”): the financial facility and trade association for the B.C. and Ontario credit
union systems. Owned and funded by the credit unions,
Central 1 represents member-owned retail financial institutions that serve 2.9 million members and collectively
hold $70 billion in assets.
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Credit risk: risk that one party to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to
discharge an obligation.
Deferred tax assets: amounts of income taxes payable
or recoverable in future periods as a result of temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset
or liability in the financial statements and its carrying
amount for tax purposes.
Derivative financial instruments: financial contracts
whose value is derived from interest rates, foreign
exchange rates or other financial indices.
Effective interest rate: rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of a financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial instrument.
Fair value: amount at which an asset could be exchanged,
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing
parties in an arm’s-length transaction. Adjusting to fair
value is referred to as “mark-to-market”.
Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”): non-derivative financial instruments that
are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term or for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking. Financial instruments
may also be designated as FVTPL when the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies that would otherwise arise from
measuring financial assets, or from recognizing gains
and losses on them, on different bases.
Financial Institutions Commission of British Columbia
(“FICOM”): regulatory agency of the provincial Ministry
of Finance responsible for regulating B.C. credit unions
under the Financial Institutions Act and the Credit Union
Incorporation Act.
Forward contracts: contracts that oblige one party to the
contract to buy and the other party to sell an asset for a
fixed priced at a future date.
Hedging: risk management strategy used to manage
exposures to interest rate fluctuations, foreign currency
risk and other market factors as part of its asset/liability
management program.
Held to maturity (“HTM”) financial instruments: designated non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or
determinable payments and a fixed maturity, other than
loans and receivables, which an entity has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.

Glossary
Impairment: where the present value of estimated future
cash flows of a financial instrument is less than its carrying
amount as a result of the occurrence of a loss event.
Net interest income: difference between revenues
generated by interest-bearing assets, primarily loans,
and the cost of servicing interest-bearing liabilities,
primarily deposits.

Return on average equity: indicator used to assess the
profitability of the organization by evaluating how much
profit it generates with the funds retained in the organization by members. The ratio is calculated by taking net
income and dividing by average total equity.

Net interest margin: net interest income expressed as a
percentage of average total assets.

Risk-weighted assets: total assets adjusted by applying
regulatory pre-determined risk-weight factors ranging
from zero per cent to 200 per cent to on and off-balance
sheet exposures. The risk-weight factors are regulated
by FICOM.

Non-interest expenses: operating expenses incurred by
a financial institution that are not related to deposit costs
or financing expenses.

Securitization: arrangement where loans are sold to
unrelated third parties to raise liquidity or fund additional mortgage growth.

Notional amount: amount on which payments for derivative financial instruments are based.

Swaps: contracts that involve the exchange of fixed
and/or floating interest rate payment obligations and/
or currencies for a specified period of time.

Operating efficiency: ratio that shows the organization’s
efficiency by comparing non-interest expenses to revenues, which for a financial institution is comprised of net
interest income and fee, commission and other income.
Options: contracts in which one party grants the other
party the future right to buy or to sell an exchange rate,
interest rate, financial instrument or commodity at a predetermined price at or by a specified future date.
Other comprehensive income (“OCI”): fair value adjustments of financial instruments that in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards are not recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income but
affect Members’ Equity directly.
Provision for credit losses: amount added to or subtracted
from the allowance for credit losses in a reporting period
to bring it to a level that management considers adequate
to absorb all credit-related losses in its loan portfolio.
Provisions: liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that
are unrelated to credit issues.

Tier 1 capital: permanent capital comprised primarily
of retained earnings but also voting shares, qualifying
investment shares, and contributed surplus. It is offset
by deferred income tax assets and various capital deductions such as goodwill as prescribed by FICOM.
Tier 2 capital: secondary capital, which includes subordinated debentures, other investment shares, and
50 per cent of a credit union’s portion of retained earnings in the Credit Union Deposit Insurance Corporation,
Central 1 and Stabilization Central Credit Union.
Total capital: comprises both Tier 1 (primary) and Tier 2
(secondary) capital. Capital requirements are regulated
by the FICOM and a minimum capital standard based on
a ratio of capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.0 per cent
is required. At least 50 per cent of the capital base must
consist of Tier 1 capital.
Trailer fee revenues: revenues earned from mutual fund
managers for selling their fund(s) and providing advice
to investors. The fee is applied to the market value of the
assets held by investors.

Return on average assets: indicator used to assess the
profitability of the organization and to evaluate how efficiently it is utilizing its assets in comparison to peers in
the same industry. The ratio is calculated by taking net
income and dividing by average total assets.
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Corporate Information
Board of Directors
Christian Findlay, Chair, Nominations Committee
Mary Jordan, Chair, Human Resources Committee
Susan Senecal
Christopher Trumpy
Glenn Wong, Chair, Governance Committee

Bill Wellburn, Board Chair
Doug Brownridge
Daniel Burns, Chair, Audit and Finance
Robin Chakrabarti
Bill Cooke, Chair, Risk Review Committee
Senior Executive
Tracy Redies
President and Chief Executive Officer

Jay-Ann Fordy
Chief Human Resources Officer

Bob Anthony
Chief Risk Officer

Erwin Martinez
Chief Information Officer

Wayne Berg
Chief Commercial Officer

Kathy McGarrigle
Chief Operating Officer

Don Coulter
Chief Financial Officer

Nancy McNeill
Senior Vice President,
Operations and Business Process Improvement

Lawrie Ferguson
Chief Marketing and Public Relations Officer

Lisa Skakun
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Biographies of our Board of Directors and Senior Executive are available at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/governance.
Contact Information
Website
www.coastcapitalsavings.com

Surrey Administration Office
1900, 13450 – 102 Avenue
Surrey, B.C. V3T 5Y1

Head Office
15117 – 101 Avenue
Surrey, B.C. V3R 8P7
T: 604.517.7400
F: 604.517.7405

Twitter
@Coast_Capital

Victoria Administration Office
400, 645 Tyee Road
Victoria, B.C. V9A 6X5

Contact Centre
604.517.7000 (Metro Vancouver)
250.483.7000 (Greater Victoria)
1.888.517.7000 (Toll-free)
Annual General Meeting

Tuesday, April 30, 2013 at 5 pm (PT)
Executive Airport Plaza Hotel & Conference Centre
7311 Westminster Highway, Richmond, BC

The meeting will also be available by webcast
at www.coastcapitalsavings.com/AGM.
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containing 100 per cent post-consumer waste and saved the following:
		
Trees

H2O in
litres

Waste in
kilograms

CO2 in
kilograms

Energy in
BTUs

NOx in
kilograms

17

63,574

963

2,503

26.5 million

7

Environmental impact estimates were made using the Environmental Paper Network
Paper Calculator Version 3.2. For more information visit www.papercalulator.com
FSC® is not responsible for any calculations on saving resources by choosing this paper.
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